
County Commission Courthouse
206 W. 1st Avenue

Hutchinson, KS 67501

  
1. Call to Order
  
2. Pledge of Allegiance to the American Flag and Prayer
  
3. Welcome and Announcements by Commission Chair
  
4. Public Comment on Items not on the Agenda

Please come forward to the podium, state your name and address and limit your remarks to not more than 5
minutes per item.

  
5. Determine Additions or Revisions to the Agenda
  
6. Consent Agenda
 6.A Vouchers (bills or payments owed by the county or related taxing units)
 6.B Request to authorize County Administrator, Randy Partington to sign the title for the

2015 Peterbilt 220 EZ-Liner Paint Truck, VIN#3BPPHM7X7FF590564, that was
deemed a total loss by Travelers Insurance

 6.C Motor Vehicle Safety Policy
 6.D Public Works request to purchase one (1) Brine Maker from Dultmeier Sales

Davenport, Inc. in the amount of $92,834.
 6.E Contract for Federal-Aid Construction Engineering (Construction Inspection) by

LPA (Local Public Authority) (Reno County) (FORCE ACCOUNT AGREEMENT).
The Kansas Department of Transportation will reimburse Reno County up to 80
percent of the actual cost of Construction Inspection, with an estimated upper limit
of $78,218.80.
Bridge Replacement Location being on N. Victory Road, 0.5 miles East and 1 mile
South of the City of Buhler, Kansas. Over the Little Arkansas River in Reno County
as part of the Off-System Bridge Program.

  
7. Business Items
 7.A Resolution for the Authorization of Bonds by the Public Building Commission for

County's Shooting Range and Two Fire District Stations
 7.B Chamber of Commerce's MakeMyMove Discussion
 7.C Request for Additional Employee for the Reno County Tag Department
 7.D Resolution #2024-_____ & Planning Case # 2024-11.  A request by Andrew Beachy

(Applicant: Aaron Beachy) for a conditional use permit to bring an existing

REGULAR SESSION

  

A G E N D A
Reno County Courthouse Veterans Room

206 W. 1st Ave.
Hutchinson, KS 67501

Wednesday, October 9, 2024, 9:00 AM

Randy Parks
District 1

Ron Hirst
District 2

Daniel P. Friesen
District 3

John Whitesel
District 4

Don Bogner
District 5

 



construction company and minor vehicle repair business into compliance with the
zoning regulations on land zoned R-1 - Rural Residential District.  The property is
located on the north side of W. 17th Avenue, approximately 1,500 feet west of the
intersection of W.17th Avenue and N. Wilshire Drive.  The property address is 3108
W. 17th Avenue.

 7.E Resolution 2024-_____ & Planning Case #2024-10 - A request by the Reno County
Planning Commission for a series of text amendments to the April 2016 Edition of
the Reno County Zoning Regulations related to all types of solar energy projects. 
The text amendments propose to create Article 15-105(58a), 15-109(1)(L), and 15-
109(2)(H), and amend Article 15-109(2)(A).

 7.F Resolution Establishing the Use of Consent Agenda for the County Commission of
Reno County Kansas

 7.G Bids on Tax Credit for Courthouse
 7.H Proposed contract renewal terms between Reno County Water District No. 8, and

IdeaTek Telcom, LLC to be effective December 1, 2024.
  
8. County Administrator Report
 8.A Monthly Department Reports
  
9. County Commission Report/Comments
  
10. Adjournment

Randy Parks
District 1

Ron Hirst
District 2

Daniel P. Friesen
District 3

John Whitesel
District 4

Don Bogner
District 5

 



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #6.B

AGENDA DATE: October 9, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Don Brittain, Public Works Director

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Request to authorize County Administrator, Randy Partington to sign the title for the 2015 Peterbilt 220
EZ-Liner Paint Truck, VIN#3BPPHM7X7FF590564, that was deemed a total loss by Travelers
Insurance

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
As a result of an accident involving the 2015 Peterbilt 220 EZ-Liner Paint Truck
VIN#3BPPHM7X7FF590564 on August 14, 2024, the vehicle was deemed a total loss by Travelers
Insurance.  In order for Travelers to pay the claim, the title will need to be signed and sent to them. We
are requesting authorization for County Administrator, Randy Partington to sign the title.  

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Approve authorization for the County Administrator, Randy Partington to sign the title for the

2015 Peterbilt 220 EZ-Liner Paint Truck. 

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Approve authorization for the County Administrator, Randy Partington to sign the title for the 2015
Peterbilt 220 EZ-Liner Paint Truck.  This vehicle was deemed to be a total loss as a result of an
accident dated August 14, 2024.

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
Signing and sending the title to Travelers will allow them to issue the total loss claim payment to Reno
County.  



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #6.C

AGENDA DATE: October 9, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Helen Foster, HR Director

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Motor Vehicle Safety Policy

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
This policy is to replace the current Motor Vehicle Safety Policy that was adopted in 2012 needs to be
refreshed to cover all equipment operation.  The current policy addresses cell phone usage while
driving, driving under the influence, following traffic laws and safety laws, and training requirements. 
The new policy does not change the guidelines and requirements of the current policy, but does expand
on the expectations for safely operating any motor vehicle during the course of business.  This policy is
expanded to include safe operation in towing and trailers, license validity, and accident reporting
requirements.

ALL OPTIONS:
1.  Approve the Policy as presented with an effective date of October 9, 2024
2. Make recommendations to the policy for revision.
 

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Approve the policy as presented

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
This policy must be revised to cover all motor vehicles and needs to have updates to technology
options.  This is vital to compliance with the health and safety standards from the Department of Labor.



1  

 

 

 

 

SUBJECT:  Motor Vehicle Safety  

 

RESOLUTION DATE: October 9, 2024 
 

 
 
 
 

 PAGES: 
4 

 

  

 

Replaces: Motor Vehicle Policy 
5/1/2012 

 

DEPARTMENTS PRIMARILY RESPONSIBLE: All County Departments  

APPROVED BY THE BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS: 

BOARD CHAIRMAN: 
     

 
Randy Parks (DATE)    

BOARD MEMBER 
     

 Daniel Friesen (DATE)    
 
BOARD MEMBER 

 
 

    

 Don Bogner (DATE)    
 
BOARD MEMBER 

 
 

    

 John Whitesel (DATE)    

BOARD MEMBER 
 
 

    

 

Ron Hirst (DATE) 
 
 

   

 

 

Purpose 
 

Reno County recognizes that operating a motor vehicle is a dangerous activity which requires safe driving 

practices and adherence to a higher safety standard to protect our own employees as well as other motorists.   

 

Scope 
 

This policy applies to all County-owned motor vehicles operated on public roads and includes specialty-use 

vehicles such as construction and excavation equipment designed to operate primarily off-road but driven on 

public roads to a job site. It may also apply from time to time to privately owned vehicles being driven for 

County Business.  

 

Definitions 
 

For the purpose of this policy, a “motor vehicle” is defined as a self-propelled wheeled conveyance such as a 

car, truck, or machine that does not run on rails. 

 

Employee Responsibility 
 

This policy shall apply to all County employees while operating County owned vehicles, and employees using a 

non-County owned vehicle for County Business. The portions of this policy regarding wireless communication 

shall apply regardless of the ownership rights of the wireless communication device. 

 

 

 

 



2  

 

 

Guidelines 
 

Reno County employees who operate a county owned or privately owned motor vehicle during their course of 

employment shall; 

 

1. Always drive defensively and to obey all traffic laws.  This includes adherence to all speed limits, traffic 

signals and signs. 

2. Only authorized County employees or volunteers can operate vehicles or equipment owned by the 

County. 

3. Always use safety restraints/belts while operating or riding in any motor vehicle. 

4. County-owned vehicles should only have occupants that are employees of Reno County or persons that 

have a business reason to be riding in a County-owned vehicle. Non-County employees can be 

occupants of a vehicle if there is a business-related reason for the occupant to be in a county vehicle.   

5. Intentional abuse, moving violations, reckless operation or negligent actions while operating any County 

vehicle may result in suspension of the employee’s driving privileges and will be grounds for further 

disciplinary action. 

6. Any use of a county vehicle outside of the scope of work must be approved by the elected official or 

department head. 

7. When transporting any cargo, material, or tools, the driver is responsible for properly securing items to 

prevent them from shifting or falling from the vehicle or trailer. 

8. No person should ride anywhere on a vehicle which is not designed and approved by the vehicle 

manufacturer for passenger seating.  

9. No vehicle should be left unattended without securing the vehicle first.  This includes stopping the 

engine, locking the ignition, removing the key, setting the parking brake (if an option), securing 

windows in the closed position, and locking all doors. Law enforcement may be required to leave the 

vehicle running for special situations. 

 

Cell Phones and other Electronics 
 

Except as otherwise provided herein; 

Employees may not use cell phones while operating a motor vehicle. This includes, but is not limited to, 

answering or making phone calls, engaging in phone conversations, reading, or responding to e-mails and text 

messages, or accessing the internet.  

 

The restrictions do not apply to calls made to report an emergency.  In all such cases, all cautionary measures 

should be practiced.   

 

Further, Reno County employees, in connection with the operation of a motor vehicle shall;  

1. Turn off, or place on silent or vibrate, any wireless phone or other device before starting the vehicle. 

2. Pull over to a safe place and put the vehicle in “Park” if a call must be made or received while on the 

road or while making adjustments to a Global Positioning System (GPS) or other navigation device. 

3. Consider modifying your voice mail greeting to indicate that you may be unavailable to answer calls or 

return messages while you are driving. 

4. If the employee has a hands-free device, it is acceptable to operate the motor vehicle while speaking on 

the phone.  However, the employee is still required to park/pull over safely to dial a phone number if the 

operator does not have hands free dialing capability. 

5. Inform clients, associates, and business partners of this Reno County policy as an explanation of why 

calls may not be returned immediately. 



3  

 

 

 

A Department Director may adopt and enforce additional written restrictions for permissible cell phone use, 

including hands-free devices, to be followed by employees operating a motor vehicle in the course of 

employment, if in the Department Director’s judgment, such restrictions are necessary given the particularities 

of department operations.  No such additional restrictions shall be inconsistent with the provisions of this policy 

and shall be subject to the approval of the County Administrator. 

 

Trailers and Towing 
 

1. A driver whose vehicle is towing a trailer, dolly, or other equipment shall assure that the trailer hitch is securely 

latched, adequate for the load being towed, properly installed on the towing vehicle and that the safety chains are 

securely latched. 

2. The driver shall assure that the trailer or other towed equipment is supplied with the proper lighting including 

brake lights, turn signals, and running lights and that all lights are operational. 

3. Any load that extends more than four feet beyond the rear shall have the end of the load marked with a red flag 

that shall be at least 12 inches square. 

4. All trailer and dump trucks that are carrying loose material such as gravel are required to have the top of the 

trailer/bed covered with a tarp to prevent material from escaping from the container during transport. 

 

Driving Under the Influence (DUI) 
Driving under the influence of alcohol and drugs is against the law.  Reno County reserves the right to terminate 

an employee immediately if he or she is convicted of driving under the influence.  
(Refer to Reno County D&A policies) 

 

Operator’s License 
 

1. Employees that operate motor vehicles during the scope of their employment shall posses a valid Kansas Driver’s 

License. In the case of commercially rated vehicles, the proper commercial licensing for the vehicle’s class and 

weight must always be valid and in the possession of the driver. 

2. Any employee who operates a motor vehicle during the performance of their position, must report any changes in 

the validity of their license status to their department head immediately.  This is to include any suspended or 

revoked license status. 

3. Human Resources will check the validity of all driver’s licenses at the time of hire and each year following.  If a 

license is found to be invalid, Human Resources will contact the department head immediately.  

4. It is the responsibility of the employee to maintain the proper valid license to meet the requirements of their 

position. 

 

Training 
 

All County employees that operate a county vehicle are required to complete a Defensive Driving Course at 

least once every three years in order to refresh defensive driving skills.  This may be done by completing a 

classroom or online program which will be offered by Reno County annually.  
 

Accident Reporting Requirements 
 

Any accident involving a County owned, leased, rented or privately owned vehicle that is being used during the 

course and scope of County duties shall be reported as follows: 

 

1. Summon medical care for any injured party. 

2. Notify the proper law enforcement authorities. 



4  

 

 

3. Notify the employee’s department head or immediate supervisor. 

 

The department head or immediate supervisor shall notify the County Administrator and Human Resources 

immediately.  

 

The department head or immediate supervisor will be responsible for supplying a written statement from the 

involved employee(s) in a timely manner and will submit forms necessary for work comp and liability insurance 

coverage. 

 

 

Exceptions to This Policy 

1. Commissioned Law Enforcement officers are exempt from the Kansas law regarding a ban on texting 

while driving when acting within the course and scope of the law enforcement officer’s employment. 

Occasionally there is also a business necessity for an officer to place or receive a cell phone call while 

driving.  It shall be limited to business necessity and does not imply permission to conduct personal 

conversations via cell phone or texting while driving. 

2. Two-way radio use by department provided radios. Minimal traffic is to be used and all established 

department safety procedures within each department must be followed. 

 

3. On such occasions when a motor vehicle operator; 

 

a. Receives an emergency, traffic or weather alert message. 

b. Receives a message related to the operation or navigation of the motor vehicle. 

c. Is reporting current or ongoing illegal activity to law enforcement, or to prevent imminent injury 

to a person or property. 
 

 

 

Reno County is holding its employees accountable; therefore, violations of this policy will be considered 

serious and will result in the imposition of discipline up to and including immediate termination. 



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #6.D

AGENDA DATE: October 9, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Don Brittain, Public Works Director

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Public Works request to purchase one (1) Brine Maker from Dultmeier Sales Davenport, Inc. in the
amount of $92,834.

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
We have in the past, purchased brine from Advantek Cavern Solutions, and they are no longer selling
brine.  In order to pretreat the roads prior to winter events, we have obtained quotes to purchase a Brine
Maker and are requesting approval for the purchase.  

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Approve the purchase of the Brine Maker from Dultmeier to pretreat roads.
2. Deny the purchase, and not pretreat the roads prior to winter events due to Advantek Cavern
Solutions no longer selling brine. 

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Approve purchase of Dultmeier Brine Maker in order to make brine to pretreat roads prior to snow and
ice events.  The Dultmeier Brine Maker is not the low bid, however, the low bid, which is from Sno-Biz
C & H Outdoor, LLC, does not meet the system requirements needed for our operation.  

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
The cost of the Brine Maker is budgeted to be taken out of the Operational Equipment Fund 007-00-
8250-000.



















AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #6.E

AGENDA DATE: October 9, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Don Brittain, Public Works Director

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Contract for Federal-Aid Construction Engineering (Construction Inspection) by LPA (Local Public
Authority) (Reno County) (FORCE ACCOUNT AGREEMENT). The Kansas Department of
Transportation will reimburse Reno County up to 80 percent of the actual cost of Construction
Inspection, with an estimated upper limit of $78,218.80.
Bridge Replacement Location being on N. Victory Road, 0.5 miles East and 1 mile South of the City of
Buhler, Kansas. Over the Little Arkansas River in Reno County as part of the Off-System Bridge
Program.

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
The Secretary (Kansas Department of Transportation) and the LPA (Reno County) previously executed
an agreement related to this project dated July 31, 2023. Reno County represents that it currently has
sufficient equipment of suitable type and the necessary employees with the education, training, and
experience to perform the services this agreement requires in an accurate and timely manner available
for the project.

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Approve and Sign
2. Deny and lose funding from the Kansas Department of Transportation

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Approve and Sign as recommended by the Public Works Director

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
By denying this agreement it will increase the overall cost of this project to Reno County.







































































AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #7.A

AGENDA DATE: October 9, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Randy Partington, County Administrator

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Resolution for the Authorization of Bonds by the Public Building Commission for County's Shooting
Range and Two Fire District Stations

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:

The Reno County Public Building Commission (PBC) met on August 1, 2024 to consider a resolution
of intent to issue bonds for the Sheriff’s training facility, and the two fire district stations, in Turon and
Nickerson, respectively.  The amount of bonds will not exceed $2,045,000, which includes the principal
amounts for each project and issuance costs.  The PBC passed the attached Resolution setting in motion
the process to issue the bonds.  The timeline for the bonds to be issued has the closing of bonds in early
December 2024.     

The decision to issue the bonds by the PBC will require a future vote by the commission to approve a
lease agreement that will detail the repayment terms from the county to the PBC.  Below is a short
summary of the bond estimatyes per taxing entity. 

Sheriff’s Office –Firearms Training Center Phase II
Hutton Construction estimates this at $1.45 million
Five year pay back

Fire District # 3 (Nickerson) – New fire building
Estimated total cost $450,000 with the district paying $200,000 of this amount from their
reserves 
10 year pay back

Fire District #7 (Turon) – New fire building
Estimated total cost $450,000 with the fire district paying $150,000 of this amount from
their reserves
10 year pay back

As a reminder, the firearms training center bond payments will be paid for by the county’s capital
improvement reserve fund.  This fund has enough money to cover the entire cost, but by using all of the
money at this time, it hinders the potential needs for the reserve funds for other emergent needs that
might come up that are not in the current year’s operating budget.  The amount of interest earned on
these idle funds is also higher than the interest rates for the bonds, allowing the county’s General Fund
to earn more interest that helps offset the mill levy amounts.



The two fire districts will pay back their portion of the bond from their respective operational budgets
that are set each year.  To help reduce the need for a tax increase for these funds, it is possible that the
amount of year-end transfers for each fund that goes into their reserve funds for equipment purchases
will be reduced by the amount needed to pay the bond.  To minimize the tax payer impact, we have used
a 10 year pay back of the bonds for the fire districts.

Attached is some information regarding the schedule of the bond sale and costs of bonds.  The actual
Resolution to be adopted will be provided by Wednesday from our bond counsel at Gilmore & Bell.

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Authorize the county to repay bonds soon to be issued by the Public Building Commission for a

shooting range training facility, fire stations in Turon (Fire District 7) and Nickerson (Fire
District 3).

2. Deny the bond payments and inform the Public Building Commission to halt issuance of the
projects.

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Approve Resolution that authorizes the issuance of bonds by the Public Building Commission for a
shooting range training facility, fire stations in Turon (Fire District 7) and Nickerson (Fire District 3).

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
The Public Building Commission will have the bonds and require payments from the county to cover
their bond costs.  The shooting range's training facility will be repaid from the County's CIP reserve
fund over 5-years.  The two fire stations will be paid from the respective fire district's operating budget
and/or reserve funds over a 10-year period.  



600971.20007\SALEDOCS-COUNTY 

 

GILMORE & BELL, P.C. 
10/3/2024 

 
 

EXCERPT OF MINUTES OF A MEETING 
OF THE GOVERNING BODY OF 

RENO COUNTY, KANSAS 
HELD ON OCTOBER 9, 2024 

 
 The Governing Body met in regular session at the usual meeting place in the County at 9:00 a.m., 
the following members being present and participating, to-wit:   
 
 Absent:   
 
 The Chairperson declared that a quorum was present and called the meeting to order. 
 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

(Other Proceedings) 
 
 A matter relating to the sale of not to exceed $2,045,000 of Reno County, Kansas Public Building 
Commission Revenue Bonds, Series 2024, on behalf of the County, came on for consideration and was 
discussed. 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE RENO COUNTY, KANSAS PUBLIC 

BUILDING COMMISSION OFFER FOR SALE ITS REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 
2024. 

 
 Thereupon, Commissioner __________ moved that said Resolution be adopted.  The motion was 
seconded by Commissioner __________.  Said Resolution was duly read and considered, and upon being 
put, the motion for the adoption of said Resolution was carried by the vote of the Governing Body, the vote 
being as follows: 
 
 Aye:  __________________________________________________ 
 
 Nay:  __________________________________________________ 
 
 Thereupon, the Resolution having been received a majority vote of the members of the Governing 
Body, the Chairperson declared said Resolution duly adopted and the Resolution was then duly numbered 
Resolution No. _______ and was signed by the Governing Body and attested by the Clerk. 
 
 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

(Other Proceedings) 
 

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 



600971.20007\SALEDOCS-COUNTY 

(Signature Page to Excerpt of Minutes) 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 I hereby certify that the foregoing Excerpt of Minutes is a true and correct excerpt of the 
proceedings of the Governing Body of Reno County, Kansas, held on the date stated therein, and that the 
official minutes of such proceedings are on file in my office. 
 
 
(SEAL)             
        Clerk 
 



 

600971.20007\SALEDOCS-COUNTY 

 

Gilmore & Bell, P.C. 
10/3/2024 

RESOLUTION NO. ________ 
 
 A RESOLUTION APPROVING THE RENO COUNTY, KANSAS PUBLIC 

BUILDING COMMISSION OFFER FOR SALE ITS REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 
2024. 

 
 
 WHEREAS, Reno County, Kansas Public Building Commission, Kansas (the "PBC"), has selected 
or will select the firm of Raymond James & Associates, Inc., Leawood, Kansas (the “Purchaser”), as 
underwriter for not to exceed $2,045,000 principal amount of bonds of the PBC to be designated "Public 
Building Commission Revenue Bonds, Series 2024" (the "Series 2024 Bonds"); and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Series 2024 Bonds are being issued to finance costs to construct a law enforcement 
training center and two separate fire stations (the “Project”) in and for Reno County, Kansas (the “County”); 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the County desires to approve the selection of the Purchaser by the PBC and make 
certain authorizations regarding the Series 2024 Bonds. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF RENO 
COUNTY, KANSAS, AS FOLLOWS:  
 
 Section 1.  The Project is hereby deemed and declared to be necessary and advisable.  In order to 
pay costs of the Project and related financing costs, it is necessary and desirable for the PBC to issue its 
Revenue Bonds, Series 2024 (the “Series 2024 Bonds”) in an amount not to exceed $2,045,000, in 
accordance with K.S.A. 12-1757 et seq., as amended, and Charter Resolution No. 98-XXI (the “Act”).  The 
Governing Body of the County also hereby declares an intent to enter into the Lease with the PBC pursuant 
to the Act on mutually acceptable terms to provide for the source of repayments of the Series 2024 Bonds 
and other related expenses. 
 
 Section 2.  The Chairperson, County Clerk, County Administrator or other appropriate officers of 
the County, the Purchaser and Gilmore & Bell, P.C. (“Bond Counsel”) are hereby authorized to take all 
actions as necessary to effectuate the sale and delivery of the Series 2024 Bonds, including the preparation 
of the preliminary official statement (the “Preliminary Official Statement”) to be used by the Purchaser in 
the offering for sale of the Series 2024 Bonds. 
 
 Section 3.  The selection of the Purchaser by the PBC is hereby authorized and approved and the 
Purchaser is authorized to proceed with the offering for sale of the Series 2024 Bonds.  For the purpose of 
enabling the Purchaser to comply with the requirements of Rule 15c2-12(b)(1) (the “Rule”) of the Securities 
and Exchange Commission (the “Rule”), the Chairperson and County Administrator are hereby authorized 
to approve the form of said Preliminary Official Statement, and to execute the “Certificate Deeming 
Preliminary Official Statement Final” in substantially the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, as approval of 
the Preliminary Official Statement, such official’s signature thereon being conclusive evidence of such 
official’s and the County’s approval thereof; (b) covenant to provide continuous secondary market 
disclosure by annually transmitting certain financial information and operating data and other information 
necessary to comply with the Rule to the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board; and (c) take such other 
actions or execute such other documents as such officers in their reasonable judgment deem necessary; to 
enable the Purchaser to comply with the requirement of the Rule. 
 



 

600971.20007\SALEDOCS-COUNTY 

2 

 Section 4.  The County agrees to provide to the Purchaser within seven business days of the date 
of the sale of Series 2024 Bonds or within sufficient time to accompany any confirmation that requests 
payment from any customer of the Purchaser, whichever is earlier, sufficient copies of the final Official 
Statement to enable the Purchaser to comply with the requirements of the Rule and with the requirements 
of Rule G-32 of the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. 

 
 Section 5.  The Chairperson, County Clerk, County Administrator, County Counselor, and other 
officers and representatives of the County, the Purchaser and Bond Counsel are hereby authorized and 
directed to take such other action as may be necessary to carry out the offering for sale of the Series 2024 
Bonds.  
 
 Section 6.  This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption. 
 
 

[BALANCE OF THIS PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
 



 

600971.20007\SALEDOCS-COUNTY 

(Signature page to County Resolution) 

 ADOPTED by the Governing Body on October 9, 2024. 
 
 
 
 
(SEAL)       _____________________________________ 
         Chairperson 
 
 
 

       
  Commissioner 

 
 
 

       
  Commissioner 

 
 
 
              
ATTEST:         Commissioner 
 
 
 
________________________________________        
 County Clerk       Commissioner 



 

600971.20007\SALEDOCS-COUNTY 

 

Gilmore & Bell, P.C. 
10/03/2024 

 
CERTIFICATE DEEMING 

PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT FINAL 
 

 
 

October __, 2024 
 
 
 

To: Raymond James & Associates, Inc. 
 Leawood, Kansas 
 
 Re: Reno County, Kansas Public Building Commission Revenue Bonds, Series 2024 
 
Ladies and Gentlemen: 
 
 The undersigned are the duly acting Chairperson and County Administrator of Reno County, 
Kansas (the "County"), and are authorized to deliver this Certificate to the addressee (the "Purchaser") on 
behalf of the County.  The County has heretofore caused to be delivered to the Purchaser copies of the 
Preliminary Official Statement (the "Preliminary Official Statement"), relating to the above-referenced 
bonds (the "Bonds"). 
 
 For the purpose of enabling the Purchaser to comply with the requirements of Rule 15c2-12(b)(1) 
of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Rule"), the County hereby deems the information 
regarding the County contained in the Preliminary Official Statement to be final as of its date, other than 
the sections entitled “The Depository Trust Company,” Rating,” “Legal Matters,” “Tax Matters,” and 
Appendices B and C, for which the County expresses no opinion, and except for the omission of certain 
information such as offering prices, interest rates, selling compensation, aggregate principal amount, 
principal per maturity, delivery dates, ratings and other terms of the Bonds depending on such matters, is 
true in all material respects, does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact and does not omit to 
state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under 
which they were made, not misleading. 
 
      Very truly yours, 
 
      RENO COUNTY, KANSAS  
 
 
 
      By: ______________________________________ 
      Title: Chairperson 
 
 
 
      By: ______________________________________ 
      Title: Clerk 
 



Reno County, Kansas  
Public Building Commission 

Revenue Bonds 
Series 2024 

 
Calendar of Events Dated September 19, 2024 

 
 

  
DATE  EVENT  

August 1, 2024 Public Building Commission (PBC) Board Meeting 
PBC adopts Resolution of Intent for Bonds for the Project 

August 9, 2024 First Publication of Notice of Intent for PBC Bonds for Project  

August 16, 2024 Second Publication of Notice of Intent for PBC Bonds for Project 
Beginning of 30-Day Protest Period 

September 15, 2024 End of 30-Day Protest Period for PBC Bonds for Project 

October 1, 2024 Distribute draft Preliminary Official Statement and Legal Documents 
Submit Rating Request to Rating Agency 

October 9, 2024 Public Building Commission Meeting (9:00 AM) 
PBC Approval of Authorizing Resolution for Bond Sale 

November 1, 2024 Rating Agency releases Bond Rating 
Evaluate quotes for Bond Insurance 

November 4, 2024 Distribute Preliminary Official Statement to Investors 

November 12, 2024 Offering and Sale of Bonds to Investors 
Execute Bond Purchase Agreement for Sale of the Bonds 

November 13, 2024 

Public Building Commission Meeting (9:00 AM) 
County Commission Meeting (9:00 AM) 
PBC Approval of Bond Resolution and Lease 
County Approval of Lease Agreement 

November 14-29, 2024 
Finalize Legal Documents for Bonds 
Distribute Final Official Statement for Bonds 
Assemble Transcript of Proceedings 

December 3, 2024 Closing of Bond Issue 
Investment of Bond Proceeds 

  

  



Sep 30, 2024  10:22 am  Prepared by Raymond James (k:\dbc\kansas\Reno County:PBC-2024_PBC)

SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

Reno County, Kansas Public Building Commission
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2024

Market Rates as of September 27, 2024, Assumes 'Aa3' Rating
(Training Center + Two Fire Stations)

Dated Date 12/03/2024
Delivery Date 12/03/2024

Firearms
Training Fire District Fire District

Sources: Center #3 #7 Total

Bond Proceeds:
Par Amount 1,375,000.00 235,000.00 285,000.00 1,895,000.00
Premium 84,153.80 23,050.65 27,597.10 134,801.55

1,459,153.80 258,050.65 312,597.10 2,029,801.55

Other Sources of Funds:
Reserve Fund Contribution 200,000.00 150,000.00 350,000.00

1,459,153.80 458,050.65 462,597.10 2,379,801.55

Firearms
Training Fire District Fire District

Uses: Center #3 #7 Total

Project Fund Deposits:
Project Fund 1,400,000.00 450,000.00 450,000.00 2,300,000.00

Cost of Issuance:
Bond Counsel Fee 25,395.78 4,340.37 5,263.85 35,000.00
State Treasurer - Paying Agent 1,813.98 310.03 375.99 2,500.00
State Treasurer - Setup Fee 217.68 37.20 45.12 300.00
State Treasurer - Registration Fee 21.77 3.72 4.51 30.00
Rating Agency Fee 10,521.11 1,798.15 2,180.74 14,500.00
CUSIP 381.66 65.23 79.11 526.00
Compliance Services Fee 3,627.97 620.05 751.98 5,000.00
Attorney General Transcript Review 290.24 49.60 60.16 400.00

42,270.19 7,224.35 8,761.46 58,256.00

Delivery Date Expenses:
Underwriter's Discount 13,750.00 2,350.00 2,850.00 18,950.00

Other Uses of Funds:
Additional Proceeds 3,133.61 -1,523.70 985.64 2,595.55

1,459,153.80 458,050.65 462,597.10 2,379,801.55



Sep 30, 2024  10:22 am  Prepared by Raymond James (k:\dbc\kansas\Reno County:PBC-2024_PBC)

BOND DEBT SERVICE BREAKDOWN

Reno County, Kansas Public Building Commission
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2024

Market Rates as of September 27, 2024, Assumes 'Aa3' Rating
(Training Center + Two Fire Stations)

Period Firearms
Ending Training Center Fire District #3 Fire District #7 Total

10/01/2025 271,909.72 24,726.39 31,795.83 328,431.94
10/01/2026 328,000.00 31,000.00 38,250.00 397,250.00
10/01/2027 329,500.00 30,000.00 37,000.00 396,500.00
10/01/2028 325,250.00 29,000.00 35,750.00 390,000.00
10/01/2029 325,500.00 33,000.00 39,500.00 398,000.00
10/01/2030 31,750.00 38,000.00 69,750.00
10/01/2031 30,500.00 36,500.00 67,000.00
10/01/2032 29,250.00 35,000.00 64,250.00
10/01/2033 33,000.00 38,500.00 71,500.00
10/01/2034 31,500.00 36,750.00 68,250.00

1,580,159.72 303,726.39 367,045.83 2,250,931.94



Sep 30, 2024  10:22 am  Prepared by Raymond James (k:\dbc\kansas\Reno County:PBC-2024_PBC)

BOND DEBT SERVICE

Reno County, Kansas Public Building Commission
Firearms Training Center

Dated Date 12/03/2024
Delivery Date 12/03/2024

Period Annual Bond Total
Ending Principal Coupon Interest Debt Service Debt Service Balance Bond Value

12/03/2024 1,375,000 1,375,000
04/01/2025 22,534.72 22,534.72 1,375,000 1,375,000
10/01/2025 215,000 5.000% 34,375.00 249,375.00 271,909.72 1,160,000 1,160,000
04/01/2026 29,000.00 29,000.00 1,160,000 1,160,000
10/01/2026 270,000 5.000% 29,000.00 299,000.00 328,000.00 890,000 890,000
04/01/2027 22,250.00 22,250.00 890,000 890,000
10/01/2027 285,000 5.000% 22,250.00 307,250.00 329,500.00 605,000 605,000
04/01/2028 15,125.00 15,125.00 605,000 605,000
10/01/2028 295,000 5.000% 15,125.00 310,125.00 325,250.00 310,000 310,000
04/01/2029 7,750.00 7,750.00 310,000 310,000
10/01/2029 310,000 5.000% 7,750.00 317,750.00 325,500.00

1,375,000 205,159.72 1,580,159.72 1,580,159.72



Sep 30, 2024  10:22 am  Prepared by Raymond James (k:\dbc\kansas\Reno County:PBC-2024_PBC)

BOND DEBT SERVICE

Reno County, Kansas Public Building Commission
Fire District #3

Dated Date 12/03/2024
Delivery Date 12/03/2024

Period Annual Bond Total
Ending Principal Coupon Interest Debt Service Debt Service Balance Bond Value

12/03/2024 235,000 235,000
04/01/2025 3,851.39 3,851.39 235,000 235,000
10/01/2025 15,000 5.000% 5,875.00 20,875.00 24,726.39 220,000 220,000
04/01/2026 5,500.00 5,500.00 220,000 220,000
10/01/2026 20,000 5.000% 5,500.00 25,500.00 31,000.00 200,000 200,000
04/01/2027 5,000.00 5,000.00 200,000 200,000
10/01/2027 20,000 5.000% 5,000.00 25,000.00 30,000.00 180,000 180,000
04/01/2028 4,500.00 4,500.00 180,000 180,000
10/01/2028 20,000 5.000% 4,500.00 24,500.00 29,000.00 160,000 160,000
04/01/2029 4,000.00 4,000.00 160,000 160,000
10/01/2029 25,000 5.000% 4,000.00 29,000.00 33,000.00 135,000 135,000
04/01/2030 3,375.00 3,375.00 135,000 135,000
10/01/2030 25,000 5.000% 3,375.00 28,375.00 31,750.00 110,000 110,000
04/01/2031 2,750.00 2,750.00 110,000 110,000
10/01/2031 25,000 5.000% 2,750.00 27,750.00 30,500.00 85,000 85,000
04/01/2032 2,125.00 2,125.00 85,000 85,000
10/01/2032 25,000 5.000% 2,125.00 27,125.00 29,250.00 60,000 60,000
04/01/2033 1,500.00 1,500.00 60,000 60,000
10/01/2033 30,000 5.000% 1,500.00 31,500.00 33,000.00 30,000 30,000
04/01/2034 750.00 750.00 30,000 30,000
10/01/2034 30,000 5.000% 750.00 30,750.00 31,500.00

235,000 68,726.39 303,726.39 303,726.39



Sep 30, 2024  10:22 am  Prepared by Raymond James (k:\dbc\kansas\Reno County:PBC-2024_PBC)

BOND DEBT SERVICE

Reno County, Kansas Public Building Commission
Fire District #7

Dated Date 12/03/2024
Delivery Date 12/03/2024

Period Annual Bond Total
Ending Principal Coupon Interest Debt Service Debt Service Balance Bond Value

12/03/2024 285,000 285,000
04/01/2025 4,670.83 4,670.83 285,000 285,000
10/01/2025 20,000 5.000% 7,125.00 27,125.00 31,795.83 265,000 265,000
04/01/2026 6,625.00 6,625.00 265,000 265,000
10/01/2026 25,000 5.000% 6,625.00 31,625.00 38,250.00 240,000 240,000
04/01/2027 6,000.00 6,000.00 240,000 240,000
10/01/2027 25,000 5.000% 6,000.00 31,000.00 37,000.00 215,000 215,000
04/01/2028 5,375.00 5,375.00 215,000 215,000
10/01/2028 25,000 5.000% 5,375.00 30,375.00 35,750.00 190,000 190,000
04/01/2029 4,750.00 4,750.00 190,000 190,000
10/01/2029 30,000 5.000% 4,750.00 34,750.00 39,500.00 160,000 160,000
04/01/2030 4,000.00 4,000.00 160,000 160,000
10/01/2030 30,000 5.000% 4,000.00 34,000.00 38,000.00 130,000 130,000
04/01/2031 3,250.00 3,250.00 130,000 130,000
10/01/2031 30,000 5.000% 3,250.00 33,250.00 36,500.00 100,000 100,000
04/01/2032 2,500.00 2,500.00 100,000 100,000
10/01/2032 30,000 5.000% 2,500.00 32,500.00 35,000.00 70,000 70,000
04/01/2033 1,750.00 1,750.00 70,000 70,000
10/01/2033 35,000 5.000% 1,750.00 36,750.00 38,500.00 35,000 35,000
04/01/2034 875.00 875.00 35,000 35,000
10/01/2034 35,000 5.000% 875.00 35,875.00 36,750.00

285,000 82,045.83 367,045.83 367,045.83



Sep 30, 2024  10:22 am  Prepared by Raymond James (k:\dbc\kansas\Reno County:PBC-2024_PBC)

BOND DEBT SERVICE

Reno County, Kansas Public Building Commission
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2024

Market Rates as of September 27, 2024, Assumes 'Aa3' Rating
(Training Center + Two Fire Stations)

Dated Date 12/03/2024
Delivery Date 12/03/2024

Period Bond Total
Ending Principal Coupon Interest Debt Service Balance Bond Value

10/01/2025 250,000 5.000% 78,431.94 328,431.94 1,645,000 1,645,000
10/01/2026 315,000 5.000% 82,250.00 397,250.00 1,330,000 1,330,000
10/01/2027 330,000 5.000% 66,500.00 396,500.00 1,000,000 1,000,000
10/01/2028 340,000 5.000% 50,000.00 390,000.00 660,000 660,000
10/01/2029 365,000 5.000% 33,000.00 398,000.00 295,000 295,000
10/01/2030 55,000 5.000% 14,750.00 69,750.00 240,000 240,000
10/01/2031 55,000 5.000% 12,000.00 67,000.00 185,000 185,000
10/01/2032 55,000 5.000% 9,250.00 64,250.00 130,000 130,000
10/01/2033 65,000 5.000% 6,500.00 71,500.00 65,000 65,000
10/01/2034 65,000 5.000% 3,250.00 68,250.00

1,895,000 355,931.94 2,250,931.94



Sep 30, 2024  10:22 am  Prepared by Raymond James (k:\dbc\kansas\Reno County:PBC-2024_PBC)

BOND PRICING

Reno County, Kansas Public Building Commission
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2024

Market Rates as of September 27, 2024, Assumes 'Aa3' Rating
(Training Center + Two Fire Stations)

Maturity Premium
Bond Component Date Amount Rate Yield Price (-Discount)

Serial Bonds:
10/01/2025 250,000 5.000% 3.000% 101.618 4,045.00
10/01/2026 315,000 5.000% 2.800% 103.889 12,250.35
10/01/2027 330,000 5.000% 2.780% 105.993 19,776.90
10/01/2028 340,000 5.000% 2.800% 107.929 26,958.60
10/01/2029 365,000 5.000% 2.860% 109.582 34,974.30
10/01/2030 55,000 5.000% 2.990% 110.672 5,869.60
10/01/2031 55,000 5.000% 3.100% 111.606 6,383.30
10/01/2032 55,000 5.000% 3.220% 112.225 6,723.75
10/01/2033 65,000 5.000% 3.260% 113.250 8,612.50
10/01/2034 65,000 5.000% 3.300% 114.165 9,207.25

1,895,000 134,801.55

Dated Date 12/03/2024
Delivery Date 12/03/2024
First Coupon 04/01/2025

Par Amount 1,895,000.00
Premium 134,801.55

Production 2,029,801.55 107.113538%
Underwriter's Discount -18,950.00 -1.000000%

Purchase Price 2,010,851.55 106.113538%
Accrued Interest

Net Proceeds 2,010,851.55



Sep 30, 2024  10:22 am  Prepared by Raymond James (k:\dbc\kansas\Reno County:PBC-2024_PBC)

BOND SUMMARY STATISTICS

Reno County, Kansas Public Building Commission
General Obligation Bonds, Series 2024

Market Rates as of September 27, 2024, Assumes 'Aa3' Rating
(Training Center + Two Fire Stations)

Dated Date 12/03/2024
Delivery Date 12/03/2024
Last Maturity 10/01/2034

Arbitrage Yield 2.948620%
True Interest Cost (TIC) 3.224354%
Net Interest Cost (NIC) 3.372560%
All-In TIC 4.097833%
Average Coupon 5.000000%

Average Life (years) 3.757
Duration of Issue (years) 3.448

Par Amount 1,895,000.00
Bond Proceeds 2,029,801.55
Total Interest 355,931.94
Net Interest 240,080.39
Total Debt Service 2,250,931.94
Maximum Annual Debt Service 398,000.00
Average Annual Debt Service 229,037.73

Underwriter's Fees (per $1000)
  Average Takedown
  Other Fee 10.000000

Total Underwriter's Discount 10.000000

Bid Price 106.113538

Par Average Average
Bond Component Value Price Coupon Life

Serial Bonds 1,895,000.00 107.114 5.000% 3.757

1,895,000.00 3.757

All-In Arbitrage
TIC TIC Yield

Par Value 1,895,000.00 1,895,000.00 1,895,000.00
  + Accrued Interest
  + Premium (Discount) 134,801.55 134,801.55 134,801.55
  - Underwriter's Discount -18,950.00 -18,950.00
  - Cost of Issuance Expense -58,256.00
  - Other Amounts

Target Value 2,010,851.55 1,952,595.55 2,029,801.55

Target Date 12/03/2024 12/03/2024 12/03/2024
Yield 3.224354% 4.097833% 2.948620%







AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #7.B

AGENDA DATE: October 9, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Debra Teufel, President/CEO of Hutchinson/Reno County Chamber of
Commerce

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Chamber of Commerce's MakeMyMove Discussion

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
The chamber has provided the attached memo and summary of Make My Move. Chairman Parks and I
have met with the company and the chamber regarding this idea.  I feel this is a way to help all
communities in Reno County market themselves as places for people to move to and become a part of
the unique communities.  The program requires interested parties to apply and then they are required to
meet specific criteria to take part in the MakeMyMove program.
 
Individuals/families who will be part of this program are likely going to be remote workers who will
buy a home in Reno County and then want to become an active member of the community.  This is a
new way to grow our community and has a high return on investment.

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Agree to partner with the Chamber and contribute some amount toward the cost.
2. Decline the request
3. Table and ask for more information.

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Agree to partner with the Chamber of Commerce in using Make My Move as a way to market Reno
County as a place to live.

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
The County has economic development incentives money that is already budgeted and some in
reserves. 



 

 

 

 

Greater Hutch is requesting support by way of a partnering investment in the Make My Move platform. 

This tool will aid in marketing all Reno County communities to remote workers looking to relocate.  

Cities and towns across the U.S. are facing unprecedented growth challenges in the form of labor 

shortages and declining population growth. Every year, states and municipalities spend $70B to grow 

their economies, but most of these dollars are focused on attracting more employers, not people. As 

many as 23 million Americans are expected to move in the coming years as a result of remote work. This 

is an unprecedented opportunity for communities to benefit from the economic impact remote workers 

bring while simultaneously growing the workforce and population.  

MakeMyMove helps communities grow by recruiting new residents who bring a job (and all of its 

economic value) with them. The platform enables communities to promote themselves on a national 

stage to a highly targeted audience, engage with move-ready people on the site, and execute a 

recruitment process that generates immediate return on investment. 

Based on the ROI projected by Make My Move for a proposed contract with Reno County of 10 

households moved, in one year the county will see $8.38 return for every dollar spent.  

 























jubilee.critchfield
Typewritten text
AGENDA ITEM #7.C





AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #7.D

AGENDA DATE: October 9, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Mark Vonachen - County Planner II

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Resolution #2024-_____ & Planning Case # 2024-11.  A request by Andrew Beachy (Applicant: Aaron
Beachy) for a conditional use permit to bring an existing construction company and minor vehicle
repair business into compliance with the zoning regulations on land zoned R-1 - Rural Residential
District.  The property is located on the north side of W. 17th Avenue, approximately 1,500 feet west of
the intersection of W.17th Avenue and N. Wilshire Drive.  The property address is 3108 W. 17th
Avenue.

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:

The applicant (Mr. Aaron Beachy) requests a conditional use permit for the purpose of bringing an
existing construction company and minor vehicle repair business into compliance with the zoning
regulations.

 

The property is utilized for a small-scale business operation involving minor vehicle repairs, vehicle
parking, and storage.  The shop is primarily used for basic maintenance tasks and minor vehicle repairs. 
Twenty percent of the shop area is dedicated to storage, including tools, equipment, and small quantities
of building materials.

 

Company vehicles are parked on the property, including a truck with a gooseneck trailer and a skid
loader.  Building materials are delivered on an average of twice a month.  There are no customer visits
to the property.  Traffic is limited to company vehicles and occasional deliveries.

 

Some materials will be stored outside in an orderly manner and moved to the back of the property to
maintain the property’s appearance and minimize any visual impact on the neighborhood.

 

On January 5, 2021, the owner, Mr. Andrew Beachy, applied to the BZA for a special exception to
construct a residential accessory building which exceeded the maximum square footage permitted on



the property.  The owner stated the purpose of the special exception is to construct a residential shed
that is 50w x72L x 16H.

 

On February 18, 2021, the BZA approved of the special exception request to construct a residential
accessory building by a 6-0 vote.

 

 On February 22, 2021, a zoning permit was issued to the owner to construct a 50’x72’x16' residential
shed as per the BZA approval.

 

On June 2, 2023, staff received a complaint from neighbors that a construction company is operating
out of the accessory building.  The complaint stated several employee vehicles are parking in front of
the building and construction materials are being delivered to and from the building frequently.  On
June 2, 2023, staff conducted a field inspection to verify the complaint.  Subsequently, on June 29,
2023, a violation letter was written to the owner of the property stating to apply for a conditional use
permit or cease operation of a construction company.

 

Due to the owner’s lack of cooperation in ceasing operation of the construction company or applying
for a conditional use permit, staff filed a lawsuit in Reno County District Court seeking enforcement of
the zoning regulations.

 

On September 19, 2024, the Planning Commission conducted a public hearing on this petition.

 
Three citizens living along W. 17th Avenue addressed the Planning Commission and stated they were
against approving the owner's conditional use permit request.  The citizens were concerned about the
increase in traffic along a dead-end road, the semi-trucks, the number of employees travelling to the
property, the speed at which the employees travel up and down the road, and the increase in costs the
township is having to spend on maintenance of the road because of the business.  Citizens are fearful for
their children and grandchildren playing in the front yard.  This area is no longer a nice place to live.  A
petition was signed by 15 property owners living in the area that do not want the conditional use permit
approved.  However, the petition was not submitted for the public record.
 
At the conclusion of the public hearing the Planning Commission voted 6-1 to deny the conditional use
permit request based on the nine factors listed in the staff report.  Commissioner Schwertfeger noted for
the record she meant to vote in favor of the motion to deny the conditional use permit but



misunderstood the motion.
 
The County Counselor has reviewed the included resolution.

ALL OPTIONS:
The County Commissioners may:
 
1.  Reverse the Planning Commission recommendation and approve the request based on the Factors.
2.  Reverse the Planning Commission recommendation and approve the request based on the Factors
and add conditions of approval.
3.  Deny the request as recommended by the Planning Commission based on the Factors.
4.  Return the request back to the Planning Commission with specific questions to be answered or
clarified.
5.  Table the request for further review.

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Consideration of the Planning Commission recommendation to deny the conditional use permit.





































1 

 

 
Don Brittain 

Public Works Director 

 

Road & Bridge  Planning & Zoning Environmental  Noxious Weed  Utilities 

 
                                                                                                     

 
 
Date:  September 26, 2024 
 
To:  Reno County Board of County Commissioners 
 

From:  Mark Vonachen, CFM – County Planner II 
 
Subject: Case #2024-11 – Andrew Beachy (Applicant: Aaron Beachy),  Legal Description: 

Approximately 6.23 acres of land located in the SE ¼ - Section 4 – T23S, R6W in 
Reno Township and further described as being located on the north side of W. 17th 
Avenue approximately 1,500 feet west of the intersection of W. 17th Avenue and N. 
Wilshire Drive.  The address is 3108 W. 17th Avenue.  PIN#: 1220400002009000. 

 

Who:  Owner:  Andrew Beachy 
    3108 W. 17th Avenue, Hutchinson, KS 67501 
 
What: This is a conditional use permit request to bring an existing construction company 

and minor vehicle repair business into compliance with the zoning regulations.  The 
floodplain designation for the property is Shaded Zone X which is an area with 
reduced flood risk due to the levee and also the .2% annual flood hazard chance. 

 

Why: The parcel is currently zoned R-1 – Rural Residential District.  The owner requests a 
conditional use permit on the above identified property for the purpose of continuing 
to operate a construction company and minor vehicle repair business.  All proposed 
land use activities other than agricultural and single-family residential require a 
conditional use permit. 

 

This report and recommendation were prepared prior to the public hearing. 
 

 
BACKGROUND 

 
The applicant (Mr. Aaron Beachy) requests a conditional use permit for the purpose of bringing an 
existing construction company and minor vehicle repair business into compliance with the zoning 
regulations. 
 
The property is utilized for a small-scale business operation involving minor vehicle repairs, vehicle 
parking, and storage.  The shop is primarily used for basic maintenance tasks and minor vehicle 
repairs.  Twenty percent of the shop area is dedicated to storage, including tools, equipment, and 
small quantities of building materials. 

Public Works 
600 Scott Boulevard 

South Hutchinson, Kansas 67505 
620-694-2976 

Don Brittain, Director 



2 

 

 
Company vehicles are parked on the property, including a truck with a gooseneck trailer and a skid 
loader.  Building materials are delivered on an average of twice a month.  There are no customer 
visits to the property.  Traffic is limited to company vehicles and occasional deliveries. 
 
Some materials will be stored outside in an orderly manner and moved to the back of the property to 
maintain the property’s appearance and minimize any visual impact on the neighborhood. 
 
On January 5, 2021, the owner, Mr. Andrew Beachy, applied to the BZA for a special exception to 
construct a residential accessory building which exceeded the maximum square footage permitted 
on the property.  The owner stated the purpose of the special exception is to construct a “Residential 
shed that is 50 w x72L x 16H”. 
 
The following two paragraphs are taken from the approved minutes of the BZA public hearing held 
on February 18, 2021 
 
“Andrew Beachy, 3108 W. 17th Ave., Hutchinson, KS 67502, proposes to construct a 50’ x 72’ x 16’ 

accessory building. He would like an enclosed building to work on and park his truck. He would 

also complete other residential tasks inside the building. He plans to build a “man cave” for leisure 

activities. He does not have an enclosed accessory building on his property, and he will use this one 

for storage and as a climate-controlled workspace.” 

 

The staff report noted: 
 
In a phone conversation with Mr. Beachy discussing the application and the public hearing 

procedure he indicated he operates a construction business out of the single-family dwelling.  Staff 

discussed with Mr. Beachy the specifics of the business and the difference between a home 

occupation business and a business requiring a conditional use permit.  Mr. Beachy understands 

that using this proposed residential building for his business (is) in a violation of the zoning 

regulations.  Storing work trucks, construction equipment, constructing building components, or 

construction materials is not permitted within the building and would be considered a zoning 

violation. 
 
On February 18, 2021, the BZA approved of the special exception request to construct a residential 
accessory building by a 6-0 vote. 
 
 On February 22, 2021, a zoning permit was issued to the owner to construct a 50’x72’x16 
residential shed as per the BZA approval. 
 
On June 2, 2023, staff received a complaint from neighbors that a construction company is 
operating out of the accessory building.  The complaint stated several employee vehicles are 
parking in front of the building and construction materials are being delivered to and from the 
building frequently.  On June 2, 2023, staff conducted a field inspection to verify the complaint.  
Subsequently, on June 29, 2023, a violation letter was written to the owner of the property stating to 
apply for a conditional use permit or cease operation of a construction company. 



3 

 

 
Don Brittain 

Public Works Director 

 

Road & Bridge  Planning & Zoning Environmental  Noxious Weed  Utilities 

Due to the owner’s lack of cooperation in ceasing operation of the construction company or 
applying for a conditional use permit, staff filed a lawsuit in Reno County District Court seeking 
enforcement of the zoning regulations. 
 
The lawsuit is on hold until a decision is made on the conditional use permit application.  If the 
conditional use is approved, the lawsuit will be withdrawn because the property will be in 
compliance with the zoning regulations.  If the conditional use is denied, the lawsuit will move 
forward until the owner ceases operation of a construction company and the building is again 
returned to a residential use. 
 
 

SUMMARY OF RELATED REQUIREMENTS FOR: 

A CONSTRUCTION COMPANY AND MINOR VEHICLE REPAIR BUSINESS IN AN R-1 

ZONING DISTRICT 

 
  
1. Land Use Category 

This parcel is currently zoned R-1 – Rural Residential District.  All proposed land uses that 
are neither agricultural nor single-family residential in nature require an approved 
conditional use permit. 
 
 

2. Yard Requirements – Article 13 
Any new structure 120 square feet or greater shall meet the following minimum setbacks: 

 
Front Yard: 30’ from W. 17th Avenue. 

     
Side Yard: 10’ from the west and east property lines. 

     
Rear Yard: 20’ from the north property line. 
 
The building complies with the minimum setback requirements. 
 
Any building used for agricultural purposes is exempt from any side and rear yard setback 
requirements. 
 

 
3. Performance Standards – Article 9 

The following performance standards are found under Article 9-103 and Article 9-104 and are 
relevant to the issuance of a conditional use permit for a private dining hall: 

 Agricultural uses are permitted with no restrictions as to operation of such vehicles or 
machinery as are customarily incidental to such uses, and with no restrictions to the 
sale or marketing of products raised on the premises. 
 



4 

 

 No smoke, radiation, vibration or concussion, or heat shall be produced that is perceptible 
outside a building, and no dust, fly ash, or gas that is toxic, caustic or obviously injurious to 
humans or property shall be produced. 

 
 Any manufacturing or assembly of products shall be entirely within a totally enclosed 

building, unless otherwise authorized. 
 

 No emission of air contaminants from any source within the boundaries of any lot or tract shall 
exceed emission rates established by the Kansas Secretary of Health and Environment 
pursuant to K.S.A. 65-3001 et seq., or amendments thereto, and any administrative regulations 
adopted thereunder. 

 

 No activity shall be permitted that creates any off-site electrical disturbance. 

 

 Light sources shall be controlled or hooded so that light is directed away from any 
adjoining residentially zoned property or public streets.   

 
All performance standards listed above shall be enforced if the conditional use permit is 
approved.  Any deviation from the performance standards must be shown on the approved site 
plan or discussed in the applicant’s plan of operation.  The Planning Commission will have 
the authority to recommend deviation from the standards listed above with the County 
Commissioners having the authority to approve the deviation from the performance standards. 
 
 
4. Parking, Paving, and Loading Requirements – Articles 10 & 11 

The zoning regulations require the owner to provide one parking stall per 300 square feet of 
floor area for a construction company and vehicle repair business. 
 
The owner constructed a 3,600 square foot building.  The owner is required to provide 12 
parking stalls.  The submitted site plan shows four areas for customer and employee parking.  
The site plan does not indicate how many vehicles can be parked in those areas.  The owner 
should be required to demonstrate 12 parking stalls can be provided.  Each parking stall is 
required to be 9’ x 19’ or 171 square feet in size. 
 
The plan of operation indicates no customers visit the property.  Staff is unsure how minor 
vehicle repairs occur on the property without customers delivering their car for the repairs. 
 
Article 10-104 requires the following design standards be applied to all parking spaces and 
driveways: 
 
1. An off-street parking space is an all-weather area not in a street or alley, being a 
minimum of 9 feet by 19 feet, exclusive of driveways or access drives, permanently reserved 
for the temporary storage of one motor vehicle and connected with a street or alley by an all-
weather driveway which affords satisfactory ingress and egress for motor vehicles. 
 



5 

 

 
Don Brittain 

Public Works Director 

 

Road & Bridge  Planning & Zoning Environmental  Noxious Weed  Utilities 

2. Entrances or exits for all parking facilities shall comply with the requirements of the 
County Engineer (In this particular situation, the entrance to the property is off a township 
road so Reno Township has the review authority). 
 
3. Screening shall be installed along any property line adjacent to or adjoining any 
single-family residence, two-family residence or multi-family residence to eliminate the 
passage of light from vehicles.  Screening alongside yards shall not extend nearer to the 
street than the front yard setback line.  The installation and maintenance of required 
screening shall be the responsibility of the landowner whose land use necessitates the 
screening. 
 
Based on the site plan, staff is uncertain the construction company and minor vehicle repair 
business complies with the parking requirements.  There is a single-family dwelling across 
W. 17th Avenue so additional screen will need to be provided as required by the regulations 
unless recommended for a waiver by the Planning Commission. 
 
The driveway and parking areas are not required to be paved since this commercial land use 
is adjacent to a dirt road. 
 
The Planning Commission or Governing Body may require parking stalls and access drives 
be professionally designed if there are concerns with proper drainage, the number of parking 
stalls for customers, or parking stalls to accommodate buses. 
 
Staff concludes there should not be any drainage concerns with the current parking areas. 
The property is approximately six acres so any drainage problems should remain on the 
owner’s property based on the location of the building and parking areas.  No drainage plan 
should be required for the parking area. 
 
These proposed land uses require one loading space be installed which is a minimum of 12’ x 
35’ x 11’ of clearance. 
 
The owner has requested a written waiver of this requirement verbally stating to staff that their 
deliveries of construction materials does not require the use of this type of loading space.  
Their largest deliveries will be no different than UPS,USPS, or passenger size trucks and 
trailers.  They will not have semi-truck deliveries. 
 
Staff recommends the owner provide verification twelve parking spaces will be provided and 
submit a revised site plan.  Additional parking spaces may be required by the Planning 
Commission after the public hearing testimony and the number of employees and customers 
is discussed.  Staff recommends granting the owner’s request for a waiver from the loading 
space requirement based on staff’s reasons and the owner’s reasons listed in the staff report. 
 
 

5. Sign Requirements – Article 12 
According to the site plan submitted, no signs are proposed to be located on the property.  
No sign shall be located in the road right-of-way. 
  



6 

 

No sign permit is required for any sign.  However, any future sign shall meet all applicable 
requirements of Article 12. 
 
 

6. Landscaping 

The County generally has no specific requirements in the zoning regulations regarding 
landscaping.  The site plan shows no additional landscaping being placed on the property. 
 
Additional screening may be required through the conditional use permit review process.  
The Planning Commission can require landscaping, buffering, and screening installed to 
lessen the impact of a development on a neighborhood.  There are single-family dwellings 
across the road and to the east of the property which could be impacted by additional traffic, 
car lights, noise, dust, or other activities on the parcel. 
 
This parcel has a significant tree row on the east property line.  There are no trees on the 
owner’s property along the road right of way which could assist in lessening the impact of 
this land use.  There are also no trees or screening around the accessory building. 
 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission consider additional screening to lessen the 
impact of this land use on the neighborhood.  The Planning Commission could also consider 
other conditions of approval to lessen an impact on the neighborhood such as no outside 
storage. 
 
 

7. Lighting 

The submitted site plan shows one light on the south side of the building and one light on 
the west side of the building.  No additional lighting is shown on the site plan. 
 
Based on the location of the building and the parking area any lights used for the building or 
parking area will not shine on an adjacent property or on the road. 
 
 

8. Fencing 

There are no fence regulations except for instances when a sight triangle is involved or as a 
conditional use permit requirement. 
 
The site plan does not indicate a perimeter fence will be installed.  No fence may be installed 
in the road right of way or a public alley. 
 
Since this is not a corner parcel, there are no sight triangle concerns. 
 
Staff recommends any fence be installed at the owner’s discretion.  The Planning 
Commission may recommend a fence be installed to lessen any visual impact of the 
development on the neighborhood. 
 
 
 



7 

 

 
Don Brittain 

Public Works Director 

 

Road & Bridge  Planning & Zoning Environmental  Noxious Weed  Utilities 

9. Height Limitations – Article 13 
The maximum height for any building in the R-1 District is 35 feet. 
 
 
FACTORS 

The Planning Commission may recommend approval/denial of a Conditional Use and the 
Governing Body may approve/deny such Conditional Use using the following factors as 
guidelines: 

 
1. Whether approval of the Conditional Use would be consistent with the intent and purpose of 

these regulations. 

The intent and purpose of the regulations is to provide flexibility in approving non-
residential land uses and multi-family residential uses which may not have a significant 
impact on the neighborhood if certain conditions are met and to implement the eleven 
purposes found in Article 1-102. 
 
In reviewing the eleven purposes of the Zoning Regulations found under Article 1-102, staff 

concludes approval of the conditional use permit may not be consistent with the intent and 

purpose of these regulations.  This business is located near the end of a dead-end road.  All 

employees, travelling to and from the property, all deliveries of materials travelling to and 

from the property, and any customers requesting minor vehicle repairs must travel down 

this narrow township dirt road and residential neighborhood consisting of sixteen parcels.  

The construction company and minor vehicle repair traffic poses an undue hazard to this 

residential neighborhood because there is no other access point to avoid this residential 

neighborhood.  This type of business is incompatible with a residential neighborhood. 

 
The most important purposes found in the regulations that support this factor are: 
 

 To promote the health, safety, comfort, and general welfare of the citizens of Reno 
County, Kansas. 
 

 To regulate and restrict the height, number of stories, and size of buildings; the 
percentage of lots that may be occupied by buildings and other structures; size of 
yards, courts, and other open spaces. 
 

 To facilitate the adequate provisions of transportation, water, sewage, schools, parks, 
and other public improvements and services, and to carry out the goals and objectives 
as set forth in applicable laws of the State of Kansas and the Comprehensive Plan for 
Reno County, Kansas. 

 

 To inform the public regarding future development in Reno County, thereby 
providing a basis for wise decision with respect to such developments. 

 
 

2. Whether the location of the proposed use is compatible to other land uses in the surrounding 

neighborhood. 

To the north and west of this parcel is agricultural land zoned AG. 



8 

 

 
To the east is an 18-acre parcel zoned R-1.  This parcel has a small cabin located on the 
north side of the parcel.  Further to the east are several small parcels zoned R-1 and R-2 and 
contain single-family dwellings. 
 
Also under consideration with this analysis is the number of single-family dwellings and 
Reno Valley School located at the intersection of W. 17th Avenue and N. Wilshire Drive. 
 
As previously stated, this construction business employs numerous people, as evidenced by 
the picture dated June 6, 2023, that travel to this property once a day.  Building materials are 
delivered down this dead-end road at least twice a month.  Employees then leave to go to a 
job site with a company truck and return at the end of the day to pick up their vehicles.  All 
of this additional traffic could lead to unnecessary dangerous situations with vehicles 
travelling the opposite direction, vehicles backing out of a driveway, or pedestrians walking 
down the road.  This road is narrow and not designed for commercial vehicle traffic. 
 
The operation of a “minor vehicle repair” business is a land use staff was unaware of that is 
occurring on the parcel.  The plan of operation does not go into detail what is involved with 
this land use.  The operation of a minor vehicle repair business involves additional 
customers travelling to the property seeking the services offered.  This land use only adds to 
the traffic travelling down this dead-end road. 
 
Without these land uses occurring on the property, there would be no unnecessary traffic 
travelling down this dead-end road.  Only the people that own property or visiting an owner 
of a property would have a reason to travel down the road. 
 
The intensity of this current land use, in addition to the unknown intensity of the minor 
vehicle repair land use, is too severe given the fact that W. 17th Avenue is a dead-end road 
and the numerous single-family dwellings are located along this road as well as N. Wilshire 
Drive. 
 
Staff concludes utilizing this parcel as a construction company land use and a minor vehicle 

repair business land use has an unnecessary impact and could be considered not compatible 

with the surrounding neighborhood for the reasons stated in the staff report. 

 

 

3. Whether the proposed use places an undue burden on the existing transportation and service 

facilities in the area affected and, if so, whether such additional transportation and service 

facilities can be provided. 

An undue burden on existing transportation services is anticipated if the conditional use 
permit is approved.  The road is a legally open township road.  The additional traffic may 
cause the township to have to spend additional hours and expenses maintaining the dead-end 
road than they normally would not have to spend if the business was not located there.  The 
applicant does not indicate whether semi-trucks are used to deliver materials to the location.  
This type of delivery vehicle could unnecessarily impact the township road and residential 
neighborhood. 
 



9 

 

 
Don Brittain 

Public Works Director 

 

Road & Bridge  Planning & Zoning Environmental  Noxious Weed  Utilities 

Any new driveway entrance or expansion of the existing driveway entrance may require 
approval from Reno Township. 
    
This property is served by a private wastewater system and a private well.  No public sewer 
or public water is available.  The owner has indicated there are no bathrooms in the building. 
 
Staff concludes the proposed construction company and minor vehicle repair business could 

place an undue burden on the existing transportation system but not on the other service 

facilities for the above stated reasons. 

 
 

4. Whether the proposed use is made necessary or desirable because of changed or changing 

conditions in the area affected. 

There is no indication this area is transitioning to different land uses.  The predominant land 
use in the area is single family residential.  There are three parcels in the area that are being 
utilized for agricultural operations.  Reno Valley Middle School is also located at the 
southeast corner of N. Wilshire Drive and W. 17th Avenue.  There are no parcels operating a 
legal conforming commercial or industrial land use.    
 
Staff concludes the proposed use is not made necessary or desirable because of changed or 

changing conditions in the area affected. 

 

 
5. The length of time the subject property has remained vacant or undeveloped as zoned: 

provided, the use of land for agricultural purposes shall be considered as viable use of the 

land and not be considered as allowing the land to be vacant or undeveloped. 

This property is not vacant.  Mr. Beachy received a zoning permit on February 22, 2021, to 
construct a new residential shed.  This new shed was an improvement to the already existing 
single-family dwelling and other accessory buildings on the property. 
 
 

6. Whether the applicant’s property is suitable for the proposed use. 
This parcel is approximately 6.23 acres of land.  The parcel is served by a private 
wastewater system and private well although the owner states no wastewater system is 
necessary for the building.  There is a wastewater system for the single-family dwelling.  
According to the site plan, no future buildings are proposed for the property.  There is 
adequate space on the parcel to construct additional buildings on the property if desired.  
Adequate space is also available should the wastewater system need to be relocated or a 
separate wastewater system installed for the building.  If it is determined this land use is 
appropriate for this area, there is adequate space on the parcel to accommodate the proposed 
land uses and parking requirements without the need to obtain a waiver or variance. 
 

Staff concludes the property is suitable for the proposed use as presented by the owner. 

 
 
 



10 

 

7. Whether the proposed Conditional Use would be in conformance to and further enhance the 

implementation of the Comprehensive Plan. 

 

Chapter 9 discusses the goals, objectives, and policies of the County. 
 
Under the goals for Socio-Economic Development the following objectives indicate this 
proposal may be compatible with the Comprehensive Plan.  Those goals are as follows: 
 

 Promote the development of new businesses and the expansion of existing businesses 
to create job opportunities to attract new residents to the County and retain the youth. 

 

 Promote business and industrial development consistent with the overall quality of 
life within Reno County which would benefit the County’s economy and not 
adversely affect the environment.  Efforts should focus on supplementing business 
types already in existence within the County and promoting development of new 
businesses compatible with the established business and skill base within the County. 

 
Other Socio-Economic, Transportation, and Land Use Goals may indicate this proposal may 
not be compatible with the Comprehensive Plan.  Those goals are as follows: 
 

 Encourage businesses to look first to the cities within the County for new 
development locations. 

 

 Assist in the identification of appropriate sites for business and industrial growth and 
assist in extending public facilities and services to these sites as appropriate or 
necessary.  The primary focus should be to develop sites within the existing cities 
and not in the rural area of the County so full utility support from the cities may 
occur and the tax base for the city also grows. 

 

 Ensure that new private development in rural Reno County does not negatively 
impact the existing transportation system nor place demands for major upgrades to 
the transportation system. 

 

 Ensure that future development occurs in a timely fashion and is adequately served 
by roads and other public facilities and services. 

 

 Minimize land use incompatibilities and ensure that adjacent developments are 
comparable in density and quality, thereby providing for a smooth transition between 
land uses. 
 

 Discourage new strip commercial development that is not promoted in a unified, 
consistent manner.  Individual lot developments for single purposes that fail to 
coordinate with adjoining property development should be discouraged. 

 
Other objectives not listed here may appear to be in favor of or against the petition.  When 

reviewing these and all other relevant objectives, staff concludes at this time, non-

compliance with the Comprehensive Plan outweighs compliance based on the reasons listed 



11 

 

 
Don Brittain 

Public Works Director 

 

Road & Bridge  Planning & Zoning Environmental  Noxious Weed  Utilities 

under this Factor.  This dead-end road is not the proper location for a business because all 

business activities have to travel through a residential neighborhood.  This neighborhood 

also contains a middle school where there are numerous vehicles picking up and dropping 

off children.  These types of businesses negatively impacts the neighborhood.  Businesses 

similar to these proposed should be located in a commercial corridor or industrial park with 

other like businesses and away from residential neighborhoods. 

 

 
8. Whether the relative gain to the public health, safety, and general welfare outweighs the 

hardship imposed on the applicant by not upgrading the value of the property by approving 

the proposed Conditional Use. 

When reviewing this factor, staff concludes this type of land use does not provide any gain 
to the public health, safety, and general welfare.  Currently, W. 17th Avenue is a dead-end 
residential road.  Adding a commercial land use, that include deliveries of materials to the 
site by large trucks and semi-trucks, additional noise, and employee traffic places the people 
living along this narrow dirt road in harm’s way because this additional traffic would 
otherwise would not be present if the businesses was not located there.  The normal 
expectation of living in a residential neighborhood is being disrupted by these businesses.  
Since the specifics of a minor vehicle repair business was not disclosed by the owner, it is 
unknown what kind of safety issues could arise from this type of land use.  However, the 
concerns would be similar to any other type of commercial land use located along a dead-
end road that travels through a residential neighborhood.  It is not appropriate to place this 
type of land use where the only entry and exit to the businesses is through a residential 
neighborhood. 
 
There is little to no hardship on the owner.  The owner can still utilize the property for the 
highest and best use of the land which is a residential land use.  The owner may also utilize 
the accessory building for a residential use as permitted by the BZA.  The owner could also 
propose a different non-residential land use and apply for a conditional use permit. 
 
Staff concludes the relative gain to the public does not outweigh the hardship imposed on 

the applicant by not upgrading the value of the property by approving the conditional use 

permit. 

 

 
9. Whether the proposed Conditional Use, if it complies with all the conditions upon which the 

approval is made contingent (as authorized in Article 15 of these Regulations), will not 

adversely affect the property in the area affected. 

The Planning Commission could consider limiting the hours of operation, the type of 
vehicles, the number of employees, the location of any outside storage, the amount of 
lighting, or adding fencing and screening.  However, these types of conditions could be hard 
to enforce and regulate on an ongoing basis.  Any restrictions may not help with the 
disruption these businesses are causing to the residential neighborhood. 
 

Staff concludes that no amount of conditions or restrictions placed on the property can be 

approved and implemented and still not adversely affect the surrounding properties.  



12 

 

Placing many conditions of approval could cause an enforcement issue for Planning Staff to 

constantly monitor the land use. 

 

 

10. Such other factors as may be relevant from the facts and evidence presented in the 

application. 

 
As stated earlier in this report, Mr. Andrew Beachy applied for a special exception to 
construct a “Residential shed that is 50 w x 72L x 16H”.  The application was signed on and 
accepted by Planning Staff on January 5, 2021.  It is unclear in the conditional use permit 
application whether the intent all along was to construct a commercial building or if plans 
changed and the owner/applicant did not check with Planning Staff to determine if the 
building could be legally converted to a commercial land use.  
 
This conditional use permit case is the main reason the requirement to obtain a special 
exception from the BZA to construct a large building exceeding the maximum square 
footage permitted on a property was placed in the Zoning Regulations.  Planning staff was 
receiving complaints from citizens that other citizens were constructing a large building and 
then operating a business out of the building.  Requiring a special exception accomplished 
two objectives.  The first objective was to notify surrounding property owners that a large 
building could be constructed in the area and permit citizens to come to a public hearing to 
learn more about the proposal.  The second objective was that the public hearing puts on 
record exactly how the building will be used.  The special exception application and the 
record showed this will be a residential use shed. 
 
Every special exception approved by the BZA includes a condition of approval which states 
that the “Accessory building shall only be used for non-commercial/non-industrial purposes 
without an approved conditional use permit.” 
 
The plan of operation does not explain in any detail what is involved with minor vehicle 
repairs.  It is assumed minor vehicle repairs also could include changing of fluids.  If so, 
how are those fluids disposed of?  If repair parts are necessary to fix cars, how are the parts 
delivered?  How many employees operate this business? What is the average number of 
customers per day/week?  What are the hours of operation?  Are vehicles towed to the 
property for repairs?  Are wrecked vehicles kept on site to use for spare parts?  Are all of the 
fluids drained out of the wrecked cars top prevent ground contamination?  How are fluids 
disposed of?  All of these questions should be answered at the public hearing to provide 
details on this minor vehicle repair business. 
 
The owner was only charged a residential shed zoning permit fee of $50.  If the conditional 
use permit is approved, a change in use zoning permit is required.  The fee for a commercial 
zoning permit is $125. 

 
Notices of this proposal were sent to Reno Township and the Hutchinson Fire Department.  
The Hutchinson Fire Department said they have no comment on the case.  No comment 
were received from the Reno Township. 
 



13 

 

 
Don Brittain 

Public Works Director 

 

Road & Bridge  Planning & Zoning Environmental  Noxious Weed  Utilities 

11. The recommendation of the permanent or professional staff. 

 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 

Staff recommends Denial of this request for a conditional use permit to bring an existing 
construction company and minor vehicle repair business into compliance with the zoning 
regulations on land zoned R-1 based on the following factors: 
 

1. Whether approval of the Conditional Use would be consistent with the intent and purpose of 
these regulations. 

2. Whether the location of the proposed use is compatible to other land uses in the surrounding 
neighborhood. 

3. Whether the proposed use places an undue burden on the existing transportation and service 
facilities in the area affected and, if so, whether such additional transportation and service 
facilities can be provided. 

4. Whether the proposed use is made necessary or desirable because of changed or changing 
conditions in the area affected. 

5. Whether the proposed Conditional Use would be in conformance to and further enhance the 
implementation of the Comprehensive Plan. 

6. Whether the relative gain to the public health, safety, and general welfare outweighs the 
hardship imposed on the applicant by not upgrading the value of the property by approving 
the proposed Conditional Use. 

7. Whether the proposed Conditional Use, if it complies with all the conditions upon which the 
approval is made contingent (as authorized in Article 15 of these Regulations), will not 
adversely affect the property in the area affected. 

8. Such other factors as may be relevant from the facts and evidence presented in the 
application. 

9. The recommendation of the permanent or professional staff. 
 

This recommendation is based on the land use proposal and not on the fact the businesses are 
operating without an approved conditional use permit.  The staff recommendation would be the same 
regardless if this was a new proposal or one that is in violation of the zoning regulations.  It is staff’s 
opinion a construction company and minor vehicle repair business are not acceptable land uses for 
this property. 
 
If the Planning Commission recommends approval of the request, you must base your 
recommendation on the Factors listed in the report and provide reasons for your recommendation 
for the public record.  The Planning Commission may also attach conditions of approval that could 
aid in lessening the impact of this development on the neighborhood. 
 
Staff sent letters to 25 different property owners.  One person responded against the petition.   
 
Written comments are only accepted in the official record.  Verbal comments and contacts of staff 
are not entered into the official record in order to avoid misinterpretations. 

 
 
 

 



14 

 

On September 19, 2024, the Planning Commission conducted a public hearing on this petition. 
 
Andrew Beachy, 3108 W. 17th Avenue, Hutchinson, KS 67501, stated he is requesting a conditional 
use permit for an existing building and business so they can work on their vehicles and it is mostly a 
storage place for the employees.  He is unsure what else the Planning Commission needs to know. 
 
Chairman Goertzen said in 2021 you came before this Board for the ability to construct this shed 
and since that time your situation has changed.  What business are you running?  A vehicle repair 
shop or anything else out of this building? 
 
Mr. Beachy said a construction business.  It’s a post frame construction business.  Mr. Beachy 
added the vehicle maintenance is not for other people.  It is just for company trucks. 
 
Commissioner Seltzer confirmed the vehicle repair business is just to repair company vehicles.  
There are no outside customers. 
 
Mr. Beachy said yes.  There are no outside customers. 
 
Commissioner Seltzer said when the BZA approved the building back in 2021 it was approved as a 
residential auxiliary building.  This Board explained to you what that allowed you to do with the 
building.  It is supposed to be a residential building and not a commercial building.  Apparently, 
you decided to operate a business out of the building anyway whether or not you remembered you 
were not supposed to operate a business. 
 
Mr. Beachy responded they needed a storage space and as time went on it turned into more of a 
storage space and then turned into a workshop.  It wasn’t planned to be this far along but just grew 
from there. 
 
Commissioner Shafter asked how long the construction company has been in operation, 
 
Mr. Beachy said 2019. 
 
Commissioner Shafer added this pre-dates the previous approval for construction of this building. 
 
Mr. Beachy said yes. Commissioner Shafer asked where was that office in 2021? 
 
Mr. Beachy said it was just residential.  They didn’t have a lot of materials before that.  The 
materials were out at his partner’s place in Arlington. 
 
Commissioner Shafer questioned if the construction company was headquartered in Arlington prior 
to 2021. 
 
Mr. Beachy said yes.  Commissioner Shafer added, when did the business move to the west side of 
Hutchinson? 
 
Mr. Beachy said about 2019 or 2020 when he moved to Hutchinson. 
 



15 

 

 
Don Brittain 

Public Works Director 

 

Road & Bridge  Planning & Zoning Environmental  Noxious Weed  Utilities 

Commissioner Strand asked what kind of activity happens around your yard and this building 
related to the construction company. 
 
Mr. Beachy said not a whole lot of activity.  Mostly the main reason was for guys to show up at the 
shop to get into company vehicles and leave for the job sites again.  Most of the traffic is morning 
and evenings.  He is not part owner of the company anymore.  Aaron Beachy is here today and is 
the owner and can tell you more about what is going on around the building.  
 
Chairman Goertzen asked how many employees there are at the business. 
 
Mr. Aaron Beachy introduced himself and said they have a bunch of vehicles that park at the 
property and there are materials on the property that are left over from other jobs.  There are around 
12 employees.  The majority of them do not go there on a daily basis.  There is usually perhaps one 
or two employees that will go there on a normal day. 
 
Commissioner Macklin questioned the nature of the construction company.  Do you build houses, 
buildings, or highways? 
 
Mr. Beachy stated they build primarily steel buildings, pole barns, and barndominiums.  Most of the 
time the employees will travel from their homes to the job sites.  What they have used this property 
for is if they have extra materials or if one of their vehicles needs minor repairs, they will bring the 
vehicle to the building to work on it. 
 
Commissioner Shafer asked if the trucks are stored inside or outside. 
 
Mr. Beachy said outside. 
 
Commissioner Schwertfeger questioned if deliveries from delivery vehicles or semi-trucks are made 
to the area. 
 
Mr. Beachy responded they have minor deliveries made to the property.  Typically, not semi-trucks.  
They have had some semi deliveries but it is not very frequently. Mr. Beachy added a semi-truck 
may deliver to the area once a month. 
 
Commissioner Seltzer asked if other deliveries are by box truck.  Also, do the pull into the driveway 
and deliver the materials or do they stop out in the road and unload the materials. 
 
Mr. Beachy said if it is a box truck they will drive back to the building.   
 
Commissioner Seltzer commented there are pictures of semi-trucks unloading onto W. 17th Avenue 
with barely enough room to get around the truck. 
 
Commissioner Strand asked if Mr. Beachy has had any input from neighbors.  He drove out there 
and it is a dead-end street with a turn-around at the end.  There are a lot of houses in the area. 
 
Mr. Beachy said he can’t think of any but that might be a question for Andrew Beachy.  Aaron 
Beachy has mentioned that he has heard some complaints.  They do try to minimize what they do 



16 

 

out there as much as possible.  They do not have another facility that we can really use in some 
scenarios so they have resorted to using this building. 
 
Chairman Goertzen asked Mr. Andrew Beachy to confirm this is his property but he is not part of 
the building company anymore. 
 
Mr. Andrew Beachy said yes. 
 
Commissioner Macklin asked if there was a residence in the building and if there are restrooms. 
 
Mr. Aaron Beachy said there is a residence on the property but there is no residence in the building.  
There are no restrooms in the building. 
 
Commissioner Shafer asked if any part of the building is used for personal reasons. 
 
Mr. Beachy said there is an area of the building that Mr. Andrew Beachy has some of his personal 
stuff in. 
 
Commissioner Seltzer questioned why nobody responded to the violation letter staff sent in June of 
2023. 
 
Mr. Aaron Beachy stated he does not remember what happened when that letter was sent. 
 
Vonachen presented the staff report and showed slides of the area. 
 
Commissioner Strand questioned how a home occupation business is distinguished between a 
business requiring a conditional use permit. 
 
Vonachen responded the regulations will permit one additional employee who does not live on the 
property to be employed and travel to the site. Sometime regulations will say no more than five 
people can receive the service.  A home occupation has to be something where if you drove by the 
property, you’re not going to notice any type of business is being run out of that home.  The tipping 
point is when you start having multiple employees driving down any road, storing building 
materials outside, or constructing a portion of a shed then hauling those on large trucks out to job 
sites.  This is way beyond the scope of what a home occupation is intended to be used for.  There 
are no concerns if Mr. Beachy wants to run the accounting end of the business out of the home. 
 
After the staff report, Chairman Goertzen asked if there was anyone in the audience that would like 
to address the Planning Commission regarding this case. 
 
John Troyer, 2909 W. 17th Avenue, Hutchinson, KS 67501 said the main reason most of the 
residences do not want this conditional use permit issued is because of the significant increase in 
traffic, semi-trucks, and goose-neck trailers.  He agrees with everything Mr. Vonachen said.  He 
also has a petition with 15 signatures on it who do not want the conditional use permit. 
 



17 

 

 
Don Brittain 

Public Works Director 

 

Road & Bridge  Planning & Zoning Environmental  Noxious Weed  Utilities 

The road is a disaster when it rains.  They were led astray with the first hearing or they would have 
opposed the building being constructed from the beginning.  As soon as the building was 
constructed it started being used as a construction business. 
 
(Mr. Troyer did not submit the petition with the signatures for the record). 
 
Mark Collymore, 3100 W. 17th Avenue, Hutchinson, KS 67501 said he is here to plead that the 
Planning Commission does not let this conditional permit go through.  Their employees treat our 
road like it is their personal racecourse.  They drive up and down at 60 mph to 70 mph creating dust 
and dirt.  There are children that live on the street who at any time can walk out in the street and get 
run over.  There are construction vehicles constantly running up and down the road, Beachy 
Construction trucks coming up and down the road, semi deliveries, and commercial trash trucks 
coming up and down the road, 
 
This used to be a nice place to live.  It is no longer so because of the traffic that has been created by 
this construction company.  He does not like his kids or grandkids to play in my front yard because 
he is scared to death that they will get run over. If they lose control of these trailers that have a piece 
of equipment on it, because they are driving so fast, it’s going to cause a big problem for every 
resident who lives on that road.  Mr. Troyer and he have talked to the township.  The township 
cannot maintain our road because of their vehicles that constantly tear it up.  If it rains or snows, the 
road has six inches to foot deep ruts caused by their vehicles. 
 
The constant up and down traffic all hours of the day, on the weekends, all hours of the evenings 
should not have to happen.  They have 4-wheelers that go up and down the road.  One employee 
sprayed him with rocks after he asked him to stop driving the 4-wheeler up and down the road.  
This has turned our neighborhood into a place nobody wants to be if this is going to continue.  It is a 
hard place to live when you have a constant flow of commercial vehicles and traffic. 
 
Karen Troyer, 2909 W. 17th Avenue, Hutchinson, KS 67501, expressed her concerns that if by 
chance the conditional use permit was allowed, what is the Commission going to do to help 
maintain the road.  It appears to her that he misrepresented from the beginning what his intent was 
for the building.  She prefers the road no longer be that busy.  If it is going to be that busy, what is 
going to be done to maintain the road so it returns to a condition prior to the business re-locating in 
2021.  Dirt roads are never perfect; however, it’s continually getting worse.  The township road 
maintainer has said it is difficult to keep the road in a good condition.  It is passable and drivable in 
good weather conditions.  The road is ugly during the rain and snow.  The road conditions caused 
by this increase in traffic and the increase in semi-truck traffic that come with the trusses or the 
heavy equipment is what she would like the Commission to consider how the road is going to be 
maintained to an acceptable standard. 
 
Chairman Goertzen asked the applicant and staff for any rebuttal statements. 
 
Mr. Beachy did not provide any rebuttal statements. 
 
Due to technical difficulties, staff requested permission to conclude his slide presentation. 
 
The chair granted permission to continue the slide presentation.   



18 

 

Staff concluded his presentation by stating for the record he has no official rebuttal statements. 
 
Commissioner Macklin stated to the owner that he received the violation letter from staff in June of 
2023 stating Reno County had concerns with the use of the building.  Commission Macklin 
questioned if Mr. Beachy wanted to add any more information because over a year has passed and 
he has chosen not to respond to the County’s inquiry. 
 
Mr. Aaron Beachy stated he should have acted at that time and discontinued the business traffic and 
operations at the facility.   
 
Commissioner Strand it appears the business has grown more than they anticipated.  Maybe it is 
time to find a different location with the success they are having. 
 
Chairman Goertzen asked if there were any other questions from the Planning Commission. 
 
There were none. 
 
Chairman Goertzen closed the public hearing. 
 

Commissioner Strand asked if the conditional use permit is denied, what is the timeline for this 
situation to be corrected. 
 
Vonachen replied if the County Commissioners deny the conditional use permit, the owner will 
have to cease operations at this property immediately.  If the operations do not end, the lawsuit will 
continue and it will be up to the Judge to determine how long to give the owner to cease operations.  
It is out of staff’s control on how long to give the owner.  Once it is in the court system it is up to 
the Judge to determine when operations must end. 
 
Vice-Chairman Martin noted the homeowner does not own the business anymore so this make the 
situation a commercial rental, whether any rent is paid or not.  With this current situation it can’t be 
considered a home occupation. 
 
Commissioner Shafer visited the property and also the surrounding area prior to the public hearing.  
He could not find any other similar type of land use in the area.  Regardless of the past history of 
this property and how we got to this point in time, it does not look like a land use that exists in this 
neighborhood or any other similar neighborhoods in the area.  The township roads in that area aren’t 
designed for a commercial rental and he does not believe it is a good fit for the neighborhood. 
 
Chairman Goertzen is a firm believer in being able to do what you want on your property.  He is 
also a firm believer in being a good neighbor.  He agrees with Commissioner Shafer that this land 
use does not fit.  He also agrees with Vice-Chairman Martin that with the business owner not 
owning the property, it feels like a commercial property which does not fit the neighborhood. 
 
Commissioner Seltzer moved that case number 2024-11, the request by Andrew Beachy 

(Applicant: Aaron Beachy) requesting a conditional use permit from the Reno County Zoning 

Regulations to bring an existing construction company and minor vehicle repair business into 

compliance on a parcel of land zoned R-1 – Rural Residential District be denied based on the 



19 

 

 
Don Brittain 

Public Works Director 

 

Road & Bridge  Planning & Zoning Environmental  Noxious Weed  Utilities 

nine factors listed in the staff report and as heard at this public hearing; seconded by 

Commissioner Macklin. The motion passed by a 6-1 vote. (Yes: Strand, Shafer, Seltzer, 

Macklin, Martin, and Goertzen; No: Schwertfeger). 

 

Commissioner Schwertfeger noted for the record she misunderstood the motion.  She wishes 

to vote yes on the motion to deny the conditional use permit application.  

 
The County Commission may make a motion to: 
1. Approve the conditional use permit request as submitted. 
2. Approve/amend the conditional use permit request with conditions. 
3. Deny the conditional use permit request as submitted. 
4. Return to staff and the Planning Commission the conditional use permit request for further 

information. 
5. Table the request for further study. 
 
 
ACTION REQUIRED 
Motion to (accept/deny/return to the Planning Commission for further discussion) the Planning 
Commission’s recommendation to deny the proposed conditional use permit. 
 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

Application 
Site plan 
Zoning and property ownership map 
BZA order 
Zoning permit 
Violation letter 
Photograph 
Comments 
 









RESOLUTION 2024- 

 

A RESOLUTION DENYING A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT TO BRING AN 

EXISTING CONSTRUCTION COMPANY AND MINOR VEHICLE REPAIR 

BUSINESS INTO COMPLIANCE WITH THE ZONING REGLATIONS ON A 

PARCEL OF LAND LOCATED IN THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 

4, TOWNSHIP 23 SOUTH, RANGE 6 WEST OF THE 6TH P.M. IN RENO 

COUNTY, KANSAS 

 

 

 WHEREAS, Andrew Beachy, by and through, Aaron Beachy, applied for a 

Conditional Use Permit to bring an existing construction company and minor vehicle 

repair business land use into compliance with the Zoning Regulations upon a defined 

parcel of land more particularly described as follows: 

A tract located in the SE ¼ of Section 4, T23S, R6W of the 6th PM., in 

Reno County, Kansas as more fully described on that trustee’s deed filed 

in Book 676 on page 312 of the Office of Reno County Register of Deeds 

on June 30, 2020, which is incorporated herein by reference as if more 

fully set out; and 

 

 

 WHEREAS, said parcel is currently zoned R-1 – Rural Residential District for 

residential use in accordance with the Reno County Zoning Regulations; and a 

construction company and minor vehicle repair business land use are permitted in the R-1 

Zoning District with a Conditional Use Permit; and 

 WHEREAS, the Reno County Planning Commission conducted a public hearing 

on the Application on September 19, 2024, following satisfaction of all notice 

requirements for such hearing as required by K.S.A. 12-757; and 

WHEREAS, at the public hearing all interested parties in attendance were 

provided an opportunity to be heard; and the Reno County Planner presented a written 

report for the Conditional Use Permit dated September 12, 2024, which report, under the 

heading “FACTORS”, included a discussion and applications to be considered when 



making land use decisions pursuant to Golden v. City of Overland Park, 224 Kan. 591.  

Additionally, the Reno County Planner presented a staff recommendation in denial of the 

Application; and 

WHEREAS, following the conclusion of the public hearing the Reno County 

Planning Commission by a vote of six (6) in favor and one (one) opposed recommended 

denial of the Conditional Use Permit based upon a review and analysis of the 

“FACTORS” to be considered pursuant to Golden and other factors as outlined in the 

Reno County Zoning Regulations numbered one through nine inclusive; and 

 WHEREAS, on October 9, 2024, the Reno County Commission at its regular 

public meeting received a Summary Report dated September 26, 2024, of the proceedings 

before the Reno County Planning Commission and the Planning Commission’s 

recommendation of denial of the Conditional Use Permit; and 

WHEREAS, upon conclusion of the Board’s deliberations, Commissioner 

_______________ moved to approve the Planning Commission’s recommendation for 

denial of the Conditional Use Permit as recommended by the Planning Commission.  In 

support of his motion, Commissioner ______________ cited “FACTORS” numbered one 

through nine inclusive found in the analysis presented within the Reno County Planner’s 

Summary Report.  Commissioner _______________ seconded the motion.  The motion 

was approved by unanimous vote. 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS, that the above and foregoing 

findings to deny the Application were adopted as the decision of this Board.  The 

aforesaid Conditional Use Permit Application made by Andrew Beachy is denied for the 

reasons stated herein. 



BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that this resolution be effective from and after its 

adoption. 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED in regular session this 9th day of October 2024. 

 

     BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

     OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS 

 

 

     ________________________________________ 

     Randy Parks, Chairman 

 

 

     ________________________________________ 

     Don Bogner, Member 

 

 

     ________________________________________ 

     Ron Hirst, Member 

 

 

     ________________________________________ 

     Daniel Friesen, Member 

 

 

     ________________________________________ 

     John Whitesel, Member 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

______________________ 

Donna Patton, County Clerk 



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #7.E

AGENDA DATE: October 9, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Mark Vonachen, County Planner II & Don Brittain, Director of Public
Works

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Resolution 2024-_____ & Planning Case #2024-10 - A request by the Reno County Planning
Commission for a series of text amendments to the April 2016 Edition of the Reno County Zoning
Regulations related to all types of solar energy projects.  The text amendments propose to create Article
15-105(58a), 15-109(1)(L), and 15-109(2)(H), and amend Article 15-109(2)(A).

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:

On December 13, 2023, the County Commissioners adopted Resolution 2023-41.  This resolution
provided a temporary moratorium which suspended the submittal of Conditional Use permits for a
commercial renewable solar energy project, suspended the construction and erection of commercial
renewal solar energy projects and suspended the construction of residential ground-mounted solar
energy systems.  The Resolution also directed staff and the Planning Commission to create guidelines
which do not impede or restrict the installation or use of solar energy projects which qualify for retail
net metering terms of a retail electric service provide.

 

Subsequent verbal discussions with the County Commissioners further directed staff and the Planning
Commission to prepare a series of text amendments which regulates the installation of a private ground-
mounted solar energy system and prohibits a commercial solar energy system.

 

County staff has prepared the necessary text amendments to the Zoning Regulations as directed by the
County Commissioners.  The Planning Commission reviewed staff’s proposal and discussed the details
of the text amendments.  On June 20, 2024, the Planning Commission approved the final changes to the
text amendments and moved to set a public hearing date on July 29, 2024, at 5:30pm at the Public
Works Facility.

 

On June 24, 2024, notice of the public hearing and the text amendment documents were placed on the
website and a message sent out on all County social media outlets.  On June 27, 2024, the public
hearing notice was sent to all City Clerks who are employed by cities that have a municipal boundary



within three miles of the fully zoned area of the County.  A public hearing notice was sent to the entire
Township Board of each Township that has all or a portion of the Township boundary fully zoned.  A
public hearing notice was published in the Ninnescah Valley Newspaper on June 28, 2024.

A public hearing was held on July 29, 2024, for the following text amendments:

 
1. Article 15-105(58a) – adds Limited Scale Commercial Solar Energy System as requiring a

conditional use permit.
2. Article 15-109(1)(L) – creates private solar regulations for properties zoned AG.
3. Article 15-109(2)(A) – eliminates the term “Solar collectors” from the zoning regulations.
4. Article 15-109(2)(H) – creates private solar regulations for properties zoned R-1, R-2, R-3, and

V-1.
5. Article 15-111(8) – prohibits a commercial solar energy system in the zoned area of the County.

 

At the public hearing, thirteen people provided testimony to the Planning Commission. 

 

Regarding private solar energy systems, a couple of citizens questioned how the total height is
measured and requested more clarity.  Also requested was adding the word “utility” to a commercial
solar energy system.  Staff explained the total height is measured vertically.  Since the regulations for
private ground-mounted solar energy systems is based off of Article 13, to clarify this language further
will require a text amendment to Article 13.  Adding the word “utility” will require a text amendment to
Article 25.

 

Eight people requested a commercial solar energy system be prohibited; five people requested
commercial solar energy systems be permitted with proper regulations.  Out of the five people who
requested commercial solar energy systems be permitted, one specifically requested commercial solar
energy systems be prohibited only in the watershed.

 

Citizens in favor of permitting a commercial solar energy system cited economics as one reason.  The
County stands to gain payments from the company operating the project that would be negotiated
between the County and the company.  Citizens leasing their land for the project will receive lease
payments from the company for the life of the project under the terms of the individual lease
agreements.

 

Another reason for permitting a commercial solar energy system is landowner property rights.  Citizens



have the right to plant crops to harvest resources, drill for oil or gas, or whatever natural resource is
available to them on their land whether they are required to have a permit or not.  Agricultural
landowners should be able to decide how best to use their land.

 

Lastly, is the natural process of photosynthesis, the conversion of sunlight into energy. The growing of
agricultural crops is all dependent on the natural transformation of sunlight into energy through
photosynthesis.  There is no difference in a landowner choosing to lease their ground to someone
raising cattle, a landowner leasing their ground to a commercial company for oil and gas exploration or
leasing their ground for commercial solar production.

 

Citizens against permitting a commercial solar energy system cited protection of the North Fork of the
Ninnescah River watershed, which feeds Cheney Lake, as a major reason to prohibit a commercial solar
energy system.  Cheney Lake supplies the Wichita metropolitan area with some of its drinking water, so
it is important to protect that water source from contamination.

 

Citizens were also concerned the effects a commercial solar energy system will have on soil erosion
since there will be less land to absorb water. The battery storage and chemical make-up of the solar
panels were also concerns addressed.  If the panels are broken during a hailstorm or other cause, the
chemicals could contaminate Cheney Lake.

 

Lastly, citizens commented on the preservation of farmland.  It seems contradictory to take land that
was once used to grow our food and now we are going to use it to provide energy.  One of the best ideas
seen is putting solar panels on parking garages or other large buildings.

 

At the conclusion of the public hearing the Planning Commission decided to group together the
discussion on the two minor text amendments and the private solar energy system text amendments. 
The commercial solar energy system text amendment was discussed separately from the other text
amendments.

 

The Planning Commission had no concerns or changes with the four text amendments grouped
together.  Motion be Commissioner Strand to approve the text amendments to add Article 15-
105(58a), add Article 15-109(1)(L), amend Article 15-109(2)(A), and add Article 15-109(2)(H) as
written and presented by staff; seconded by Commissioner Seltzer.  The motion passed by the



following 7-0 vote (Yes: Schwertfeger, Strand, Shafer, Seltzer, Macklin, Martin, and Goertzen).

 

The Planning Commission then began the discussion on the text amendment to prohibit commercial
solar energy systems.

 

With no further comments from the Planning Commission, Commissioner Seltzer said they have
discussed this topic in the past with regards to the runoff, the sediment, and other issues.

 

Motion by Commissioner Seltzer to approve the text amendment to add Article 15-111(8) as
presented by staff.  Chairman Goertzen announced the motion failed due to a lack of a second.

 

Commissioner Strand said there is a lot of information to review.  He added they are to determine land
use.  When you look at other land uses in Article 15, it is hard to make a greater case against solar them
other land uses such as adult entertainment, airports, commercial feed lots, or explosives/fireworks for
wholesale storage or manufacturing. Based on that, he finds it difficult to single out a particular land
use or industry knowing that the conditional use permit process is still in place.

 

Reno County seems to be comfortable with that process in going through a public hearing and deciding
what is an acceptable land use for a specific parcel.  Regarding a commercial solar installation, when
then edge of the property is going to be the edge of Cheney Lake, that is probably not going to be
approved.  However, if the project is a reasonable distance away and passes all of the other concerns, it
perhaps would be a good land use in Reno County.  Commissioner Strand believes a commercial solar
project could be considered for a conditional use permit.

 

Commissioner Seltzer understands Commissioner Strand’s viewpoint, but a commercial wind or
commercial solar project is at a much larger scale involving hundreds or thousands of acres of ground,
not just a quarter section of ground or 100 acres, or 50 acres.  This is a massive land use that will have a
lot of impacts and take land out of production.  There will also be environmental issues.  He believes
the watershed should be protected.  In looking at the map, that watershed takes in probably half of the
zoned are of the County.

 

Commissioner Shafer did not believe the watershed took up half of the zoned area of the County.  Most



of the watershed is in the unzoned area of the County.  Commissioner Shafer believes the Planning
Commission agrees that there are areas of the zoned portion of the County where a large commercial
solar project doesn’t belong.  He is pro private property rights, so, to have a blanket prohibition is a big
ask of the government to restrict a particular land use of any type.

 

Commissioner Macklin agrees with the statements made by Commissioner Shafer.

 

Chairman Goertzen heard the common theme of mitigation and being a good steward of the land that
you own during the testimony.  He agrees with Commissioners Shafer and Macklin that there are some
places that a commercial scale solar project does not belong.  At this point he does not agree with a
blanket prohibition.

 

Vice-Chairman Martin believes the Planning Commission is smart enough to understand when a
specific situation comes along and there is a conditional use permit before us, good decisions can be
made at that time.

 

Commissioner Macklin agreed with the statement.

 

Vice-Chairman Martin commented that additional restrictions can be added at that time to make
everyone happy.

 

Commissioner Strand might be inclined to think differently because he knows there are concerns that
bad things can happen with any type of land use.  There are injection wells and pipelines that are
located near the lake.  All of these things are taken in “stride” and people don’t think about some of
those hazards.  When something new comes along like solar, it is more of a fear of the unknown.  The
biggest concern is the watershed.  We have to find ways to mitigate that concern.

 

Motion by Commissioner Strand to deny the text amendment to add Article 15-111(8) as written
and presented by staff; seconded by Commissioner Macklin.  The motion passed by the following
5-2 vote (Yes: Strand, Shafer, Macklin, Martin, and Goertzen; No: Schwertfeger and Seltzer).

 



At the end of the public record document are three proposed Resolutions.  All have been reviewed by
the County Counselor,
 
The first Resolution approved the private solar regulation text amendments and the other two minor text
amendments.
 
The second Resolution reverses the Planning Commission recommendation and approves the text
amendment to prohibit a commercial solar project in the fully zoned area of the county.
 
The third Resolution agrees with the Planning Commission recommendation to deny the text
amendment prohibiting a commercial solar project in the fully zoned area of the county.

ALL OPTIONS:
The County Commissioners may:
 
1.  Approve of the text amendments.
2.  Deny the text amendments.
3.  Return the text amendments back to the Planning Commission with specific questions to be
answered or further study.
4.  Table the request for further review.

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Consideration of the Planning Commission recommendation to approve of the text amendments
regarding private solar regulations and the recommendation to deny the text amendment regarding
commercial solar regulations.

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
If approved, new zoning regulations and permitting requirements will be implemented for private,
ground-mounted solar installations in the fully zoned area of the County.  Private, roof-mounted solar
installations will continue to be un-regulated.
 
If approved, commercial solar energy projects will be prohibited in the fully zoned area of the County. 
 If not approved, commercial solar projects could be permitted with an approved conditional use
permit.  No specific zoning regulations exist Agoverning the placement of commercial solar projects.



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-1 

Sections: 

15-101 Conditional Uses - Purpose and Intent 

15-102 Application of Conditional Uses 

15-103 Qualification of Existing Conditional Uses 

15-104 Additions and Changes to Conditional Uses 

15-105 Conditional Uses Enumerated 

15-106 Continuance of a Conditional Use 

15-107 Accessory Uses 

15-108 Eligibility for Accessory Use 

15-109 Accessory Uses Allowed 

15-110 Specialty Accessory Uses 

15-111 Prohibited Uses 

 

15-101 Conditional Uses - Purpose and Intent:  The establishment of virtually all land uses except 

agricultural and traditional single-family residential, in most cases, are not appropriate in the bulk of 

unincorporated portion of Reno County; especially those land uses that are of an extremely sensitive nature 

due to the intensity or environmental impacts associated with the normal operation of the business or activity. 

 However, it is recognized that it may be acceptable, on a case-by-case, site-by-site basis, to permit the 

development of such land uses where conditions warrant, and adequate safeguards are taken to mitigate any 

of the potential problems associated with said development.  Therefore, in order to develop any land use 

other than agricultural and traditional single-family residential in the unincorporated portion of Reno County, 

a Conditional Use Permit issued in accordance with these Regulations shall be required. 

 

It is the intent of this Article to require a Conditional Use Permit for all proposed land uses, except those 

specifically prohibited herein or allowed as a permitted use in one of the established zoning districts.  As 

such, it is acknowledged that any property owner may seek a Conditional Use Permit for any of the types of 

land uses indicated herein for any property within the unincorporated portion of Reno County.  The 

subsequent approval of such request by the Governing Body is a purely discretionary act that will be decided 

based upon the facts and circumstances discovered in the review of each application.  There is no implied 

"right" for any person or landowner to obtain a Conditional Use Permit for any use on any property.   

 

It is also the intent of this Article to allow the issuance of Conditional Use Permits that provides for more 

than one use on any property; provided the range or type of uses is clearly delineated within the Conditional 

Use Permit, the other relevant facts have been evaluated, and the approval is consistent with the spirit and 

intent of this Article and these Regulations.  (For example:  a Conditional Use Permit could be approved for 

a "strip shopping center" in a location where transportation and adequate water and sewage disposal services 

are available; or it could indicate a range of "retail and/or service businesses" as being appropriate for this 

location.) 

 

15-102 Application of Conditional Uses:  Before the location or establishment of any land use requiring a 

Conditional Use Permit, or before any change or use of the premises existing at the time of the effective date 

of these Regulations or permitted as herein provided is made, a Development Plan in sufficient detail and a 

statement as to the proposed use of the buildings, structures, and premises shall be submitted to the Planning 

Commission as specified in Article 8 of these Regulations.  The Planning Commission shall hold a public 

hearing following the provisions also outlined in Article 20 of these Regulations and shall review such 

Development Plan and statements and shall, after a careful study of the effect that such buildings, structures, 

or uses will have upon the surrounding property, submit a recommendation to the Governing Body.   

 



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-2 

Following receipt of the Planning Commission's recommendation, the Governing Body may, within the 

specifications herein provided, permit such buildings, structures, or uses; provided that the public health, 

safety, morals, and general welfare will not be adversely affected, that ample off-street parking facilities will 

be provided, that the transportation and utility services are appropriate for the level and intensity of the 

proposed development, and that necessary safeguards will be provided for the protection of surrounding 

property, persons, and of neighborhood values.  In this regard, the Governing Body may impose reasonable 

conditions on the approval of a Conditional Use Permit including, but not limited to, those items identified in 

Article 8 of these Regulations. 

 

15-103 Qualification of Existing Conditional Uses:  Properties with land uses operating under an existing 

Conditional Use approved prior to the adoption of these Regulations, or that were zoned and used as 

commercial or industrial under the previous Zoning Regulations, shall be permitted to continue, but with an 

unapproved Conditional Use Permit.  Changes in the building(s), operation(s) or use(s) of said properties 

shall be treated as requiring an amendment to said unapproved Conditional Use Permit and considered as 

provided Section 15-102 herein. 

 

15-104 Additions and Changes to Conditional Uses:  All subsequent requests for additions and structural 

alterations to Conditional Uses approved by the Governing Body shall be considered in the same procedure 

as outlined in Section 15-102 herein. 

 

15-105 Conditional Uses Enumerated:  The following Conditional Uses are some of the uses that may be 

approved by the Governing Body as provided in this Article.  Other land uses may also be permitted by 

Conditional Use Permit except those specifically listed as permitted uses in the zoning districts or as 

prohibited uses in these Regulations.   

 

1. Adult Entertainment Establishment.: Any business, premises or establishment including, without 

limitation, adult bookstores, adult video stores, adult motion picture theaters, adult mini-motion 

picture theaters, adult cabarets, adult live performance theaters which has any of the following: 

 

A. Thirty percent (30%) or less of its annual gross receipts derived from: (a) the offering of 

entertainment, performances, scenes, visual representations, or other presentations which are 

characterized by emphasis on depiction or description of “specified sexual activities” or of 

“specified anatomical areas” as herein defined, or (b) the offering of stocks in trade of books, 

magazines, periodicals, or other printed matter or photographs, films, motion pictures, video 

cassettes, slides, or other photographic materials which are characterized by emphasis on 

depiction or description of “specified sexual activities” or of “specified anatomical areas” as 

herein defined, and instruments, devices, or paraphernalia designed for use in connection 

with “specified sexual activities” as herein defined; or 

 

B. Thirty percent (30%) or less of its inventory on hand at any time consisting of stocks in trade 

of books, magazines, periodicals, or other printed matter or photographs, films, motion 

pictures, video cassettes, slides, or other photographic materials which are characterized by 

emphasis on depiction or description of “specified sexual activities” or of “specified 

anatomical areas” as herein defined, or paraphernalia designed for use in connection with 

“specified sexual activities” as herein defined; or 

 

C. Thirty percent (30%) or less of its floor area at any time allocated to  (a) entertainment, 

performances, scenes, visual representations, or other presentations which are characterized 

by emphasis on depiction or description of “specified sexual activities” or of “specified 



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-3 

anatomical areas” as herein defined, or (b) the offering, display and storage of stocks in trade 

of books, magazines, periodicals, or other printed matter or photographs, films, motion 

pictures, video cassettes, slides, or other photographic materials which are characterized by 

emphasis on depiction or description of “specified sexual activities” or of “specified 

anatomical areas” as herein defined, and instruments, devices, or paraphernalia designed for 

use in connection with “specified sexual activities” as herein defined, and instruments, 

devices or paraphernalia designed for use in connection with “specified sexual activities” as 

herein defined. 

 

D. No adult entertainment establishment shall be permitted within 2,640 feet of any religious 

institution, school, or public park or any property zoned for residential use. Such distance 

shall be measured in a straight line without regard to intervening properties from the closest 

exterior structural wall of the adult entertainment establishment to the closest property line 

of the religious institution, school, public park, or the property zoned for residential use.  

 

E. No adult entertainment establishment shall be allowed to locate or expand within 2,640 feet 

of any other adult entertainment use or of any business licensed to sell or serve alcoholic 

beverages whether or not such business is also an adult entertainment establishment as 

defined-in this section. The distance between any two-(2) adult entertainment establishments 

or between an adult entertainment establishment and a business selling or serving alcoholic 

beverages shall be measured in a straight line without regard to intervening structures from 

the closest exterior structural wall of each business.  

 

F. All access to and from the adult entertainment establishment shall be provided from a street 

classified as a thoroughfare.  

 

G. The property on which such use is located shall have a minimum of 100 feet of street 

frontage.  

 

H. The property on which the use is located shall be screened by solid masonry wall, at least six 

feet (6') in height along all interior property lines.  

 

I. The facility on which the use is located and the parking for such facility shall have yard 

setbacks in compliance with the requirements for the zone in which the facility is located.  

 

J. Off-street parking shall be provided at a ratio of one (1) parking space per 75 square feet of 

interior floor area. All off-street parking requirements shall conform to the Reno County 

Zoning Regulations except as modified by the approved Conditional Use Permit. 

 

K. All landscaping and screening requirements for the zone in which the facility is located shall 

be observed.  

 

L. The facility in which the use is located shall be designed in such a fashion that all openings, 

entries and windows prevent view into such facilities from any pedestrian, sidewalk, 

walkway, street or other public area. No adult entertainment activity shall take place partially 

or totally outside the adult entertainment establishment.  

 

M. The facility in which such a use is located shall be limited to one (1) wall-mounted sign no 

greater than one (1) square foot of sign per linear foot of wall length, not to exceed a total of 



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-4 

fifty (50) square feet; said sign shall not flash, blink or move by mechanical means and shall 

not extend above the roof line of the building. Further, no merchandise or pictures of 

products or entertainment on the premises shall be displayed in window areas or any area 

where such merchandise or pictures can be viewed from the sidewalk in front of the 

building. No flashing lights and/or lighting which leaves the impression of motion or 

movement shall be permitted.  

 

N. Lighting the parking area must provide a minimum light level of 0.25 footcandles over the 

entire parking area, but in no point shall the light level exceed 3.0 footcandles, nor shall any 

increase in light levels or visible glare be permitted at the lot line. 

 

2. Airports, aviation fields, helio-ports, and/or landing fields, either publicly or privately held. 

 

3. Bed and breakfast facility. 

 

4. Boat sales and service, including storage yard. 

 

5. Buildings, structures or premises for public utility services or public service corporations; including 

but not limited to, water treatment plants, wastewater treatment plants, pump stations, filter beds, 

water towers, substations, reservoirs, and utility maintenance shops and yards.  

 

6. Bus barns or lots. 

 

7. Cemeteries, mausoleums, or crematories for the disposal of the dead. 

 

8. Ceramic, pottery or concrete ornament product processing, sales and/or yard. 

 

9. Churches and church-related facilities including camps, schools, retreat centers and similar facilities; 

publicly owned and operated community buildings, art gallery, museums and libraries. 

 

10. Commercial and/or retail stores and activities not otherwise prohibited by these Regulations. 

 

11. Commercial offices and office parks. 

 

12. Commercial parking lots. 

 

13. Commercial stockyard or feedlot. 

 

14. A Commercial Wind Energy Conversion System shall be subject to the provisions of Article 23. 

 

15. Any small Wind Energy Conversion System proposed to exceed the Performance Standards as stated 

within these Regulations. 

 

16. Convenience food stores. 

 

17. Contractor's shop and/or yard, including construction equipment and/or material storage areas. 

 

18. Drinking establishments, taverns, membership clubs, or other places that serve alcohol for 

consumption on the premises. 



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-5 

19. Drive-in and drive-through establishments. 

 

20. Drive-in theatres. 

 

21. Dwellings for resident night watchmen and caretakers employed on the premises of a business. 

 

22. Entertainment venues established on a recurring basis, such as “corn mazes”, “haunted houses” and 

the like.  If such operations are only on a single occasion and not intended to be an annual event, it 

may be considered as a Special Event as provided in these Regulations. 

 

23. Exposition centers and/or buildings. 

 

24. Explosives, fireworks, ammunition, black powder, or similar material wholesale sales, storage, 

warehousing, and/or manufacturing. 

 

25. Fairgrounds. 

 

26. Farm machinery sales and service, including storage yard. 

 

27. Fire stations. 

 

28. Grain elevators and its accessory activities including, but not limited to, bulk fuel storage facilities, 

ammonia storage, tire repair facilities, etc. 

 

29. Greenhouses, nurseries and/or hydroponic farms operated as a retail business. 

 

30. Group Boarding Home, Licensed Group Day Care Home, Child Care Center, Preschool, Detention 

Center, or Residential Center, except as permitted by K.S.A. 12-736 as amended, provided: 

 

A. The applicant shall submit, as a part of the application, the plans for the proposed facility 

giving the type of services to be rendered, the number of persons to be placed in the facility, 

the number of staff to be employed and other information that will help in determining the 

extent of services to be provided. 

 

B. A report shall be submitted by the applicant giving the current status of the applicant's 

license to operate the proposed facility and listing all requirements yet to be met in order for 

the proposed facility to be granted authorization to begin its operations. 

 

C. Off-street parking at a rate of one space per employee plus two additional spaces for guests. 

 

D. When operated out of an existing or proposed residential structure, the following standards 

shall be met: 

 

(1) That only one nonilluminated ground or wall sign not more than 4 square feet in area 

is used to advertise the home occupation. 

 

(2) Outside play areas shall be in the side or rear yard only and shall be fenced to the 

requirements established in the Conditional Use Permit approval. 

 



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-6 

31. Hospitals, nursing or convalescent homes, congregate care facilities and retirement housing. 

 

32. Hospital or clinic for large or small animals, provided, such hospital or clinic and treatment rooms 

shall be maintained within a completely enclosed, soundproof building, and that such hospital or 

clinic shall be operated in such a way as to produce no objectionable odors outside its walls. 

 

33. Hotels, motels, and motor hotels. 

 

34. Judicial centers, jails, penal or correctional institutions. 

 

35. Junkyard. 

 

36. Keeping of exotic birds and/or animals on any tract of land, whether in a building or not. 

 

37. Kennels, either boarding or breeding, on less than 10 acres of land, provided: 

 

A. All kennel buildings, runs and open areas shall be a distance of at least 1,000 feet between 

the outer perimeter of the breeding or boarding operation and the nearest residence other 

than the residence on-site, church, school, public meeting place, commercial business or 

confined livestock operation. 

 

B. Open pens shall not be required to be served by sanitary sewer facilities unless soil 

conditions will not support adequate percolation. 

 

38. Laboratories; research, experimental, and/or testing. 

 

39. Lawn and garden supply sales and service, including storage yards. 

 

40. Manufactured home and recreational vehicle sales and service, including display yard. 

 

41. Manufactured home as a single-family dwelling on an individual lot. 

 

42. Manufactured home parks, subject to the following minimum requirements: 

 

A. The tract to be used as a Manufactured Home Park shall be at least two (2) acres. 

 

B. The Manufactured Home Park shall not be developed at a gross density greater than seven 

(7) manufactured homes for every one (1) net acre of land, excluding road rights-of-way and 

common open spaces within the Manufactured Home Park. 

 

C. No part of any manufactured home or other building or structure shall be located within 50 

feet of any public road right-of-way, nor within 25 feet of any exterior property line of the 

Manufactured Home Park.   

 

D. Individual Manufactured Home Lot shall be designed to meet the following standards: 

 

(1) Each manufactured home lot to be occupied by a single-wide unit shall consist of at 

least 4,500 square feet, with a minimum width of 45 feet and a minimum length of    

                                                                                                                                    



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-7 

100 feet.  Each manufactured home lot to be occupied by a double-wide unit shall 

consist of at least 5,000 square feet, with a minimum width of 55 feet and a 

minimum length of 90 feet. 

 

(2) Each manufactured home lot shall have a front yard setback of at least 20 feet 

measured from the edge of the pavement to the closest point of the lower face of the 

manufactured home.  The front yard may be reduced to 10 feet when on-street 

parking is provided along the same side of the street. 

 

(3) Each manufactured home lot shall have a side yard on each side of the manufactured 

home.  A minimum of 5 feet shall be allowed on one side of the lot, provided a 

minimum of 25 feet shall be maintained between manufactured homes on adjoining 

lots.  Change to say so long as a minimum of 25 feet is maintained on the opposite 

side yard.  Or similar language. 

 

(4) Each manufactured lot shall have a rear yard of at least 15 feet. 

 

(5) No manufactured home or other building or structure shall exceed 20 feet in height. 

 

E. In addition to compliance with all adopted rules, regulations and resolutions of Reno County, 

the minimum requirements pertaining to structural, design, utility service, and maintenance 

features within a Manufactured Home Park shall be as follows: 

 

(1) Utilities.  Sanitary sewer and water facilities shall be provided for each lot within the 

Manufactured Home Park.  All manufactured homes within the Manufactured Home 

Park shall be served by a public water supply adequate to provide fire protection by 

hydrants, and by a public sanitary sewer system. 

  

 Individual electrical service and gas service shall be provided to each lot with the 

park.  The service so provided shall be separately metered for each lot, each lot shall 

have separate disconnect points from any other lot and shall not be provided service 

from any other home or lot. 

 All utility lines shall be placed underground and there shall be no overhead wires or 

support poles except those required for street or other lighting purposes. 

 

(2) Streets.  All internal streets shall be asphalt or concrete surface and shall be durable 

and well drained under normal use and weather conditions.  The surface shall be 

maintained free of cracks, holes, and other hazards by the Manufactured Home Park 

management.  All internal streets shall be owned and maintained by the owner of the 

Manufactured Home Park. 

 

(a) Grades of all streets shall be sufficient to insure adequate surface drainage.  

Grades shall not exceed 8 percent. 

 

(b) Minimum pavement widths shall be as follows: 

 

(1) Entrance streets and all other streets with parking allowances on 

both sides of the street shall be a minimum of 42 feet in width. 

 



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-8 

(2) Streets with parking allowance on one side only shall be a minimum 

of 30 feet in width. 

 

(3) Streets with no parking allowance shall be a minimum of 24 feet in 

width. 

 

(3) Manufactured Home Pad.  Concrete runners shall be provided on every 

manufactured home lot to accommodate the manufactured home and its attached 

accessory structures.  The runners shall be constructed to provide anchoring 

facilities for the placement and tie-down of the manufactured home to secure it 

against accidental uplift, sliding, rotation and over-turning. Runners shall be 

installed before any manufactured home is occupied. 

 

(4) Recreation.  One or more recreation areas shall be provided within every 

Manufactured Home Park.  The size of such recreation area(s) shall not be less than 

10 percent of the gross area of the Manufactured Home Park and shall be located so 

as to be easily accessible to all Park residents. Recreation areas shall be maintained 

by the Park management and may include space for community building(s) and 

community use facilities such as indoor recreation, meeting rooms and similar uses.  

 

(5) Parking.  Adequate parking shall be provided for the use of Park residents and 

guests.  Each manufactured home lot shall have parking for at least two (2) motor 

vehicles.  The parking spaces may be provided on-street or off-street.  A parking 

space shall be a minimum of 9 feet by 19 feet.   

 

(6) Skirting.  Skirting of a durable type of material and construction shall be installed on 

each manufactured home to enclose the open space between the bottom of the 

manufactured home floor and the grade level of the manufactured home pad.  Such 

skirting shall be constructed of material consistent with the exterior surface of the 

manufactured home and maintained in a manner to enhance the appearance of the 

Manufactured Home Park. 

 

(7) Screening.  Effective screening shall be provided along the boundary lines of the 

Manufactured Home Park to serve as a buffer through the use of plantings, berms or 

other landscaping features. 

 

(8) Lighting.  Adequate lighting shall be provided for all streets, walkways, service 

buildings and other facilities subject to nighttime use. 

 

(9) Storm Shelter.  A common storm shelter capable of providing adequate shelter from 

severe weather for all Manufactured Home Park residents shall be provided. 

 

(10) Storage Lot.  All Manufactured Home Parks shall have an area or areas set aside for 

the storage of boats, boat trailers, hauling trailers, motor vehicles, snowmobiles, and 

other equipment for seasonal or periodic use to be noncommercially operated and 

for the exclusive use of residents of the Manufactured Home Park.  Such items listed 

above shall not be stored upon a manufactured home lot nor upon the streets within a 

Manufactured Home Park.  All storage lots shall be screened from external view to 

the standards listed in paragraph (7) above.  Wrong section. 



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-9 

(11) Lot Identification.  Each manufactured home lot within the Manufactured Home 

Park shall be numbered in an orderly fashion and in a secure and consistent manner 

throughout the Manufactured Home Park.  The lot number shall be displayed on the 

lot and be visible at all times. 

 

(12) Garbage and Refuse.  Provisions for garbage and refuse storage, collection and 

disposal shall be maintained by the operator of the park so as not to create health 

hazards, rodent harborage, insect breeding areas, accident hazards or air pollution. 

  

(13) Rodents and Insects.  Manufactured home parks shall be maintained free of 

excessive insect or rodent infestation.  The park management shall keep all areas 

outside the confines of the individual manufactured homes reasonably free of 

breeding, harboring, and feeding places for rodents and insects.  Such areas shall be 

kept free of litter, trash, salvage material, junk and weeds or other obnoxious 

vegetation growths in excess of twelve (12) inches in height.  Individual 

manufactured home occupants shall be responsible for the extermination of any 

rodent or insect infestations occurring within the individual manufactured home. 

 

43. Manufacturing, processing, fabrication and assembling of any commodity except junk or salvage. 

 

44. Membership clubs, including private clubs as defined by K.S.A. 41-2601 et seq, and subsequent 

amendments. 

 

45. Mortuaries and attendant accessory activities and facilities. 

 

46. Motor vehicle sales, service, and repair. 

 

47. Multi-family dwellings, including two-family dwellings, townhouses, garden apartments, 

condominiums; provided, consistent with single-family residential developments, the provision of 

adequate public water and sewer service, along with other public infrastructure, is necessary in order 

for development of said dwellings to be permitted.   

 

48. Offices and office buildings. 

 

49. Parks and playgrounds. 

 

50. Printing, publishing, and engraving firms, including newspaper publishing; provided said operations 

are principally retail businesses. 

 

51. Quarrying, mining, and removal of sand, gravel, stone, coal or topsoil and the processing of the 

same, including asphalt and concrete plants, provided: 

 

A. All quarries and mining operations and asphalt and concrete plants shall be screened by a 

method approved by the Governing Body when the same are visible from any public road. 

 

B. The applicant shall provide an approvable method for dust abatement on all unpaved interior 

roads if any part of the operation is located within 1/4 mile of any residential dwelling. 

 

 



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-10 

C. Where applicable, a maintenance agreement between the applicant and the County and/or 

Township having jurisdiction shall be required to maintain the roads that provide the 

ingress/egress to the operation. 

 

D. All areas quarried or mined shall not endanger the lateral support of abutting or adjoining 

properties.  A minimum setback of 100 horizontal feet from all property lines, measured on 

the surface, must be maintained free of any quarrying or mining activity, either surface or 

subsurface.  The setback areas may be used for the erection of berms or other screening 

features required by the Conditional Use Permit.  For quarrying operations, no more that 

forty (40) acres may be open at any given time. 

 

E. A plan for reclamation of the site shall be prepared and submitted as a part of the 

application.  The plan shall indicate a timetable for the reclamation to the proposed use of 

the site and a general plan of the proposed use.  The reclamation plan submitted shall be 

binding only to the extent that said plan shows the intent of the applicant for reclamation. 

The actual reclamation plan may be amended at such time that the applicant is ready to begin 

such reclamation; however, the amended plan must be approved by the Governing Body 

before reclamation work may begin. Said approval of a revised reclamation plan shall 

require a public hearing under the same procedure as the original Conditional Use Permit.   

 

F. A bond in the amount necessary to reclaim all lands opened at any given time shall be placed 

in effect and submitted to the Governing Body prior to the operation of all quarries, mining 

or removal of sand, gravel, coal or topsoil authorized by the Conditional Use Permit. 

 

G. No building, equipment, quarry products or other materials shall be erected or stored within 

100 feet of any property or right-of-way line. 

 

H. A copy of the annual survey of mining operations, as required to be filed by State law with 

the State, shall also be filed with the Governing Body.  Said annual survey applies only to 

underground mining activities, not to open pit mines or quarries. 

 

52. Radio or television broadcasting towers and/or stations, microwave transmitting and/or receiving 

towers and/or stations, commercial telecommunication towers, or any tower or other similar structure 

50 feet or more in height; whether publicly or privately owned, provided: 

 

A. The location of every tower must be such that it is at least an equal distance from all 

property lines as it is in height.   

 

B. Every commercial telecommunication tower shall be designed to provide co-location with a 

minimum of forty-eight (48) antennas and their attendant cables. 

 

C. No new commercial telecommunication tower location shall be approved unless the 

applicant shows there is not sufficient or usable space on existing or approved towers in the 

same service area.  Such verification shall be in the form of written correspondence from the 

owner of such towers or structures of their unavailability.  At a minimum, the service area 

for every tower shall be three (3) miles from the tower location. 

 

 

 



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-11 

D. All lighting necessary to comply with the FAA lighting requirements shall consist of dual     

lighting structures with daytime strobe lights on medium intensity and nighttime red lights    

only.  No high intensity strobes or nighttime strobes shall be permitted.  Further, all 

towers requiring lighting shall provide battery backup or other alternative power source to 

assure lighting operations during times of power outages. 

 

E. Any communication tower that is unused for a period of twelve (12) months or more shall be 

declared abandoned and shall be notified of the necessity of removing the tower and 

appurtenances and reclaiming the lands as provided herein. 

 

F. A plan for reclamation of the site shall be prepared and submitted as a part of the 

application.  The plan shall indicate a timetable for the reclamation of the proposed use of 

the site upon the removal of the tower.  The applicant shall also provide financial security if 

a form acceptable to the County to assure the reclamation of the property shall occur in 

conformance with the reclamation plan. Financial security provided to the landowner is 

sufficient, provided it names the County as well. 

 

53. Recreational or sports-related activity or facility, whether publicly or privately owned. 

 

54. Recreational vehicle park or campground, subject to the following minimum design requirements: 

 
A. The tract to be used as a recreational vehicle campground shall not be less than two (2) acres 

in area.  Under no circumstances shall a mobile home or a manufactured home be parked in 

a recreational vehicle campground. 

 

B. The number and location of access drives shall be controlled for traffic safety and protection 

of surrounding properties, provided that no individual space shall be designed for direct 

access to a street outside the boundaries of the recreational vehicle campground.  All interior 

access drives shall be at least 20 feet in width.  All interior access drives and parking areas 

shall be paved with concrete or asphalt paving. 

 

C. The minimum area for a space for parking one recreational vehicle shall be 1,400 square 

feet, with minimum dimensions of 35 feet by 40 feet and with corners of each site visibly 

marked by a permanent marker. 

 

D. The recreational vehicle campground shall contain community facilities, including play 

space, parking and access roads.  In addition, every recreational vehicle campground shall 

contain at least one (1) service building and shall provide one (1) additional service building 

for each 100 spaces.  Each service building shall: 

 

(1) Be located within three hundred (300) feet of the recreational vehicle campground. 

 

(2) Be of permanent construction. 

 

(3) Have one (1) flush-type toilet, one (1) lavatory, and one (1) separate bathing for 

females; and one (1) flush-type toilet; one (1) lavatory, and one (1) bathing facility 

for males for each thirty (30) spaces.  All lavatories and bathing facilities shall be 

connected with both hot and cold running water. 

 



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-12 

(4) Have an accessible, adequate, safe, and potable supply of cold water. 

 

(5) Comply with all applicable adopted building codes, if any, regarding the 

construction of buildings and the installation of electrical, plumbing, heating and air-

conditioning systems; and, 

 

(6) Be maintained in a clean, sanitary condition and kept free of any condition that will 

menace the health of any occupants of the public or will constitute a menace.     

 

E. The recreational vehicle campground shall be surrounded by an open space 50 feet wide 

along the street frontage with an arterial highway or section line road, and 25 feet wide along 

all other lot lines or street frontages.  Screening at least six (6) feet in height shall be 

provided between the recreational vehicle campground and any adjoining residential area. 

 

F. No recreational vehicle shall be parked closer than 25 feet to any part of any other trailer or 

service building and no part of a recreational vehicle shall extend closer than 5 feet to the 

boundaries of the individual space. 

 

G. Off-street parking spaces for motor vehicles shall be provided in the ratio of one parking 

space per individual space; said spaces to be located in convenient location to individual 

spaces. 

 

H. In a residential district, accessory signs, in addition to internal directional signs, shall be 

limited to one flat or detached sign, with sign area limited to 25 square feet.  Said sign may 

be illuminated. 

 

I. Proper provision shall be made for public water supply, sanitary sewage disposal, fire 

protection, refuse collection, laundry, toilet, and bathing facilities.  All shall be indicated on 

a site plan of the proposed recreational vehicle campground and shall be installed and/or 

constructed in accordance with all other state and/or local laws and regulations.  A sewage 

dump station shall be provided within every recreational vehicle campground. 

 

J. The proposed recreational vehicle campground shall comply with all provisions of this and 

other federal, state and/or local laws and regulations. 

 

55. Restaurants. 

 

56. Riding academies, stables and/or show arenas, indoor or outdoor rodeo arenas and/or facilities. 

 

57. Sanitary landfills, hazardous waste disposal facilities, construction/demolition landfills, industrial 

landfills, or other such similar areas not prohibited by law. 

 

58. Schools, preschools, or kindergartens, either publicly or privately owned or operated. 

 

58a. Solar Energy System (Limited scale commercial) 

 

59. Truck stops and/or truck terminals. 

 

60. Warehousing, wholesaling and storage of any commodity except junk or salvage. 



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-13 

 

61. Zoos, commercial aquariums, or aviaries. 

 

62. Any other use not specifically listed as a permitted and/or accessory use in any district in these 

Regulations, or as a prohibited use. 

 

15-106 Continuance of a Conditional Use:  A Conditional Use Permit shall be allowed to continue, unless 

specified otherwise as a condition of its original authorization, as long as all conditions placed on it are met.  

However, if that particular use ceases to exist for a period of one (1) year, it will forfeit its Development Plan 

and will not be allowed to exist again unless a new application is made, a public hearing held, and a new 

Development approved in conformance with the requirements of these Regulations.  The County may initiate 

an action to remove the Conditional Use but must follow the same procedures as followed to establish the 

Conditional Use originally. 

 

15-107 Accessory Uses:  Buildings and structures may be erected, and land may be used for purposes which 

are clearly incidental to, and customarily and commonly associated with the main permitted use of the 

premises.  Such accessory buildings and uses shall be so constructed, maintained, and conducted as to not 

produce noise, vibration, concussion, dust, dirt, fly ash, odor, noxious gases, heat or glare which is injurious, 

damaging, unhealthful or disturbing to adjacent property or the users thereof, and shall be on the premises of 

the main use. 

 

15-108 Eligibility for Accessory Use:  The determination of the eligibility of a proposed use as an 

accessory use shall be made by the Zoning Administrator. 

 

15-109 Accessory Uses Allowed:  Accessory uses shall be allowed; provided, said accessory uses shall be 

limited to those specified herein for the various zoning classifications: 

 

1. In the "AG” Agricultural District, the following, or similar accessory uses are allowed: 

 

A. Open or enclosed storage of farm materials, products or equipment; but not junk. 

 

B. Any farm buildings, including, but not limited to, barns, stables, sheds, toolrooms, shops, 

bins, tanks and silos. 

 

C. The use of a manufactured home as an accessory dwelling on land used for agricultural 

purposes when used by persons employed thereon, including their families.  At no time shall 

a manufactured home or the land upon which it sits be intended and/or used as a rental unit 

in the "AG” District. 

 

D. Fuel storage, tanks and dispensing equipment for fuels used solely for a farming operation.  

No retail sales of such fuels shall be allowed as an accessory use. 

 

E. Wholesale or retail sales of agricultural products grown or raised on the premises or by the 

farm operator. 

 

F. A hobby activity operated by the occupant of the premises purely for personal enjoyment, 

amusement, or recreation. 

 

G. Home occupations. 



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-14 

 

H. Home schooling of the children of the occupants of the residence in accordance with 

standards established by the State of Kansas. 

 

I. Accessory buildings and uses commonly associated with residential activity including, but    

not limited to, the following: 

 

 Private garages 

 Guest houses 

 Small storage sheds 

 Satellite dish antennas 

 Accessory off-street parking and loading spaces 

 

J. Small wind energy conversion systems.   

 

K. Storage buildings, including those originally designed or intended for use as a transportation 

vehicle or shipping structure. 

 

L. Roof-mounted and ground-mounted private solar energy system subject to the following 

regulations: 

 

1. Setbacks as required in Article 13.  Setbacks shall be measured from the nearest 

horizontal point of a solar panel to the property line. 

 

2. The maximum height shall be 20 feet. 

 

3. Agricultural uses are exempt from the zoning regulations upon an approved zoning 

permit and agricultural exemption permit.  No fees shall be charged for the permit 

applications. 

 

4. Roof-mounted solar energy systems are exempt from the permitting requirements. 

 

 

2. In District “R-1” Rural Residential, "R-2" Suburban Residential, "R-3" Single-Family Residential, 

and "V-1" Village Districts, the following accessory uses are allowed: 

 

A. Accessory buildings and uses commonly associated with residential activity, including, but 

not limited to, the following: 

 

Accessory off-street parking and loading spaces 

Fences or walls 

Flag poles 

Gates or guard houses for subdivisions 

Guest houses 

Parabolic and satellite dish-type antennas 

Play equipment 

Private garages and carports 

   Small storage sheds 

Solar collectors 



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-15 

Swimming pools 

Television and radio receiving antennas less than 50 feet in height 

 

No accessory building or use shall occupy a required front yard (except basketball goals, flag 

poles and fences as permitted.)  A maximum square footage allotment of accessory building 

square footage shall be established for parcels.  Accessory buildings, or combinations 

thereof, which exceed the square footage allotment found under Article 17-104(3) are 

permitted only with a Special Exception. 

 

B. A hobby activity may be operated as an accessory use by the occupant of the premises 

purely for personal enjoyment, amusement, or recreation. 

 

C. In the "R-1" Suburban Residential District, agricultural activities may be conducted as 

accessory activities, such as growing of crops, pasturage of animals, growing of hay, or other 

similar activities.  However, at no time shall such activity be classified or permitted as the 

primary usage of the land; said usage being as a residential home site in either of the zoning 

districts. 

 

 

D.  Home occupations such as, but not limited to, the following: 

 

 Accountant 

 Architect 

 Artist 

 Attorney 

 Author or writer 

 Chiropractor 

 Clergyman 

 Cosmetologist 

 Counselor 

 Dentist 

 Engineer 

Family Day Care Home  

Home crafts 

 Insurance Agent 

 Osteopath 

 Photographer 

 Physician 

 Planner 

 Real Estate Agent 

 Seamstress/Dressmaker 

 Secretary/Typist 

 

Teaching or instruction provided not more than 3 students are taught at any one time 

and not more than 12 students per day 

 

The following conditions and restrictions shall apply to such customary home occupations: 

 

(1) That the home occupation shall be carried on wholly within a main building or 



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-16 

structure, or within a permitted accessory building or structure, provided that the 

primary use of the main building or structure is clearly the dwelling used by the 

person as his or her private residence. 

 

(2) That no person other than members of the household living on the premises and one 

(1) outside person shall be employed. 

 

(3) That only one non-illuminated ground or wall sign not more than 4 square feet in 

area is used to advertise the home occupation. 

 

(4) That no display or storage of equipment or materials outside of a building or 

structure shall be permitted. 

 

(5) That no equipment or machine is used in such activities that is perceptible off the 

premises by reason of noise, smoke, dust, odor, heat, glare, radiation, electrical 

interference, or vibration. 

 

(6)    That off-street parking and loading shall be provided and that no generation of          

substantial volumes of vehicular or pedestrian traffic or parking demand shall be 

permitted. 

 

E. Home schooling of the children of the occupants of the residence in accordance with 

standards established by the State of Kansas. 

 

F. Small wind energy conversion systems.   
 

G. Storage buildings originally designed or intended for use as a transportation vehicle or 

shipping structure shall be permitted on “R-1” Rural Residential District and the “R-2” 

Suburban Residential District.  Storage buildings shall be subject to all setback requirements 

of the district and shall be limited to placement of one (1) structure originally designed or 

intended as a transportation vehicle or shipping structure only. See Article 15-111(5) for 

additional restrictions. 

 

 

H. Roof-mounted and ground-mounted private solar energy system subject to the following 

regulations: 

 

1 Setbacks as required in Article 13.  Setbacks shall be measured from the nearest 

horizontal point of a solar panel to the property line. 

 

2. The maximum height shall be 20 feet. 

 

3. Agricultural uses are exempt from the zoning regulations upon an approved zoning 

permit and agricultural exemption permit.  No fees shall be charged for the permit 

applications. 

 

4. Roof-mounted solar energy systems are exempt from the permitting requirements. 

 

 



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-17 

15-110 Specialty Accessory Uses:  The following uses, activities, or items shall be the accessory uses or 

restrictions allowable:       

 

1. Construction Sites:  Construction and hauling trailers may be used as a temporary construction 

office on the site of a construction project, provided such construction or hauling trailer is removed 

upon completion of the project.   

 

2. Recreational Vehicles and Trailers: 

 

A. At no time shall a permanently or temporarily parked or stored recreational vehicle or item 

of recreational equipment be occupied or used for living, sleeping, or housekeeping 

purposes, except in a recreational vehicle park, or as a permitted temporary dwelling on a lot 

on which a valid Zoning Permit is issued for construction of a dwelling on said lot.  

 

B. The provisions of these Regulations regarding recreational vehicles do not apply to those 

businesses displaying recreational vehicles or recreational equipment for sale or service 

when said business is properly located. 

 

15-111 Prohibited Uses:  After the effective date of these Regulations: 

 

1. No mobile home or “Noncompliant Manufactured Home, as defined in these Regulations, shall be 

moved, relocated, or otherwise placed on any property in the unincorporated portion of Reno 

County, including within any Manufactured Home Park or Manufactured Home Subdivision.  

 

2. No manufactured home or mobile home shall be used for any purpose other than as a residential 

dwelling as permitted within these Regulations.  At no time shall a manufactured home or mobile 

home be converted to a storage unit, office or any other such use, except when used as a permitted 

accessory use in this Article.  At no time shall a manufactured home or mobile home be converted to 

an agricultural building for use as storage of agricultural products or equipment or shelter for 

animals.   

 

3. No mobile home or manufactured home originally built to be a single-wide unit shall be attached or 

connected to any other mobile home or manufactured home, or to any other structure or building.      

                                                                                                                                                            

This shall not prohibit reasonable, aesthetically designed stoops, porches, decks, carports, or the like 

from being built adjacent to an approved manufactured home.   

 

4. No property shall be used as junkyard, sanitary landfill, construction/demolition landfill, industrial    

landfill, hazardous or toxic waste storage facility, or other similar use or activity, including as an       

accessory use to another principal use, unless such use or activity has been approved by the issuance 

of a Conditional Use Permit as provided within these Regulations.   

 

5. No structure constructed or intended for use as a shipping container, whether as originally as a 

transportation vehicle or as a separate structure, shall be used as a storage container on property in 

the “R-2” Single-Family Residential District, “R-3” Lake Lot Residential District, or the "V-1" 

Village District.  All other such placements where allowed shall be in conformance with the 

restrictions within these Regulations.   

 

6. No application for a Conditional Use Permit shall be considered and no Conditional Use Permit shall 



ARTICLE 15     SUPPLEMENTARY USE REGULATIONS; CONDITIONAL USES; ACCESSORY USES; PROHIBITED 
USES 

 

 

Reno County Zoning Regulations (April, 2016 Edition) 
 

15-18 

be issued for any person on any property which proposes as the only use the placement of an 

advertising sign or billboard.  Further, an advertising sign or billboard permitted as an accessory 

structure in an approved Conditional Use Permit shall not be built, used or remain in use unless the 

principal use and/or structure on the property is first built and/or currently used.  Upon the cessation 

of the principal use and/or structure on the property, the advertising sign or billboard shall lose its 

standing as an accessory structure and must be removed.  At no time shall an advertising sign or 

billboard first established under these regulations gain standing as a non-conforming use since the 

placement and continued use of such advertising sign or billboard is accessory to another principal 

structure or use. 

 

7. No application for a Conditional Use Permit shall be considered and no Conditional Use Permit shall 

be issued for any commercial wind energy conversion system on any property that falls within the 

jurisdictional boundary referenced in Article 1-103 of the Reno County Zoning Regulations and per 

Reno County Resolutions 2016-09 and 2020-10. 

 

No application for a Rezone to the CWECS Zoning District shall be considered and no Rezone shall 

be approved to the CWECS Zoning District for any commercial wind energy conversion system on 

any property that falls within the jurisdictional boundary referenced in Article 1-103 of the Reno 

County Zoning Regulations and per Reno County Resolutions 2016-09 and 2020-10. 

 

 A commercial wind energy conversion system is defined at Article 23-103(1) of the Reno County 

Zoning Regulations. 

 

8. No application for a Conditional Use Permit shall be considered and no Conditional Use Permit shall 

be issued for any commercial solar energy system on any property that falls within the jurisdictional 

boundary referenced in Article 1-103 of the Reno County Zoning Regulations and per Reno County 

Resolutions 2016-09 and 2020-10. 

 

 A commercial solar energy system is defined at Article 25-103(5) of the Reno County Zoning 

Regulations. 
 
 

 



~ 1 ~ 
 

 
 

Comments 
Residential and Commercial Solar Energy Systems Text Amendments 

Case #2024-10 
 
 
RENO COUNTY DEPARTMENTS 
None 
 
CITIES AND TOWNSHIPS 
None 
 
 
WRITTEN PUBLIC COMMENTS 
 
Cynthia Dierks, 907 E. 36th Avenue, Hutchinson, KS  67502 

I am writing to you today in opposition to a ban on commercial solar farms in the zoned area of Reno County. 

This ban negatively impacts ALL taxpayers in the county. 

Instead, I would like to see responsible, effective, and fair commercial solar farm regulations, based on facts, be 
adopted. 

Facts matter. Commercial solar farms make good neighbors. 

Property rights matter. Farmers and landowners should be able to use their land to produce, without 
unwarranted governmental interference. 

Commercial solar farms can make a big economic impact. We need economic development and property tax 
relief in Reno County. 

Bans are not the answer. Good regulations are. Proposed solar farm neighbors will still have a voice in the 
Conditional Use Permit process for ANY proposed commercial solar farms. 

I support solar energy. I recently added solar panels to the roof of my residence. It’s the future of clean energy. 

Thank you for your time and consideration. 

******************************************************************************************* 

Donald (Keith) Richardson, 602 Rustic Road, Hutchinson, KS  67502 

I must confess that I'm at a loss to understand why Reno County wouldn't jump at the chance to embrace the 
obvious benefits of solar power. It's clean energy, it's renewable, sunlight doesn't pollute (we'll never have to 
deal with a disastrous sunlight spill), and it could mean millions to Reno County and her land owners. To place a 



~ 2 ~ 
 

ban on solar power (whether in zoned areas or not) is to ignore and/or deny sound applied science, long-
recognized and honored property rights and importantly, economic common sense.  
 
I'm pushing 70 so I'm on the downhill slope, but I worry what sort of planet I'll leave behind for the young kids 
out there today. Our Earth is getting warmer—there's no doubt about that—and we know why, and we know 
the consequences are grim. That's why a ban on renewable energy is such an astounding denial of reality. Our 
children and their children and children's children deserve better.  
 
Any industry can be regulated for the benefit of all concerned and solar or wind power are no exceptions. Wise 
regulations and oversight are the answers here, not an outright ban.   
 
Thanks in advance for your consideration and valuable time.  
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
Pamela Stroberg, 1200 W. 43rd Avenue, Hutchinson, KS  67502 
 
I am writing to you today in opposition to a ban on commercial solar farms in the zoned area of Reno County. 
Commercial solar farms would make a significant positive economic county-wide impact. In contrast, this ban 

would negatively impact All taxpayers in the county. 

Instead, I would like to see the adoption of responsible, effective, and fair commercial solar farm regulations, 

based on facts. 

Throughout the centuries, we humans have demonstrated that we can expand and evolve. We can explore, 

create and grow with our changing environment. Currently, to ensure our very survival, we are looking at ways 

to nurture the earth instead of exploiting it. Solar energy is one of those ways. 

No one wants our children to inherit an ever-warming world, with more limited natural resources, and a greater 

demand for electricity. We must add significant amounts of renewable energy now, while fossil fuels are still 

cheap and abundant. To help ensure our children’s future, we must do everything we can to prevent a Solar 

energy ban.  

Bans are not the answer. Good regulations are. Proposed solar farm neighbors will still have a voice in the 

Conditional Use Permit process for ANY proposed commercial solar farms. 

 Thank you for your time and consideration. 

******************************************************************************************* 
Pam Brown, no address provided, Buhler, KS  67522 
 
Speaking as a tax paying resident of Reno County, I oppose any ban on commercial solar farms in the zoned area 
of Reno County. 
 
Any ban will negatively impact ALL taxpayers in the county since commercial solar farms can have a large 
economic impact. 
 
Instead I am in favor of responsible, effective, and fair commercial solar farm regulations, based on facts.  There 
are many good reasons, to mention a few: 
 
1-  Commercial solar farms make good neighbors, I’d have no problem with it. 
2- Commercial solar will help reduce the CO2 emissions that are causing increasing numbers of climate 
catastrophes.   Our property insurance premiums are becoming unaffordable. 
3- Commercial solar needs to be an option for farmers and landowners.  a ban would constitute unwarranted 
governmental interference. 



~ 3 ~ 
 

 
Currently, our rural electric cooperative is charging four times its regular price for electricity consumed between 
the hours of 3 to 6 pm, an optimal time for solar generation.  Given the opportunity, they could easily generate 
more electricity instead of charging a premium for it during the time of meal preparation! 
 
For our children’s sake, let’s start thinking much more about the future!  Thank you for your time and 
consideration. 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
Ronald & Marsha Fenwick, no address provided. 
 
Please support the responsible effective, and fair commercial commercial solar farm regulations, instead of an 
indiscriminate ban. Ronald W Fenwick and Marsha L Fenwick 
 
******************************************************************************************* 

COMMENTS RECEIVED AFTER PACKETS WERE MAILED ON 7-11-24 
 
 

Casey Swartz, 207 Buckskin Road, Hutchinson, KS  67502 
 
Mark, I'm writing to you today in opposition to a ban on commercial solar farms in the zoned area of Reno 
County. I would like this included in the official County Record for the upcoming hearing on 7-29-2024 
 
Specifically, I’m addressing an unfounded claim made at the at 11-9-2023 Planning Hearing: 
 
Summary of unfounded Claim 1: Solar panels contain toxic materials that will harm our water 
 
Actual quote: “You’ve heard a lot of the risk of the solar panels when they, um, break, the leaching of all of the 
toxic chemicals that are in there that can harm our soil and water, especially in the Cheney Lake area, but not 
only in the Cheney Lake area, but any of our soil and water systems here in Reno County.” 
 
Actual Facts: 
Modern solar panels do not contain harmful levels of the toxic materials that often get discussed at public 
hearings concerning solar development. 
 
It is true that modern silicon solar panels, used in around 97% of solar farms being built today, have on average 
around 14 grams of lead in each one of them, in the solder connecting the cells together. It is also true that thin-
film panels, which make up about 3% of the solar farm market, have cadmium-telluride in them. Not cadmium, 
but cadmium-telluride. There is a huge difference. 
 
These metals, which are not water soluble, are locked in. Solar panels are put together kind of like the safety 
glass in your car’s windshield, with layers of tempered glass and flexible plastic laminated together under heat 
and pressure. In the event of large hail, the laminated glass absorbs the impact and the plastic holds the panel 
together. 
 
There is ample empirical evidence to show that solar farms present an incredibly low risk to the land. Lower than 
agriculture. MUCH lower than fossil fuels. Since 2005 we’ve built thousands of solar farms across the US. If 
water pollution, panel toxicity, panel fragility and other accusations were an issue on solar farms, we’d have 
empirical evidence of it by now. But we don’t. Scores of studies show the exact opposite. 
 
Resources: 
Toxic Solar Panels in Cheney Lake Watershed 
LINK: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=X1-lwxAVliI&t=5s 



~ 4 ~ 
 

 
A Reality Check About Solar Panel Waste and the Effects on Human Health 
LINK: https://insideclimatenews.org/news/12102023/inside-clean-energy-reality-check-solar-panel-waste/ 
 
Health and safety impacts of solar photovoltaics may 2017 
LINK: https://nccleantech.ncsu.edu/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/Health-and-Safety-Impacts-of-Solar-
Photovoltaics-2017_white-paper.pdf 
 
Unfounded concerns about solar panel toxicity are slowing decarbonization 
LINK: https://drive.google.com/file/d/1XtmCVBCtb4nuJlqBYndpwd2l2c7jGtyz/view 
 
Thank you for your time and consideration. 
 
Regards,  -Casey Swarts 207 Buckskin Rd Hutchinson, KS 67502  FactualSolar.com 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
Sherry Cooper, 919 E. 3rd Avenue, Hutchinson, KS  67501 
 
Sirs, 
 
I write in opposition to the proposed ban on commercial solar farms in the zoned areas of Reno county. 
 
We need energy diversity, many sources used together. Solar energy is a cost effective, low risk option in the 
effort to create long-term energy independence.  
 
We have an opportunity to move into a better future for the residents of Reno county, and I oppose a 
government imposed ban on the use of that technology.  
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
Mary Wade, 103 W. 18th Avenue, Hutchinson, KS  67502 (received via email from Commissioner Friesen) 
 
I am opposed to the proposed ban on commercial solar farms... 
 
Property rights matter. Farmers and landowners need additional options. They should be able to use their land 
without unwarranted governmental interference.  
 
Commercial solar farms can make a big economic impact. This ban negatively impact ALL taxpayers in the 
county. 
 
 Our children are going to inherit an ever warming world, with more limited natural resources, and a greater 
demand for electricity.  
 
Bans are not the answer. Good regulations are. I'd like, to see what else this commission can come up with 
instead of a ban. Do a little more work and try to find a solution that does not take away land owners rights to 
their own property.  I thought less government regulations were what you were all about. 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
 
 



~ 5 ~ 
 

Brian E. Davis, P.O. Box 2500, 11 South Main, Hutchinson, KS  67504-2500 (received via email from 
Commissioner Friesen) 
 
I am writing to you today in opposition to a ban on commercial solar farms in the zoned area of Reno County. 
 
Commercial solar farms can make a big economic impact. This ban negatively impact ALL taxpayers in the 
county. Instead I would like to see responsible, effective, and fair commercial solar farm regulations, based on 
facts, be adopted. 
Facts matter. Commercial solar farms make good neighbors. 
 
Building additional generation, while reducing CO2 emissions, matters. Our children are going to inherit an ever 
warming world, with more limited natural resources, and a greater demand for electricity. We must add 
significant amounts of renewable energy now, while fossil fuels are still cheap and abundant. 
 
Property rights matter. Farmers and landowners need additional options. They should be able to use their land 
to produce, without unwarranted governmental interference. Bans are not the answer. Good regulations are. 
Proposed solar farm neighbors will still have a voice in the Conditional Use Permit process for ANY proposed 
commercial solar farms. 
 
An optional paragraph about how you feel about solar energy, in your own words. 
 
Thank you for your time and consideration. 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
Ron & Marsha Fenwick, 413 W. 6th Avenue, Buhler, KS  67522 (received via email from Commissioner Friesen) 
 
 
We are writing to you today in opposition to a ban on commercial solar farms in the zoned areas of Reno 
County. 
 
There is no scientific, factual information out there that says solar farms cause contamination or health issues of 
the land, water, or air. It is a safer source of energy than the issues that oil wells could/can cause to our fields, 
water aquifers, and air we breathe.  
 
We thought elected Republican officials were in favor of individual land rights, but by voting against all 
commercial solar farms, you are voting against what you stand for. Do not interfere by creating a “one size fits 
all" government! Landowners should be able to make up their own minds to use their land to be good, future-
thinking neighbors to all. Property rights matter big time! 
 
It is time Reno County took a step into the future and lead the way to a cleaner, better source of energy by 
allowing commercial solar farms! Look to the future of our children, grandchildren, and future generations and 
take a stand against what is now happening to the Earth God gave us to live on.  
 
Bans are not the answer. Good regulations are.  Do what is right and and best for our world and vote against this 
ban.  
******************************************************************************************* 
 
Jeanne Ritter, 1308 E. 26th Avenue, Hutchinson, KS  67502 
 
I am writing in opposition to a ban on commercial solar farms in the zoned area of Reno County. 
Rather than a  ban I would like to see adopted responsible, effective, and fair commercial solar farm regulations 
which are based on facts. 



~ 6 ~ 
 

Thank you 
******************************************************************************************* 
Casey Swartz, 207 Buckskin Road, Hutchinson, KS  67502 
 
Mark, I'm writing to you today in opposition to a ban on commercial solar farms in the zoned area of Reno 
County. I would like this included in the official County Record for the upcoming hearing on 7-29-2024. 
 
Specifically, I’m addressing a claim that Commissioner Ron Hirst has repeatedly made: 
 
Summary of Claim 2: Rural voices count more than urban voices in the solar regulation process 
Actual Hirst quote 7-16-2024: “We have heard from people in the zoned area. Those folks seemed to come from 
the city and not from the area that's involved in this. And so we've heard from the people involved in this, and 
so I would have a tendency to follow the people that are actually in the area that solar is.” 
 
NOTE: Commissioner Hirst has made accusations similar to this in 3 previous Commission meetings as well. 
 
Facts/Thoughts: First of all, public input is supposed to be one factor in the planning and zoning process; facts, 
evidence and compatibility with the Comprehensive County Plan are also factors. The real question for planners 
in the regulation process is whether the use in question is a proper and appropriate use of the land. It shouldn’t 
be a popularity contest. 
 
Secondly, the public input asking for bans in 2023, from the official record, consisted of: 
3 Reno County households asked to ban commercial solar countywide; 10 Reno County households asked to ban 
commercial solar in the Cheney Lake Watershed; and a 361 signature petition to ban commercial solar in the 
Cheney Lake Watershed was presented. There are over 25,000 households in Reno County. 
 
Third, regulations are not the same as an identified project in a CUP process. We do not have a location or 
identified neighbors in the regulation phase. Solar farms could be placed anywhere. ALL RESIDENTS should have 
an equal voice at this point in the regulation process. Once a project is identified and in CUP, then obviously, 
neighbor’s voices should carry more weight. 
 
In Conclusion: There is a war raging against renewable energy. As in any war, the first casualty is truth. Anti-
solar hate and disinformation are rampant, with good well-meaning people unknowingly repeating falsehoods, 
doing their best to short circuit solar energy projects, based on a foundation of lies, such as fragile, short-lived 
and toxic solar panels. 
 
Commercial solar is being banned indiscriminately across Kansas. It should not be banned in Reno County. It 
should be regulated. My fear is the Kansas legislature will eventually take away regulation from Counties in 
order to bypass local roadblocks, thus depriving Reno County of the ability to fairly regulate what’s in our own 
backyard. 
 

Thank you for your time and consideration.   
 
Regards, -Casey Swarts 207 Buckskin Rd Hutchinson, KS 67502 FactualSolar.com 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
Dorn Moore, no address provided, received via email from Commissioner Whitesel through Don Brittain 
 
I agree with your discussion and  concensus of prohibiting commercial scale solar in the whole county. Thank 
you.  Dorn Moore 
 
******************************************************************************************* 



~ 7 ~ 
 

Mary and Mark Treaster, no address provided, received via email from Commissioner Whitesel through Don 
Brittain 
 
I cannot attend the public meetings on solar farms and county-wide zoning so I wanted to share my thoughts 
with you in an email.  
  
County-wide zoning- Mark and I have lived in rural Reno County for 40 years on the farm Mark’s family 
homesteaded in 1872. We are totally against county-wide zoning. We understand the pros and cons of county-
wide zoning and feel that the pros far outweigh the cons.  
  
Commercial solar- The discussion on commercial solar seems to be hitting rural residents twice. First, the county 
commission slowed the development of a small-scale solar project developed by Ark Valley Electric. Rural 
electric customers such as us were disadvantaged when the year-long solar moratorium was in effect. Solar 
projects such as the Ark Valley project are able to shave the cost of purchasing power at peak times, resulting in 
lower electric bills for Ark Valley customers. However, that option was held from us for over a year, resulting in 
higher than necessary electric costs.  
Second, as we all know, the price of farmland has increased dramatically but farm income has not seen a 
comparable increase. Landowners such as us are in a difficult position where we own valuable land but do not 
see a big return on our investment. Allowing commercial solar projects in Reno County would increase the tax 
base, increase rural income which would result in an increase in sales tax, and would encourage local 
landowners to keep their farmland in the family rather than sell to out-of-state buyers. It is a difficult decision to 
sell a family farm but when the investment doesn’t provide an adequate income sometimes that is the only 
option. A commercial solar project is compatible with many types of farming so a solar project doesn’t reduce 
the available ag land but it does increase the income of the landowner and brings in additional tax dollars. 
Thank you,  
Mary and Mark Treaster 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
Casey Swartz, 207 Buckskin Road, Hutchinson, KS  67502 
 
I'm writing to you today in opposition to a ban on commercial solar farms in the zoned area of Reno County. I 
would like this included in the official County Record for the upcoming hearing on 7-29-2024. 
 
Specifically, I’m addressing commercial solar farm regulations and the adoption of preference for Low Impact 
Solar Farm Design into regulations. I feel this is a much more positive, protective, and proactive path than an 
indiscriminate ban on commercial solar. 
 
Overview of Low Impact Solar Farm Design: 
Commercial solar farms have been around for nearly 20 years. It is becoming clear that when it comes to solar 
farm design, it pays to leave a light footprint on the land. It reduces cost for the operator, improves community 
acceptance, and lowers environmental risks. 
 
Regulations can and should include preference for developers who commit to Low Impact Solar Farm Design. 
This can be stated up-front in the regulations and the CUP could require evidence on how the developer is going 
to adhere to these principles. 
 
Currently Douglas County is requiring evidence of many of these principles in the CUP process with the 
developer of the Kansas Sky Energy Project. 
 
In Kansas, with relatively flat open agricultural ground readily available, all of these principles should be a 
possibility. These principles include: 

• Allow for wildlife connectivity 
• Avoid areas of high native biodiversity and high quality natural communities 



~ 8 ~ 
 

• Centralize inverters and use high string voltages for lower perceived noise levels 
• Encourage the use of native vegetation, crops (Agrivoltaics), grazing, and provide wildlife habitat where 

possible 
• Encourage the use of leased land for commercial solar farms 
• Minimize infrastructure 
• Minimize soil compaction 
• Minimize soil disruption 
• Preferentially use already disturbed or degraded lands 
• Protect water quality and do not cause erosion 
• Utilize bi-facial solar panels when applicable 
• Utilize single axis trackers 

In Conclusion: 
In my opinion, Reno County should be regulating, not banning commercial solar. Low Impact Solar Farm Design 
should be an important component of solar farm regulations. To learn more on this subject I have built a 
resource page at https://www.factualsolar.com/regulation/low-impact-solar-farm-design which explains each 
core element in more detail, and has links to many quality source materials on the subject. 
 
Thank you for your time and consideration. 
Regards, -Casey Swarts 207 Buckskin Rd Hutchinson, KS 67502 FactualSolar.com 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
Jan Beltz, no address provided 
 
To: Planning Commissioner Members 
  
I am writing to you all regarding the possibility of commercial solar energy systems in Reno County.  I could 
quote all kinds of facts and figures on why these commercial systems should be banned in our county, especially 
in the Cheney Lake watershed areas, but we all know that someone else could quote just as many facts 
supporting the systems.  Funny how those numbers can be manipulated like that.  Here is what cannot be 
manipulated – the way I, and many others, feel about living in Reno County.  I am so proud and thankful that I 
have gotten to grow up here (my family has resided here for generations), raise my family here, and see my 
grandchildren get to grow up here.  It really is “a little slice of Heaven.” 
This is my objection to commercial solar systems – they honestly scare me, both the solar panels themselves and 
the storage batteries with them.  The potential they both have for possible ground and water contamination for 
years to come and the uncontrollable fires they could cause are very concerning.  I honestly don’t know how any 
well-informed individual living here could not be concerned!  I realize there are a number of people who have 
already signed on to have their land included in this project, many of whom do not live in this area that would be 
affected.  I can’t help but think that most of these individuals are simply seeing dollar signs, regardless of the 
long-term effects.  I want this area to be beautiful and safe for our future generations just as it has been for all 
of us.  
At the very least, please see that an independent, third-party study is conducted, ideally a long-term study, 
before making a final decision. 
 
Thank you for your time and for looking out for the best for our county. 
  
Jan Beltz 
Reno County resident 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
 
 



~ 9 ~ 
 

Bill & Leta Royer, 12100 S. Mayfield Road, Haven, KS  67543 
 
Wanted to let you know that we agree with the text amendments to the April 2016 edition of the Reno county 
zoning regulations. We feel a great need to protect our land and also our water supply in Reno county. We also 
own land in the Newton area. We hope and pray that our boards and commissioners in Reno county will follow 
the lead of Harvey county in protecting the rights of it's citizens and the environment. 
 
Bill and Leta Royer  
12100 S Mayfield Rd  
Haven KS 67543 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
Casey Swartz, 207 Buckskin Road, Hutchinson, KS  67502 
 
Mark, I'm writing to you today in opposition to a ban on commercial solar farms in the zoned area of Reno 
County. I would like this included in the official County Record for the upcoming hearing on 7-29-2024. 
 
Specifically, I’m addressing a claim that has been repeatedly made about loss of agricultural land. 
 
Summary of Claim: We need our agricultural land for protein production and can’t afford to lose it to solar 
farms. 
 
Facts/Thoughts: The number one threat to agricultural lands in the United States is low density suburban 
sprawl. Once agricultural land is converted to hobby farms and large-lot subdivisions, it will never be used for 
agriculture again. Ever. 
 
Let's look at actual percentages of agricultural land used by solar, CRP (Conservation Resource Program) 
enrollment, and ethanol production, to see how they compare. 
 
51.5 million acres of land were devoted to crops for making biofuels, mostly ethanol, in 2023. For 2023 the 
current total of acres involved in CRP enrollments amounts to 24.8 million acres. 
 
If we made 100% of our electricity from solar energy (which would never happen, but for comparison's sake) it 
would require 13.6 million acres. That is close to the amount (12 million acres) of federal land offered for lease 
to the oil and gas industry in 2017 alone. In fact fossil fuels use far more land currently than solar farms ever 
could. 
 
Transitioning to renewable energy doesn’t have to use more land than our current fossil fuel-based energy 
system. Replacing corn ethanol could free up millions of acres. 
 
Our food supply will not be in danger if commercial solar farms were to supply a large percentage of our energy 
needs. We have more than enough land for agriculture and energy. 
 
In the end, a Solar Farm is Still a Farm. Solar farms preserve agricultural land for future generations. 
 
At any time, a Reno County farmer can stop farming his/her ground for any reason. You can not force a farmer 
to farm. Latest available figures show Reno County has about 63,000 acres lying fallow in the Federal 
Conservation Resource Program (CRP) program. Reno County has about 789,525 acres total in farms. A 1,000 
acre solar farm would represent .127% of current Reno County farm acreage. 
 
In Conclusion: Commercial solar is being banned indiscriminately across Kansas. It should not be banned in Reno 
County. It should be regulated. If commissioners are truly fearful of losing protein production, perhaps a 



~ 10 ~ 
 

compromise might be to include a total amount of acreage commercial solar could occupy within Reno County, 
in commercial solar regulations. 
 
Thank you for your time and consideration. 
 
Regards, -Casey Swarts 207 Buckskin Rd Hutchinson, KS 67502 FactualSolar.com 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
Monica Ptacek, 1002 Bramble Bush, Hutchinson, KS  67502 
 
Members of the planning commission and county Commissioners, 
 
I am writing to encourage you to allow renewable energy sources in Reno County, particularly commercial solar 
energy. Taxes in Reno County are high and everyone would like to ease the burden for local taxpayers. Having 
commercial solar farms would bring a great deal of tax revenue to Reno County. Farmers would have a new 
source of possible income, the environment would benefit from renewable sources of energy instead of the 
heavy load of CO2 emissions produced by fossil fuels currently being the primary source of energy. We as a 
country need to be as energy independent as possible for the long term. Fossil fuels are still playing a vital role in 
energy independence, but we need a long term solution for generations to come and solar energy is an 
important part of that solution. 
I urge you to adopt a policy allowing commercial solar energy in all of Reno County.  
 
******************************************************************************************* 
Casey Swartz, 207 Buckskin Road, Hutchinson, KS  67502 
 
I'm writing to you today in opposition to a ban on commercial solar farms in the zoned area of Reno County. I 
would like this included in the official County Record for the upcoming hearing on 7-29-2024. 
 
Specifically, I’m addressing a claim that has been repeatedly made about commercial solar farms shipping 
electricity out of the area, and especially to data centers. 
 
Example: Let other states provide their own electricity, and their own land for their own electricity. -County 
Commissioner, 11-22-2023 Reno Commission Mtg 
 
Facts/Thoughts: Some County Commissioners complain that commercial solar farms will ship the electricity out 
of our area, and out of state. They use that as a reason to ban commercial solar and paint solar developers in a 
negative light. 
 
So, how important is it that electricity produced in our County stays local for our use? Let's start by asking a few 
questions. Do we require that farmers sell their grain locally? Do we require oil producers to sell their oil locally? 
How about cattle producers, do we require them to sell their beef locally? NO, NO, and NO. 
 
Historically exporting has been a key to wealth and growth for the area doing the exporting. Value is produced in 
our area, and the product is shipped to those who are willing to pay for it, with a big economic benefit for the 
region doing the exporting. 
 
Another issue is keeping our electricity and not being a part of the bigger grid. Electricity flows both ways on the 
grid. It can flow out of State, but electricity can flow into our State and County when we need it as well. The 
more connected our grid is, the more resilient our energy supply. When we all cooperate, we all benefit. 
 
A final accusation is that the energy gets sent out of state, to large data centers instead of being used locally. 
While it's true that data centers are a major purchaser of renewable energy, it is also true that we use that 



~ 11 ~ 
 

power locally by using data center services. With every Google search, with every YouTube video watched, or 
Facebook post made, we are consuming renewable energy, locally, from those data centers. 
 
In Conclusion: Commercial solar is being banned indiscriminately across Kansas. It should not be banned in Reno 
County. It should be regulated. Just because a commercial solar farm may not supply energy locally doesn’t 
mean that commercial solar should be banned. The electric grid transports energy to and from Reno County. We 
are all in this together. When we all cooperate, we all benefit. 
 
Thank you for your time and consideration! 
Regards, -Casey Swarts 207 Buckskin Rd Hutchinson, KS 67502 FactualSolar.com 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
Ron Sellers, 3400 Thunderbird, Hutchinson, KS  67502 – received via email from Don Brittain, Director of 
Public Works 
 
7-24-2024 
 
County Planning Commission 
 
Subject: Written testimony against a commercial solar ban 
As I will be out of town on July 29th when you conduct your public hearing, I am writing to you to voice my 
concerns related to a commercial solar ban.   
 
I reside in the city of Hutchinson but have ownership of rural Reno County farmland.   
 Please put me down as being against a prohibition of commercial solar in the zoned area of Reno County. 
 
Property rights are important, and a fundamental pillar upon which our society is based. 
 
Properly regulated, solar energy projects are not harmful to the environment, or to neighbors.  I cannot support 
the elimination of property rights when no actual harm can be shown.   
 
We should not zone or legislate based on political views only. Facts must be considered. Property rights must be 
allowed to grow our community.  
 
To do otherwise sets a precedence that has the potential to negatively impact other industries and individuals 
looking to make Reno County their home.  The County must grow.  We cannot oppose every new technological 
idea, or we cannot expect to gain population or tax base.    
 
Again, please register my written testimony against a prohibition of commercial solar in the zoned area of Reno 
County, for the hearing on July 29th. 
 
Thank you. 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
Doug Ptacek, 1002 Bramble Bush, Hutchinson, KS  67502 
 
I would like to take this opportunity to request Reno County think about not banning commercial solar farms in 
zoned areas of our county.   I believe that solar is the future of our country.  Continued reliance only on fossil 
fuels will continue to affect climate change, negatively affect the future for our children and grandchildren.  
 Solar will provide an inexhaustible fuel  supply that is safe and reliable to use as well as reducing CO2 



~ 12 ~ 
 

emissions.   Right now we have fossil fuels but we need to look toward the future; for our county, city and the 
citizens who reside here.  
As well as providing abundant energy by banning commercial solar farms we are taking potential income options 
away from farmers and landowners.  They should be able to use their land for legal means without 
governmental interference. 
Instead of a ban I would like to see responsible, effective, and fair commercial solar farm regulations. 
 
Thank you for your time and consideration. 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
James Schlickau, no address provided 
 
https://www.farmprogress.com/management/how-an-indiana-county-got-ahead-of-solar-game 
 
The URL attached is quite helpful. Please take a few minutes to review the content.  
Please provide my comments to all Planning and Zoning Board Members.  
 
I am submitting my perspective as a property owner and agricultural producer in the southeast portion of Reno 
County. Leases are being pursued for a commercial scale solar project near Cheney Reservoir and in the Cheney 
Lake Watershed District. I am opposed to this development and will provide logical reasons it should be 
prohibited.  
 
I feel it is vital to protect the water within the reservoir by proactively restricting development of the drainage 
area that flows into it. The greater Wichita area receives nearly 70% of its water from the reservoir, and is 
already restricting water use to residents due to low water levels.  I can not speak for the residents in the 
unzoned portions of Reno County. They have chosen to remain unzoned and therefore unprotected from 
unwanted development. I am asking for your consideration to prohibit commercial scale solar within the Cheney 
Lake Watershed District in the Zoned portion of Reno County.  
 
The water resource is too important for a black swan event - something unforeseen and unexpected - to 
potentially risk contamination. Additionally, I feel the area is better suited and aligned with the Comprehensive 
Plan for other types of development. It is a growth area for residential development due to proximity for wildlife 
and recreation opportunities.  
 
I mentioned that I am an agricultural producer, diversified in both growing crops for production and a cow/calf 
operation. Our family has been stewards of our resources for five generations, and homesteaded to our Haven 
location in 1872. Our property near the proposed solar development site is native grass and has never been 
developed. While hand digging post holes to construct cross fencing for rotational grazing to improve grass 
quality, several holes filled with water before I was finished. That's less than three feet. That location is two 
miles from the north shore of the lake. My point is that the water table is near the surface, and contaminates 
could easily make their way into the reservoir.  
 
I think it is critical to restrict where development may and may not occur within Reno County. I strongly 
recommend prohibiting commercial scale solar generation within the Cheney Lake Watershed District in the 
Zoned areas of Reno County.  
 
Thank you for your consideration and your service.  
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
 
 



~ 13 ~ 
 

Jean Conkling, 21806 S. Broadacres Road, Pretty Prairie, KS  67570 
 
Dear Members of the Reno County Planning Commission -  
  
RE:  Amendments being discussed at the Public Hearing on July 29, 2024 –  
  
First of all, thank you for all the time, thought, and energy that you have already put into this process regarding 
Solar Energy regulations as well as your continuing efforts to provide protections for Reno County residents and 
for our county's water resources.  
  
Regarding text amendments Article 15-105(58a) and 15-109 (2) (A)   
Theses seem to be clearly stated  
  
Regarding text amendments 15-109 (1) (L)  and 15-109 (2) (H)  
  
(1)  It would be helpful to more specifically clarify how the maximum height of 20 feet would be defined  or how 
it would specifically be measured  (since originally no ground mounts were allowed)  as well as adding setbacks 
from property lines.  
  
(2)  Also, it would help to clarify / define / give examples of what specific Ag “uses” are being exempted.  
  
Regarding Article 15-111 (8)   
-  
It is definitely of extreme importance to ensure the protection of the valuable water source of the Cheney 
Reservoir by prohibiting the construction of commercial solar energy systems in the entirety of the watershed 
area in the zoned areas of Reno County.   
  
I would like to make an additional request as well for -  
an “overlay zoning” of the commercial solar energy regulations in the entirety of the unzoned areas of Reno 
County, regulations included which should be written to specifically ensure the protection of the watershed 
areas also in these currently unzoned areas. 
  
Thanks again for all your diligent work on making these regulations strong enough to hold companies  (as well as 
individuals) accountable & responsible for making their solar renewable energy facilities safe for all Reno County 
citizens and for our environment. 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
Gary & Sandra Coleman, 8314 S. Pleasant Valley Road, Haven, KS  67543 
 
Good Morning Mark, 
 
Regarding the upcoming July 29th public hearing, we oppose a commercial  solar energy systems in zoned areas 
of Reno County. 
Much is rushing through without thoughtful consideration of all consequences. I  wonder how, for example,  
turbines could be placed in the ocean without accounting for the salt water rusting out the steel.. 
 
Best Regards, 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
 
 
 



~ 14 ~ 
 

Dorothy Barnett, Executive Director of the Climate & Energy Project, P.O. Box 1858, Hutchinson, KS  67504 
Dear Reno County Commissioners,  
 
I'm unable to join you in person on 7/29 due to a pre-scheduled eye surgery, but I wanted to share my concerns 
with a utility scale solar ban. 
 
As a Reno County resident and the executive director of the Climate + Energy Project, a 17 year old nonprofit 
who has worked on state renewable energy policy, I oppose a utility scale solar ban. 
 
As I've listened to your concerns with solar, much of the discussion has been based on misinformation. I'm 
attaching a solar myths document with citations for you to consider.  I'm also attaching a Burns & McDonald 
report that provides an overview of zinc concerns that I've heard raised by opponents. The key takeaway is that 
there are little to no concerns of galvanized steel posts from solar arrays contaminating soil or water. 
 
I know there has been concern about broken solar panels contaminating groundwater or soil, I'd encourage you 
to read through this story about a large Texas project that was recently in the news.  Modern solar panels are 
designed to withstand large hail and if broken, can be easily replaced. 
 
As a supporter of clean energy, I encourage you to make decisions about a solar ban based on facts and not 
misinformation. I also encourage you to think about the economic benefits Reno County will be losing out on if 
you say no to solar. 
 
According to an Economic Impact report by the University of Kansas for a proposed solar project in Douglas and 
Johnson Counties, which I have attached, Total economic impact associated with a 300 MW solar project over 30 
years would generate a present value of: $200 million in value added and $111 million in labor income at the 
state level plus $150 million in value added and $72 million in labor income for Dougas and Johnson County. 
 
There are many needs in Reno County that could be met with this kind of increased revenue. Please say YES to 
utility scale solar. 
 
Regards, 
Dorothy 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
Casey Swartz, 207 Buckskin Road, Hutchinson, KS  67502 
 
I'm writing to you today in opposition to a ban on commercial solar farms in the zoned area of Reno County. I 
would like this included in the official County Record for the upcoming hearing on 7-29-2024. 
 
Specifically, I’m addressing a claim that has been repeatedly made about commercial solar farms lowering 
property values for neighbors. 
 
Example: “Lastly, how much will this actually decrease land values in the area. Although I am not a fan of 
increased housing development on Ag land, I would guess this will put a stop to it in southeast Reno County.”    -
Stated at 11-9-2023 Reno Planning Hearing 
 
Facts/Thoughts: 
There have been many studies done on this and overwhelmingly the answer is NO, property values will not go 
down long term, not by a long-shot. Some studies have found values can go down a few percentage points right 
after solar farm construction, but once everyone gets used to the solar farm and realize it actually makes a really 
good neighbor, values rebound to what they were before. Other studies show no decline at all. 
 



~ 15 ~ 
 

And, for agricultural properties that host solar farms, the additional income from the solar lease may actually 
increase the value and marketability of those properties. Agricultural land values could also increase area-wide 
when commercial solar farms are allowed, as landowners in general would have potential to increase their 
revenue. 
 
In Conclusion: 
Commercial solar farm bans are not the answer. Solar farms make good neighbors. They don’t reduce land 
values. They are quiet, require little maintenance, and invite little traffic. People who are greatly irritated with 
renewable energy will not like being next to a solar farm. It is psychological in nature, and a fact of life. You just 
can’t make everyone happy. But to say that homes won’t be built in proximity to solar farms seems a little far-
fetched given the fact that a solar farm is such a benign entity. 
 
As solar farms become more and more common they will fade into the background, just like most other 
infrastructure in the countryside. Instead of indiscriminate bans, we in Reno County need responsible, effective, 
and fair commercial solar farm regulations 
 
Resources: 
Market Impact Analysis Koshkonong Solar Farm Dane County, WI: 
https://apps.psc.wi.gov/ERF/ERFview/viewdoc.aspx?docid=409444 
 
Property Values and Utility-Scale Solar Facilities: 
https://cleanpower.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/Solar-and-Property-Values-Fact-Sheet.pdf 
 
 
Thank you for your time and consideration. 
Regards, -Casey Swarts 207 Buckskin Rd Hutchinson, KS 67502 FactualSolar.com 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
Rev. Robert Schmutz, 14601 S. Yoder Road, Haven, KS  67543 
 
To The Members of the Reno County Planning Commission: 
 
This letter is being written in order to address the issues and Amendments being discussed at the Public Hearing 
on July 29, 2024. 
 
Thank you for your time and effort serving on the Reno County Planning Commission.  I know you do so because 
you care about Reno County and the people who call it home.  Thank you also for all of the time and attention 
you have given to the process of considering Solar Energy regulations in Reno County, and for your efforts to 
provide protections not only for Reno County residents, but also for Reno County's water resources.  And, I’d 
also like to say thank you for taking the time to read my letter. 
 
First of all, as a rural Reno County resident who lives within the Cheney Reservoir Watershed and the Cheney 
Lake Water Quality Area (14601 South Yoder Road, Haven, KS, 67543), I am not in favor of any kind of large scale 
commercial and/or utility scale solar project in rural Reno County, and most definitely within the bounds of the 
Cheney Reservoir Watershed.  There is just way too much that could go wrong with the introduction of a large 
commercial or utility scale solar project within these bounds. 
 
As you read this letter please forgive me if I have misunderstood any of the text amendments I have read and 
refer to, or if I appear to be bringing up things that are in your eyes obvious.  I assure you, for most of us, as we 
read documents like these, they can be both very confusing and frustrating to try to understand.  And, in the day 
and age we live in, please know that there is unfortunately little trust in both corporate America, and many of 
the institutions and representative agencies of Government. 
 



~ 16 ~ 
 

With that being said, in regards to text amendments 15-109 (1) (L) and 15-109 (2) (HI), can you give specific 
examples of, or provide clarification on “Ag uses” that would be exempted? 
 
Also, as I look at Article 15-111 (8), and as I referred to above, I believe it is extremely important Reno County 
residents ensure the protection of both Cheney Reservoir and the Cheney Watershed area.  Therefore, I would 
like to see a blanket prohibition on the development and/or construction of any large commercial or utility scale 
solar project in the Cheney watershed area regardless of wether it is in a zoned or un-zoned part of Reno 
County. 
 
Please know that I do plan on attending the public hearing on Monday, 7/29/24 at 5:30pm, at the Reno County 
Public Works Facility, and that I will likely have more questions for you there.  
 
Thank you again for taking the time to read my letter, and thank you very much for the work you do. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Rev. Robert E. Schmutz 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
Casey Swartz, 207 Buckskin Road, Hutchinson, KS  67502 
 
I'm writing to you today in opposition to a ban on commercial solar farms in the zoned area of Reno County. I 
would like this included in the official County Record for the upcoming hearing on 7-29-2024. Specifically, I’m 
addressing property rights. 
 
Property rights matter. 
Kansans want their property rights to be upheld — If a farmer is causing no harm to their neighbors, who are we 
to deny them their right to use their property the way they see fit? 
 
In the context of a citizen having the right to influence the property use of their neighbor, historically, neighbors 
have had a handful of situations that could trigger a valid claim: Noise, odor, visual appearance, traffic, and 
burdening the community with social costs. 
 
When it comes to commercial solar farms, the only one of these five key contentious items that appears 
relevant is visual appearance, while the last one actually presents itself as an asset, moving from a cost to a 
benefit. 
 
Many typical uses of farmland can be more troublesome to neighboring lands, making clean, quiet, and 
economically valuable solar farms appear to many as a best-case land use scenario. 
 
For example, chicken farms, hog farms and feedlots bring measurable and concerning environmental hazards 
like storm water runoff issues, foul odors, noises and environmental impacts. Traditional farming may also bring 
tilling, burning, and the use of herbicides and fertilizers that bring their own environmental impacts and public 
health concerns. But in the end, the property rights of these farmers are protected and we allow them to 
incorporate these uses of their land, if they choose. 
 
Right to farm laws were enacted in the early 80s to protect farmers from nuisance lawsuits by neighbors, who 
increasingly were new low density suburban sprawl construction, not involved in agriculture. 
 
Kansas Right to Farm Law upholds that farmers have the right to engage in agricultural activities on their land, 
thereby influencing zoning policies in rural areas. Landowners may find that local zoning regulations are 



~ 17 ~ 
 

supportive of farming practices, even when neighboring properties transition to non-agricultural uses. With this 
legal backing, farmland is protected from ordinances that could otherwise restrict agricultural uses. 
 
Solar farms don't currently fall under traditional agricultural activities protected by these laws. But that may 
change in the future. As NIMBY continues to thwart renewable energy projects, and tread on property rights, 
changes may come in State Laws, including the ability of the State to override local decisions, and new additions 
to right-to-farm laws. 
 
In Conclusion: 
Freedom and Property Rights are inseparable. Instead of indiscriminate bans, we in Reno County need 
responsible, effective, and fair commercial solar farm regulations 
 
Thank you for your time and consideration. 
 
Regards, -Casey Swarts 207 Buckskin Rd Hutchinson, KS 67502 FactualSolar.com 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
James Taylor, 52 Eastwood Drive, Hutchinson, KS  67502 
 
Mark, 
I am writing this letter in support of commercial solar in Reno County. 
 
One complaint that I hear politicians from both parties talk about is that the voters want lower property taxes.  
This can be accomplished in one of two ways: cutting services or finding an additional source of revenue. Many 
would favor cutting services but no matter what you cut, it will have a negative impact on many people. 
Commercial solar, if built, would provide a significant increase in tax revenue that could be used to cut property 
taxes. 
 
Some people will complain no matter what new enterprise comes into the County. If you were to tell these 
people that this will enable you to cut property taxes, many would change their position. An added bonus is that 
after the solar facility is operating, the cost of that electricity would stay the same for at least 25 years which 
should reduce the need for increased electric rates. 
 
We know that there will be an increasing demand for clean energy. I would like to see Reno County help meet 
this need. Your vote to approve commercial solar would be greatly appreciated.  
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
Nancy Lestishen, 41 Meadowlark Lane, Hutchinson, KS  67502 
 
Dear Mr. Vonachen, 
 
I am writing to you today in opposition to a ban on commercial solar farms in the zoned area of 
Reno County. 
 
Commercial solar farms can make a big economic impact. This ban negatively impacts ALL 
taxpayers in the county. 
 
Instead I would like to see responsible, effective, and fair commercial solar farm regulations, 
based on facts, be adopted. 
 
Facts matter. Commercial solar farms make good neighbors. 



~ 18 ~ 
 

 
Building additional generation, while reducing CO2 emissions, matters. Our children are going 
to inherit an ever-warming world, with more limited natural resources, and a greater demand for 
electricity. We must add significant amounts of renewable energy now, while fossil fuels are still 
cheap and abundant. 
 
Property rights matter. Farmers and landowners need additional options. They should be able 
to use their land to produce, without unwarranted governmental interference. 
 
Bans are not the answer. Good regulations are. Proposed solar farm neighbors will still have a 
voice in the Conditional Use Permit process for ANY proposed commercial solar farms. 
 
Thank you for your time and consideration. 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
Dorn Moore, no address provided 
 
I agree with your discussion and  concensus of prohibiting commercial scale solar in the whole county. Thank 
you. Dorn Moore 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
Wade Spencer, 17005 S. Haven Road, no city provided 
 
Mr. Vonachen, 
 
My name is Wade Spencer and I live at 17005 S. Haven Road. I am against Commercial Solar farms for so many 
different reasons.  
 

1. It takes over 4000 consecutive Acres for a Commercial Solar field; this is over 6.25 square miles. 
2. You will lose animal habitat and hunting 
3. They will disrupt all the ground they are on. 
4. With heavy rains the erosion will go downward to the lake  
5. The efficiency of a Commercial field are between 15-25% 
6. The batteries are Lithium Ion, and they are not stable. If they catch on fire, there isn’t a lot you can do to 

put them out other than dump tens of thousands of gallons of water on them. Chemicals will end up in 
the lake or ground water then the magnitude of contamination could be catastrophic. Most of these 
batteries are not even allowed on airplanes.  

7. There are some studies being done in colleges on the affects of solar fields and batteries which we 
should look at very hard. 

8. I do not mind the roof mounted or the ground mounted units, they don’t take up precious farm ground 
and animal habitat. 

9. None of this power will stay in Kansas. 
10. 7 of the 10 ground owners live outside of Kansas so 75% of all the monies will be going out of state.  

 
Best Regards, 
******************************************************************************************* 
Norman Diggs, 4602 E. Arlington Rd., Haven, KS  67543 
 
As a concerned resident of Reno County, please know I strongly oppose the building and operation of 
Commercial Solar Energy Systems in our Reno County. 
 



~ 19 ~ 
 

I'm writing to support the Amendments to the earlier purposed Zoning Regulations for Commercial Solar Energy 
Systems in Reno County.  
Specifically, those referenced below, and as stated on www.renogov.org 
 
As stated herein: 
Create Articles 15-105(58a),  
Which clarifies that a Solar Energy System (Limited scale commercial) requires a conditional use permit. 
 
Amend Article 15-109(1)(L) 
Which establishes zoning regulations for a private solar energy system in the AG - Agricultural District. 
 
Amend Article 15-109(2)(A) 
To eliminate the term "Solar Collectors" from the zoning regulations. 
 
Create Article 15-109 (2)(H) Which establishes zoning regulations for a private solar energy system in the R-1 
Rural Residential District, 2R Suburban Residential District, R - 3 Single Family Residential District, and V-1, 
Village District. 
 
Create Article 15-111(8)  
which Prohibits a commercial solar energy system as defined at Article 25 - 103(5) within the jurisdictional 
boundaries referenced in Article 1-, 103 of Reno County Zoning Regulations and defined by Reno County 
Resolution 2016-09 and 2020-10. 
 
Please remember to put Saftey First. If and when technology is sound, has a long proven track record of 
safety, reliability, and efficiency, future amendments can be made. 
 
******************************************************************************************* 
Charlene Schlickau, no address provided 
 
I am providing my input regarding the upcoming Planning and Zoning public hearing with reference to Reno 
County Solar Regulations.  Our family has property in the southeast portion of Reno County where leases are 
being pursued.  We are Ag producers, raising crops for production and cattle ranching, for five generations.  We 
attended the last public hearing on this topic,  spoke, and identified ourselves as ag producers. The Chairman at 
the subsequent meeting stated that "they had not heard from ag producers." That was not a true statement.  
 
I am opposed to Commercial Scale solar projects in Reno County,  specifically within the Cheney Lake Watershed 
District around the reservoir in the zoned portion of the county. Language needs to be included in the 
regulations prohibiting Commercial Solar and Conditional Use Permits should not be considered or issued.  
 
Thank you for your service and consideration.  
 
Charlene Schlickau  
 
******************************************************************************************* 
 
Jean Conkling, 21806, S. Broadacres Road, Pretty Prairie, KS  67570 
 
Dear Members of the Reno County Planning Commission -  
  
RE:  Amendments being discussed at the Public Hearing on July 29, 2024 – as well as continuation of future 
regulations considerations. 
  



~ 20 ~ 
 

First of all, thank you again for all the time, thought, and energy that you have already put into this process 
regarding Solar Energy regulations as well as your continuing efforts to provide protections for Reno County 
residents and for our county's environmental resources. 
  
In an earlier email I made comments specifically addressing the amendments for the July 29, 2024 public 
hearing, but over the weekend, research brought to light additional info about commercial utility-scale solar 
energy projects.  
  
I have attached a couple of additional resources that provide information about the impact that solar facilities 
can potentially have on the environment and how responsible placement and construction & management 
considerations can help mitigate those impacts.   
Each article has further research-based links to support their context.  
  
I encourage you to continue your research with these sites as well as with other sites that may be passed along 
to you by Reno County citizens. 
  
Again, thank you for all your diligent work & research into this process of renewable energy considerations as 
you continue to develop strong regulations..  
 
Mark, 
 
One additional site that the Planning Commission may has already been provided with regarding water issues 
earlier includes the following...  
 
The hard truth of building clean solar farms 
 
https://www.popsci.com/environment/solar-farm-construction-epa-water-violations/ 
 
with the accompanying release by the EPA 
 
https://www.epa.gov/newsreleases/epa-announces-settlements-resolve-clean-water-act-violations-four-solar-
farm 
 
Mark, 
 
Once again, please forward this email on to the Reno County Planning Commission before the Monday, July 29, 
2024 public hearing to be included as part of my comments for this hearing.   
 
This info is most likely being sent in late enough that it may not be able to be reviewed by the Planning 
Commission members before tonight's meeting, but I would like the Planning Commission to have these 
attachments included as info along with all the other comments presented personally at tonight's meeting for 
their review regarding development of solar regulations in Reno County.  
 
The info presented in these links help support the prohibition of commercial solar in the zoned areas of Reno 
County as well as providing thoughts for strong regulations for use in an overlay of solar development in the 
unzoned areas of Reno County.  
 
Thank you in advance for timely forwarding this email to them. 
 
Jean Conkling 
 
******************************************************************************************* 























































































































 1

RESOLUTION 2024- 

 

A RESOLUTION REVISING AND UPDATING THE APRIL 2016 

 EDITION OF THE RENO COUNTY ZONING REGULATIONS BY 

 AMENDING ARTICLE 15-109(2)(A) AND CREATING ARTICLE 15-105(58a), 

ARTICLE 15-109(1)(L), AND ARTICLE 15-109(2)(H), AND INCORPORATING BY 

REFERENCE NEW REGULATIONS 

 

     WHEREAS, K.S.A. 12-757 authorizes the Board of County Commissioners to provide 

for the adoption or amendment of zoning regulations, and; 

 

      WHEREAS, pursuant to K.S.A. 12-757 the Reno County Planning Commission has 

recommended to the Board of County Commissioners that the Zoning Regulations of Reno 

County, 2016 Edition as amended be amended further, and; 

 

     WHEREAS, all public notice and public hearing requirements have been satisfied and all 

other statutory requirements prerequisite to the adoption of an amendment to the Zoning 

Regulations have been met, and; 

 

     WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has determined that it is in the best 

interest of Reno County to create Article 15-109(1)(L) and Article 15-109(2)(H) pertaining to 

private solar energy systems, create Article 15-105(58a) by adding the term limited scale 

commercial solar energy system, and remove the term “solar collectors” from Article 15-

109(2)(A) of the Zoning Regulations and to adopt and incorporate by reference said amended 

regulations based upon the recommendation of the Planning Commission. 

 

WHEREAS, upon conclusion of the Board’s deliberations, Commissioner ____________ 

moved to approve the Planning Commission’s recommendation to amend Article 15-109(2)(A) 

and create Article 15-105(58a), Article 15-109(1)(L), and Article 15-109(2)(H) of the Reno 

County Zoning Regulations and to adopt and incorporate by reference the text amendments 

pertaining thereto found in the Reno County Planner’s oral report on September 25, 2024.  

Commissioner ___________ seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a ___________ 

vote. 

 

     NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS, that: 

 

1. The April, 2016 Edition of the Reno County Zoning Regulations, as reflected on the official 

zoning district boundary map, and the proposed amendments thereto at Article 15-

109(2)(A), Article 15-105(58a), Article 15-109(1)(L), and Article 15-109(2)(H),  are hereby 

adopted, and the same are incorporated herein by reference. 

 

2. At least one copy of the Reno County Zoning Regulations shall be filed with the County 

Clerk marked "Official Copy” as Incorporated by Resolution No. 2024-_____ and to which 

there shall be attached a published copy of this Resolution, said copies to be open for 

inspection and available to the public at all reasonable hours. 



 2

3. Any provision of this Resolution which shall be declared invalid shall not affect the validity 

and authority of any other sections. 

 

4. All applications duly submitted prior to the effective date of this Resolution, with 

appropriate payment of all fees, and in the process of being considered by Reno County 

officials under the provisions of the Reno County Zoning Regulations in effect prior to the 

effective date of this resolution, shall be considered and acted upon under the provisions of 

prior editions of said Zoning Regulations.  Similarly, all orders issued by the District Court 

of Reno County, Kansas, enforcing provisions of the Reno County Zoning Regulations in 

effect prior to the effective date of this Resolution, which said orders remain within the 

continuing jurisdiction of the Court, shall be considered and acted upon under the provisions 

of said previous Reno County Zoning Regulations. 

 

5. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its publication once in the 

official county newspaper. 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED in regular session this 25th day of September 2024. 

 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Randy Parks – Chairman 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Don Bogner – Member 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Ron Hirst – Member 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Daniel Friesen – Member 

 

 

__________________________________ 

John Whitesel - Member 

 

Attest: 

 

________________________ 

Donna Patton – County Clerk 



 1

RESOLUTION 2024- 

 

A RESOLUTION REVISING AND UPDATING THE APRIL 2016 

 EDITION OF THE RENO COUNTY ZONING REGULATIONS BY 

 CREATING ARTICLE 15-111(8), AND INCORPORATING BY REFERENCE NEW 

REGULATIONS 

 

     WHEREAS, K.S.A. 12-757 authorizes the Board of County Commissioners to provide 

for the adoption or amendment of zoning regulations, and; 

 

      WHEREAS, pursuant to K.S.A. 12-757 the Reno County Planning Commission has 

recommended to the Board of County Commissioners that the Zoning Regulations of Reno 

County, 2016 Edition as amended, be amended further, and; 

 

     WHEREAS, all public notice and public hearing requirements have been satisfied and all 

other statutory requirements prerequisite to the adoption of an amendment to the Zoning 

Regulations have been met, and; 

 

     WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has determined that it is in the best 

interest of Reno County to create Article 15-111(8) pertaining to commercial solar energy 

systems of the Zoning Regulations and to adopt and incorporate by reference said amended 

regulations based upon the written public record and the discussions of the Board of County 

Commissioners and not the recommendation of the Planning Commission. 

 

WHEREAS, upon conclusion of the Board’s deliberations, Commissioner ____________ 

moved to reverse the Planning Commission’s recommendation to deny the creation of Article 

15-111(8) of the Reno County Zoning Regulations and to adopt and incorporate by reference the 

text amendment pertaining thereto found in the Reno County Planner’s oral report on September 

25, 2024.  Commissioner ___________ seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a 

___________ vote. 

 

     NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS, that: 

 

1. The April, 2016 Edition of the Reno County Zoning Regulations, as reflected on the official 

zoning district boundary map, and the proposed amendment thereto at Article 15-111(8) is 

hereby adopted, and the same is incorporated herein by reference. 

 

2. At least one copy of the Reno County Zoning Regulations shall be filed with the County 

Clerk marked "Official Copy” as Incorporated by Resolution No. 2024-_____ and to which 

there shall be attached a published copy of this Resolution, said copies to be open for 

inspection and available to the public at all reasonable hours. 

 

3. Any provision of this Resolution which shall be declared invalid shall not affect the validity 

and authority of any other sections. 

 



 2

4. All applications duly submitted prior to the effective date of this Resolution, with 

appropriate payment of all fees, and in the process of being considered by Reno County 

officials under the provisions of the Reno County Zoning Regulations in effect prior to the 

effective date of this resolution, shall be considered and acted upon under the provisions of 

prior editions of said Zoning Regulations.  Similarly, all orders issued by the District Court 

of Reno County, Kansas, enforcing provisions of the Reno County Zoning Regulations in 

effect prior to the effective date of this Resolution, which said orders remain within the 

continuing jurisdiction of the Court, shall be considered and acted upon under the provisions 

of said previous Reno County Zoning Regulations. 

 

5. This Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its publication once in the 

official county newspaper. 

 

APPROVED AND ADOPTED in regular session this 25th day of September 2024. 

 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Randy Parks – Chairman 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Don Bogner – Member 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Ron Hirst – Member 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Daniel Friesen – Member 

 

 

__________________________________ 

John Whitesel - Member 

 

Attest: 

 

________________________ 

Donna Patton – County Clerk 



 1

RESOLUTION 2024- 

 

A RESOLUTION PERTAINING TO AN APPLICATION BY THE RENO COUNTY 

PLANNNG COMMISSION TO UPDATE THE APRIL 2016 

 EDITION OF THE RENO COUNTY ZONING REGULATIONS BY 

 CREATING ARTICLE 15-111(8), AND INCORPORATING BY REFERENCE NEW 

REGULATIONS 

 

     WHEREAS, K.S.A. 12-757 authorizes the Board of County Commissioners to provide 

for the adoption or amendment of zoning regulations, and; 

 

      WHEREAS, pursuant to K.S.A. 12-757 the Reno County Planning Commission has 

recommended to the Board of County Commissioners that the Zoning Regulations of Reno 

County, 2016 Edition as amended not be amended further, and; 

 

     WHEREAS, all public notice and public hearing requirements have been satisfied and all 

other statutory requirements prerequisite to the adoption of an amendment to the Zoning 

Regulations have been met, and; 

 

     WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners has determined that it is not in the best 

interest of Reno County to create Article 15-111(8) pertaining to commercial solar energy 

systems of the Zoning Regulations and to not adopt and incorporate by reference said amended 

regulations based upon the recommendation of the Planning Commission. 

 

WHEREAS, upon conclusion of the Board’s deliberations, Commissioner ____________ 

moved to approve the Planning Commission’s recommendation to deny the creation of Article 

15-111(8) of the Reno County Zoning Regulations based on the written record of the Planning 

Commission public hearing and the Reno County Planner’s oral report on September 25, 2024.  

Commissioner ___________ seconded the motion.  The motion was approved by a ___________ 

vote. 

 

     NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS, that: 

 

1. The April, 2016 Edition of the Reno County Zoning Regulations, as reflected on the official 

zoning district boundary map, and the proposed amendment thereto at Article 15-111(8) is 

hereby not adopted. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 2

APPROVED AND ADOPTED in regular session this 25th day of September 2024. 

 

 

BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Randy Parks – Chairman 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Don Bogner – Member 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Ron Hirst – Member 

 

 

__________________________________ 

Daniel Friesen – Member 

 

 

__________________________________ 

John Whitesel - Member 

 

Attest: 

 

________________________ 

Donna Patton – County Clerk 



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #7.F

AGENDA DATE: October 9, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Patrick Hoffman, County Counselor

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Resolution Establishing the Use of Consent Agenda for the County Commission of Reno County
Kansas

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:

The commission uses a ‘consent agenda’ to increase efficiency of meetings. However, the County has
never formally adopted a written policy on how it utilizes the consent agenda.

This Resolution creates a written procedure for how and when the consent agenda shall be used in
Commission meetings.

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Adopt Presented Resolution
2. Send Resolution back to staff for revisions
3. Decline to adopt the Resolution

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Adopt Proposed Resolution Defining Consent Agenda



 

RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING THE USE OF  

CONSENT AGENDA 

 FOR THE COUNTY COMMISSION OF RENO COUNTY KANSAS 

WHEREAS, the Board of County Commissioners of Reno County, Kansas, meets regularly in 

open session so that the business of the County may be transacted in the most expeditious and 

transparent manner; and  

WHEREAS, to increase the efficiency of meetings while providing for transparency many 

organizations utilize a ‘consent agenda’ to approve business which is considered by the board to be 

routine, non-controversial, and unanimously approved; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF COUNTY 

COMMISSIONERS OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS, that pursuant to KSA 19-101a, and 

amendments thereto:  

1. The County Administrator of Reno County, Kansas, with the approval of the Chair of the 

Board of Commissioners, shall prepare an agenda for each meeting and designate which 

items shall be on the consent agenda and which shall be on the business agenda. Only 

business items which are considered routine, non-controversial and likely to have the 

unanimous support of the entire Board shall be placed on the consent agenda. 

2. Any individual Commissioner may, unilaterally with no motion, by oral request remove 

any item or items from the consent agenda and place it on the business agenda. This shall 

be done during the approval of agenda portion of the meeting. 

ADOPTED in regular session this_______ day of October, 2024. 

 

(Signature Page to Follow) 



 

       BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS 

OF RENO COUNTY, KANSAS 

        

       ________________________________________ 
       Randy Parks, Chairman 
 
 
       ________________________________________ 
       Don Bogner, Vice-Chairman 
 
 
       ________________________________________ 
       Ron Hirst, Member 
 
 
       ________________________________________ 
       Daniel Friesen, Member 
 
 
       ________________________________________ 
       John Whitesel, Member 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Donna Patton, Reno County Clerk 



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #7.G

AGENDA DATE: October 9, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Randy Partington, County Administrator

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Bids on Tax Credit for Courthouse

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
Reno County sent out a Request for Bids on August 20th with due dates of September 27th for the tax
credits on the courthouse roof in the amount of $88,112.  Bids were opened on Monday, September
30th. Below is a summary of the bids received.
 
Reno County Courthouse Tax Credits (August 2023) - $88,112
Company Amount of Tax Credits Amount ($) Amount (%)
Commerce Bank $88,112.00 $79,300.80 90.00%
Clocktower Tax Credits $88,112.00 $79,397.72 90.11%
Union State Bank $88,112.00 $80,622.00 91.50%
Fallbrook Tax Credits $88,112.00 $80,684.16 91.57%
 
The bids above show two bids that are within $62 of each other.  The lowest bid is with Fallbrook Tax
Credits who are an in-between agency that will have a third party technically buy the credits through
Fallbrook.  The Union State Bank bid would sell the amounts directly to Union State Bank.  For ease of
transaction, the Union State Bank may be a simpler contract, while the Fallbrook Tax Credits is the
actual lowest bid.  

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Authorize the County Administrator to sign all necessary agreements with Fallbrook Tax Credits

for the sale of tax credits totaling $80,684.16.
2. Authorize the County Administrator to sign all necessary agreements with Union State Bank for

the sale of tax credits totaling $80,622.00.
3. Deny all bids

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Authorize the County Administrator to sign all necessary agreements for the sale of the courthouse tax
credits.

POLICY / FISCAL IMPACT:
The sale of the tax credits will be extra revenue for the County's General Fund that was not budgeted.



1 

 

Request for Bids 

By 

The Reno County Board County Commissioners 

206 W First Ave. 

Hutchinson, Ks. 67501 

For 

Kansas Rehabilitation Tax Credits 

 

INTENT 

 

The purpose of this document is to solicit bids from interested parties in purchasing 

Kansas Rehabilitation Tax Credits that were issued for the exterior renovation of the 

Reno County Courthouse.  

 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

 

Reno County Board of County Commissioners is offering for sale $88,112 in Kansas 

Rehabilitation Tax Credits that were issued as a result of a renovation project in the Reno 

County Courthouse which is listed on the Register of Historic Places.  The renovation 

project was completed in August 2023, and tax credits were issued through the Kansas 

State Rehabilitation Tax Credit Program. 

 

INSTRUCTIONS TO OFFERORS 

 

1. GENERAL 

 

Tax Credit Owner:    Reno County Board of County 

Commissioners 

 

Contact:     Randy Partington, County Administrator 

      206 W. First Ave. 

      Hutchinson, KS 67501 

      (620) 694-2929 

      (620) 694-2928 (Fax) 

 

 

2. SUBMISSION 

 

Sealed bids for the entire amount ($88,112) of tax credits must be received by September 

27, 2024, at 5:00 pm. Bids must be submitted in an envelope marked “Reno County Tax 

Credits”. The bid may be delivered via commercial carrier, hand delivered to the Reno 

County Commission Office, 206 West 1st, Hutchinson, KS 67501, or emailed to 

bids@renogov.org.   

 

Emailed bids will not be accessible or opened until after 5:00 pm on September 27, 2024.  

 

 



2 

 

3. INQUIRIES  

 

All inquiries concerning the tax credits must be made no later than September 20, 2024, 

at 5:00 pm and should be directed to the County Administrator. Questions must be 

submitted in writing, e-mail randy.partington@renogov.org, or by mailing to 206 W. 

First Ave., Hutchinson, KS 67501. All questions will receive a response. 

 

4. EVALUATION 

 

The County Administrator will evaluate the bids that are received and make a 

recommendation to the Board of County Commissioners. The Board of County 

Commissioners will award the offeror the highest qualified bid as determined by the 

Board. The Reno County Board of County Commissioners reserves the right to clarify 

information submitted.  

 

5. REJECTION RIGHTS 

   

Reno County Board of County Commissioners reserves the right to reject any and all bids 

for business reasons and reserves the right to re-solicit bids or change the closing date for 

any such business reason. 

 

6. COST OF BID PREPARATION 

 

No reimbursement will be made for any costs incurred for the preparation and submission 

of any bid. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 





Attn: Harlen Depew

Dear:  Board of Reno County Commissioners

Please find enclosed a tax credit certificate, issued by the Kansas State Historical Society, acknowledging completion 
of a qualified rehabilitation project on a qualified historic structure.  All completed work submitted for this project 
appears to meet the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for Rehabilitation and has followed the scope of work set out 
in the Description of Rehabilitation approved by this office.  This certificate verifies that this work was completed in 
tax year 2023 and, therefore, the property owner(s) is/are eligible to receive a state income tax credit equal to 30% of 
qualifying expenses.

As the entity holding ownership of this property is a not-for-profit entity that does not have a state income tax 
liability, the tax credits presented here may be transferred or sold to other taxpayers.  Please contact me with 
any questions or if you need any assistance.

A copy of this certificate will be provided to the KDOR.  Taxpayers may claim their credits by submitting a K-35 
with their Kansas state tax return.  The taxpayer(s) claiming the credits are required to keep this certificate and the 
enclosed KDOR letter on file with their tax records.

Please contact me at  785-272-8681 or Kshs.culturalresources@ks.gov with any questions or concerns.

Sincerely,

Cultural Resources Division
State Historic Presevation Office

Board of Reno County Commissioners

206 W 1st Street
Hutchinson, KS 67501

RE:     Rehabilitation Completion Certification for the rehabilitation of Reno County Courthouse in Hutchinson, KS 
(Project
 2083) 

6425 SW 6th Avenue - Topeka KS 66615 - 1099

Phone 785-272-8681, ext.  240 - Fax 785-272-8682 - Kshs.culturalresources@ks.gov -  TTY785-272-8683

kshs.org

 Kansas Historical Society Laura Kelly, Governor 
Patrick Zollner, Executive Director

6425 SW 6th Avenue
Topeka, KS 66615 

phone:  785-272-8681
fax:  785-272-8682

Kshs.culturalresources@ks.gov



APPROVED PROJECT

PROJECT NUMBER: 2083 
Building Name: Reno County Courthouse
Address:  206 W 1st Avenue
City:  Hutchinson
State:  KS
Zip:  67501

OWNER OF PROPERTY

NAME:  Board of Reno County Commissioners 

EIN: 

This certificate acknowledges completion of a qualified rehabilitation project on a qualified historic structure pursuant to K.S.A. 2001 
Supp. 79-32,211, as amended, and regulations set forth by the Kansas State Historical Society.  

Kansas State Rehabilitation Tax Credits may be used to offset income, privilege, or premium tax liability for the year in which the 
qualified rehabilitation plan was placed in service.  Excess amounts may be carried over for deduction from such taxpayer's income, 
privilege, or premium tax liability in the next succeeding year or years until the total amount of the credit has been deducted from the 
tax liability, except that no such credit shall be carried over for deduction after the 10th taxable year succeeding the taxable year in 
which the qualified rehabilitation plan was placed in service.

A copy of this certificate will be provided to the Kansas Department of Revenue.  You are required to keep this Tax Credit Certificate 
on file with your tax records.  You may claim your credits by submitting Schedule K-35 with your income or privilege tax return.  We 
encourage you to file your income tax return electronically.  Electronic filing information can be found at webtax.org.  Please contact 
the Cultural Resources Division of the Kansas State Historical Society with any questions about this certificate or requests to transfer 
these tax credits.

PROJECT START DATE: 

            April 28, 2023

TOTAL QUALIFYING EXPENSES  ALLOWED FOR CREDIT:

$293,706.00

TAX CREDIT CERTIFICATE NUMBER: SH0675955008 

Katrina Ringler, Deputy State Historic Preservation Officer 
Cultural Resources Division
Kansas State Historical Society

Date Issued:  July 26, 2024

KANSAS STATE REHABILITATION TAX CREDIT PROGRAM
TAX CREDIT CERTIFICATE

TOTAL STATE REHABILITATION TAX 
CREDIT REMAINING FOR THIS PROJECT:

$88,112.00

DATE PROJECT PLACED IN SERVICE
(COMPLETION DATE):

          August 15, 2023



1

Randy Partington

From: Jesse L. Morris <JesseM@myunionstate.bank>
Sent: Thursday, August 22, 2024 3:30 PM
To: Sealed Bids
Cc: LeRoy M. Heizelman
Subject: [EXT_SENDER] Reno County Tax Credits

Caution: This email originated from an external source and could be malicious. Please use extreme caution 
when clicking links, opening attachments, or providing any information. When in doubt, please report the email 
or contact IT. 

 

Good a ernoon,  
 
Thank you for the opportunity to bid on the below described Kansas State Rehabilita on Tax Credit: 
 
Cer ficate Number: SH0675955008  
Tax Credit Amount: $88,112.00 
Owner of Property: Board of Reno County Commissioners 
 
Union State Bank would be pleased to offer $80,622.00 for the en re tax credit amount of $88,112.00, or $0.915 per 
dollar.  At this bid price, we would request that the seller pay any applicable transfer fees to the Kansas State Historical 
Society, and that the transac on se le prior to 12/31/2024.  If the seller wishes that we pay the transfer fees, the bid 
amount could be adjusted lower accordingly.         
 
Again, thank you for the opportunity and we look forward to hearing back from you.  Should you have any ques ons or 
require any addi onal informa on, please do not hesitate to reach out.   
 
Best regards,  
 

Member FDIC 

Jesse L. Morris 
SVP/Assistant CFO 
Chief Investment Officer 
104 1/2 W 9th Ave #403 
Winfield, KS 67156 
(620) 705-0281 (office) 
(620) 222-5862 (mobile) 
JesseM@MyUnionState.Bank 

MyUnionState | Join Our Team | Instagram | LinkedIn | Facebook 
 
IMPORTANT/CONFIDENTIAL: This transmission was sent from Union State Bank and is intended only for 
the use of the addressee(s) shown. It contains information that may be privileged, confidential and/or 
exempt from disclosure under applicable law. If you are the intended recipient, please use discretion in 
any e-mail reply to ensure that you do not send confidential information as we cannot secure it through 
this medium. To send sensitive information securely to Union State Bank, please use our secure email 
site at https://web1.zixmail.net/s/login?b=myunionstate. Sending email within this site will encrypt and 
send the information securely. If you are not the intended recipient of this transmission, you are hereby 
notified that the copying, use, or distribution of any information or materials transmitted herewith is 



2

strictly prohibited. If you have received this transmission by mistake, please destroy the original message 
and call us at (620)442-5200.  



 

        Boston   •   NYC   •   Naples   •   Charlotte 
             Tel: 978.823.0200  •  Fax: 978.823.0328  •  www.ClocktowerTC.com 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
September 26, 2024 
 
Mr. Randy Partington, County Administrator 
Reno County Board of County Commissioners 
206 West First Avenue 
Hutchinson, KS  67501 
Email:  Bids@RenoGov.org 
 
RE: Letter of Commitment to Purchase Kansas Historic Rehabilitation Tax Credits 
 Reno County Courthouse – Hutchinson, KS 
 
Dear Mr. Partington, 
 
Thank you for sharing the information about your historic rehabilitation in Hutchinson, KS.  The 
project entails the historic rehabilitation of the Reno County Courthouse located at 206 West 
First Avenue.  The project was placed into service in August 2023, and the Kansas Historic 
Rehabilitation Tax Credits (KS HTCs) have been generated and are ready for transfer. 
 
Clocktower Tax Credits is committed to facilitating the sale of your award of KS HTCs to a 
Kansas taxpayer.  The purchase price of such sale would be based on a total price-per-credit 
rate of $0.9011 per dollar of available tax credit.  Based on the state KS HTC issuance of 
$88,112, the purchase price would equal $79,397.72 for these credits.  The sale proceeds will 
be paid upon issuance and transfer of the KS HTC certificate.  These proceeds are net of any 
fee due to Clocktower by the Kansas taxpayer that we identify.  Such purchase would be 
subject to all appropriate due diligence on the project, the tax credits, and the transfer, and the 
execution of a purchase agreement documenting all the terms of the transfer.   
 
Please know that we have completed over fifty state tax credit transactions, and have the 
experience and capacity to complete the sale for the Reno County Courthouse project. 
 
Respectfully,  
 
 
 
 
 
Jeff Jacobson, President 



1

Randy Partington

From: Mendez, Haley <Haley.Mendez@CommerceBank.com>
Sent: Tuesday, August 20, 2024 3:32 PM
To: Sealed Bids
Cc: McMichael, Nadia; Stepp, Peggy
Subject: [EXT_SENDER] Reno County, KS Tax Credits - Request for Bids

Caution: This email originated from an external source and could be malicious. Please use 
extreme caution when clicking links, opening attachments, or providing any information. When in 
doubt, please report the email or contact IT. 

 

Good afternoon, 
 
Commerce Bank is offering $.90 on the dollar which would make our payment to you $79,300.80.  
 
The State of Kansas has implemented a fee schedule that applies to tax credit transfers based on 
qualified expenditures. There is a nonrefundable transfer fee of $300 for each certificate transfer. 
Commerce passes this fee along to our tax credit clients. 
 
Please let us know if you’d like to accept our offer. Thank you! 
 
Kindly, 

To help protect your privacy, Microsoft Office prevented automatic download of this picture from the Internet.

 

Haley Mendez 
Senior Real Estate Associate 
STL CRE Admin + Processing 
8001 Forsyth Blvd, 7th FL CBT-7 
St. Louis Missouri 63105 
314.746.3653 

   Our culture defines us. Learn more. 
To help 
protect 
your 
privacy, 
Microsoft 
Office 
prevented 
automatic  
download 
of this 
picture 
from the 
Internet.
 

To help 
protect 
your 
privacy, 
Microsoft 
Office 
prevented 
automatic  
download 
of this 
picture 
from the 
Internet.
 

To help 
protect 
your 
privacy, 
Microsoft 
Office 
prevented 
automatic  
download 
of this 
picture 
from the 
Internet.
 

To help 
protect 
your 
privacy, 
Microsoft 
Office 
prevented 
automatic  
download 
of this 
picture 
from the 
Internet.
  

 
 
 

If you wish to communicate securely with Commerce Bank and its affiliates, you must log into your account under Online Services at http://www.commercebank.com 
or use the Commerce Bank Secure Email Message Center at https://securemail.commercebank.com 
 
NOTICE: This electronic mail message and any attached files are confidential. The information is exclusively for the use of the individual or entity intended as the 
recipient. If you are not the intended recipient, any use, copying, printing, reviewing, retention, disclosure, distribution or forwarding of the message or any attached file 
is not authorized and is strictly prohibited. If you have received this electronic mail message in error, please advise the sender by reply electronic mail immediately and 
permanently delete the original transmission, any attachments and any copies of this message from your computer system. 



 

 
 
August 21, 2024 
 
Randy Partington 
County Administrator 
Reno County Board of County Commissioners 
206 W. First Avenue 
Hutchinson, Kansas 67501 
 
Re:  Kansas Historic Rehabilitation Tax Credits 
 
Dear Mr. Partington:  
 
This agreement (“Agreement”) shall serve as our mutual agreement and understanding with regard 
to Fallbrook Tax Credits LLC (“Fallbrook”), a Delaware limited liability company, acting as 
placement agent for Reno County Board of County Commissioners (“Seller”) in the sale of Kansas 
Historic Rehabilitation Tax Credits.  
        
Project Information: Reno County Courthouse 
 206 W. 1st Street 
 Hutchinson, Kansas 67501 
 Project Number 2083  
 
Tax Credits: Kansas Historic Rehabilitation Tax Credits in the amount of Eighty 

Eight Thousand One Hundred Twelve Dollars ($88,112.00) (the 
“Tax Credits”) 

 
Seller: Reno County Board of County Commissioners 
 
Investor/Services: Fallbrook has several contacts (each, a “Prospect”) that are potential 

qualified purchasers of the Tax Credits. Fallbrook shall introduce 
one or more Prospects who will purchase the Tax Credits subject to 
such terms and conditions agreed on by Seller and Prospect. 
Fallbrook agrees to assist Seller in reaching acceptable terms with 
Prospect. 

 
Tax Credit Pricing: Net Price to Seller: $0.9157 per $1.00 of Tax Credits 
 Gross Purchase Price: No less than $0.9157 per $1.00 of Tax Credits 
   
Placement Fee: Any amount in excess of the Net Price to Seller. Seller shall pay the 

Placement Fee to Fallbrook within five (5) business days of receipt 
the Gross Purchase Price from the Prospect.  

 
Non-Circumvention:  Seller understands and agrees that the identity of any Prospect, 

together with its relationship to Fallbrook, is confidential, valuable, 



 
 

Page 2 of 4 
  

and proprietary information solely held by Fallbrook. Seller shall be 
liable to Fallbrook for damages if it sells, or causes the sale of, any 
state or federal tax credits, except the Tax Credits covered by this 
Agreement, without Fallbrook’s written consent, to any Prospect 
during the term of this Agreement and for a period of three (3) years 
thereafter. 

 
Confidentiality: The terms of this Agreement including, but not limited to, the 

identity of any Prospect, the Tax Credit Pricing, and the existence 
and amount of any Placement Fee (the “Confidential Information”), 
are strictly confidential and no party shall disclose the Confidential 
Information to any third party without the prior written consent of 
the other party, except that the parties may disclose the Confidential 
Information to (i) their officers, directors, employees, attorneys, and 
other professional advisors, provided that such persons agree to or 
are bound by the confidentiality restrictions contained herein, and 
(ii) as required by applicable law, regulation, or legal or regulatory 
process. Each party will provide the other party with prompt notice 
of disclosure of Confidential Information so the other party may 
seek a protective order or other remedy if appropriate. 

 
Governing Law; Disputes: This Agreement will be governed by and interpreted in accordance 

with the laws of the State of California and any dispute, litigation, 
arbitration or other proceeding shall take place in Los Angeles 
County, State of California. In any dispute, litigation, or arbitration 
between the parties arising out of or related to this Agreement or the 
breach thereof, the prevailing party shall be entitled to have its 
reasonable and actual attorneys' fees, reasonable expenses, related 
litigation costs and costs of suit (if any) paid by the non-prevailing 
party. 

 
Miscellaneous: This Agreement shall be in force for an initial period of one (1) year 

from the date above unless (a) the Agreement is terminated by thirty 
(30) days written notice or (b) Seller sells all the Tax Credits.  
Seller’s obligation to pay the Placement Fee and the non-
circumvention and indemnification provisions of this Agreement 
will survive the term of this Agreement.  

 
 Seller and Fallbrook each hereby agree to indemnify and hold 

harmless the other party, including that party’s affiliates, directors, 
officers and shareholders against any and all damage, loss, cost or 
liability arising out of or resulting from any of the indemnifying 
party’s misrepresentations, acts or omissions or those of its 
employees, agents, directors, officers, and representatives in 
connection with the undertakings or services performed under this 
Agreement.  



 
 

Page 3 of 4 
  

 
 Each party represents and warrants that in performing its obligations 

under this Agreement, it shall comply with all applicable federal, 
state and local laws and regulations, and that it is free of any 
contractual obligations that would prevent it from entering into this 
Agreement.  

 
 This Agreement is the entire agreement of the parties with respect 

to the subject matter hereof, supersedes all prior agreements and 
understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof, 
and may not be amended, supplemented, or modified except by 
written instrument executed by all parties hereto. 

 
 This Agreement may be executed in multiple counterparts, each of 

which shall be deemed an original for all purposes and all of which 
when taken together shall constitute a single counterpart instrument.  
This Agreement may be executed by electronically, and each such 
electronic signature shall have the efficacy of a signed original and 
may be used in lieu of the original for any purpose. The parties each 
represent that the person executing this agreement on behalf of such 
party has been and is duly authorized to execute this Agreement. 

 
 
 

[Signature Page Follows]  



 
 

Page 4 of 4 
  

Please confirm that the foregoing correctly sets forth our agreement by signing and returning to us 
a copy of this Agreement. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
       Agreed To And Accepted As Of The 

Date First Written Above 
 
Fallbrook Tax Credits LLC    Reno County Board of  

County Commissioners 
 
        
By: _________________________  By: _________________________ 
Name: Josh Lederer     Name:  
Its: Vice President     Its:  
 
 



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #7.H

AGENDA DATE: October 9, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Don Brittain, Public Works Director

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Proposed contract renewal terms between Reno County Water District No. 8, and IdeaTek Telcom, LLC
to be effective December 1, 2024.

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
For the upcoming lease agreement beginning December 1, 2024, IdeaTek has asked for a five-year lease
term with a one-year notice of termination, in lieu of a one-year lease term with a 30-day notice of
termination.  We have also recommended additional changes, including removal of Item 9. UTILITIES
from the original contract.  With a 4% inflation increase each year to the annual rent, we feel this is an
efficient and economical way of recovering any cost of utilities used by IdeaTek, rather than spending
administrative resources on the process of billing IdeaTek each month for their minimal electrical
usage. Finally, as IdeaTek has been making annual rent payments, rather than monthly payments, we
have removed item 1.,a.,2. on Exhibit A, outlining the $1/per month rent payment.  Other minor
changes have been made to update the contract to be accurate based on present day usage of the tower,
as shown in the attachments.

ALL OPTIONS:
1. Approve the proposed five-year contract between Reno County Water District No. 8 and IdeaTek

Telcom, LLC beginning December 1, 2024.
2. Deny the proposed contract for the upcoming lease term beginning December 1, 2024.

RECOMMENDATION / REQUEST:
Approve or deny a proposed five-year contract renewal term with a one-year notice of termination, in
lieu of the current one-year contract with a 30-day notice of termination. The additional proposed
changes to the contract include removal of Item 9. "UTILITIES", and other changes to reflect the
current usage of the tower by IdeaTek.   



TOWER LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT ("the Lease") is entered into as of the _l_st day of December, 2020, 

by and between Reno County Rural Water District No. 8 ("Lessor") and ldeaTek Telcom, LLC, a Kansas 

limited liability company ("Lessee"). 

WHEREAS: 

Lessor owns and controls the facility, tower, building, land and/or structure(s) described in Exhibit A 

(hereinafter referred to as "Tower"). 

Lessee is an Internet service provider and offers telecommunications and high-speed wireless Internet 
services to the surrounding area. Toward this end, Lessee desires to locate internet and 

telecommunications equipment (hereafter referred to as the "Equipment" on and/or adjacent, within, or 
at other described locations in Exhibit A (hereafter referred to as the "Leased Premises"). 

Providing access to the Tower will assist in addressing the COVID-19 public health and economic crisis, 

specifically addressing the increased need for internet connectivity in Kansas as related to the 

performance of the Kansas Department of Commerce Coronavirus Relief Fund Grant Agreement. 

WITNESSETH: 

1. DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY AND USE. Lessor hereby leases to Lessee its successors or assigns, and 
Lessee hereby leases from Lessor, the Tower and Leased Premises described in Exhibit A. 

2. TERM. The Lease Term is defined in Exhibit A attached hereto unless otherwise terminated earlier in 
the manner herein set forth. The Term start date shall be upon the initial completion of the installation 

of the Equipment. The Lease may be extended as permitted by Exhibit A. 

3. RENT. The Rent is further defined in Exhibit A. Unless otherwise stated in this Lease, Rent shall be 
due monthly on the ist and considered late after the 15th of each month. 

4. LESSEE'S EQUIPMENT. All equipment placed within oron the Leased Premises and/or Tower by Lessee 

including antenna's, radios, cabling, electrical systems, racks, cabinets, and the like are Lessee's trade 
equipment (herein referred to as the "Equipment"), which shall be installed solely at Lessee's expense, 
and shall be and remain the Lessee's property, subject to the provisions of Section 12 hereof. 

However, Lessor shall have the right at al l  times to inspect any of the Equipment and its installation. 

5. QUIET ENJOYMENT. Lessor warrants that as long as Lessee is not in breach of the lease, Lessee shall 
have quiet enjoyment of the Leased Premises and Tower. Likewise, except as otherwise stated herein, 

Lessee warrants Lessee shall give full cooperation in placing and securing equipment so as not to be 
hazard or nuisance to Lessor or other lessees and shall not otherwise interfere with Lessor's use and 

enjoyment of Lessor's property. 

6. ACCESS TO LEASED PREMISES. Lessor covenants and warrants that Lessee, Lessee's employees, 

contractors, agents and vehicles shall have reasonable means of access to the Leased Premises and 

Tower. Lessor reserves the right to require supervised access to the site and shall be reimbursed by 

1 

Tower Lease 10/26/2020 v2.0 

or a one-time payment due 
on or before the 1st day of December. 

2024

09/30/2024



' 

Lessee for any time or expenses associated with said supervision. Other than in the event of an 
emergency, Lessee shall contact the County at least twenty-four (24) hours prior to needing access. 

7. COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS. Lessee shall, at Lessee's sole cost and expense comply with all 
governmental laws, rules, and regulations in the operation and use of the Leased Premises and Tower. 

8. MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR. Lessee shall maintain the Equipment in a neat, clean, and attractive 
appearance and shall not allow the Equipment to fall into disrepair. 

9. UTILITIES. Except as otherwise provided in Exhibit A, Lessee shall pay all electricity and utility costs in 
connection with Lessee's use of the Leased Premise and Tower. Lessor shall permit Lessee or Lessee's 
qualified contractor(s) to install the power facilities, conduits and telecommunication/broadband 
lines required by Lessee at Lessee's sole cost to the Equipment. 

10. TAXES. The Tower and associated real estate is currently exempt from ad valorem real estate tax 
assessment. Should any portion of the Leased Premises be determined to be taxable as a result of the 
Lessee's intended use pursuant to the Lease, Lessee shall be responsible for any tax attributable to 
that use. The Lessor retains the right to protest any tax assessment, including taking an appeal to the 
Kansas Board of Tax Appeals. Lessee shall be responsible for the payment of any property taxes 
associated with utilizing the water tower so long as they are the sole entity attaching non-exempt 
equipment to the Tower. Upon other attachments being put on the Tower for non-exempt purposes, 
any taxes that are due and payable shall be prorated accordingly. 

11. LEASE TERMINATION. 

a. If Lessee is prevented from constructing and completing the installation of the Equipment for 
reason of any final governmental law, regulation, order, or other action, the Lease will terminate 
immediately without penalty and with no rent or payment due. 

b. In addition to other termination terms of this Lease, Lessee may terminate this Lease upon thirty 
(30) days written notice if (i) the Equipment is substantially damaged, or (ii) federal, state or local 
statute, ordinance, regulation or other governmental action shall preclude or limit the use of the 
Equipment, or (iii) the Lease becomes economically or otherwise undesirable to the Lessee, or (iv) 
a violation of Section 6 of this Lease occurs. 

c. Prior to the start of installation of physical Equipment and upon notice to Lessor, Lessee may 
terminate this Lease immediately without penalty or further obligation. 

d. If either party breaches any material term of this Lease, and after 30 days notice the violating 
party fails to cure such breach, the other party may terminate this Lease without penalty and seek 
any and al l appropriate damage upon the violating party. 

12. REMOVAL OF EQUIPMENT. Upon expiration of the term or earlier termination of this Lease, Lessee 
sha l l, at Lessee's sole cost and expense, forthwith remove the Equipment and al l  appurtenances 
thereto, and restore the property of Lessor to substantially the same condition that existed prior to 
installation of the Equipment. In the event that Lessee has not removed the Equipment within sixty 

2 

Tower Lease 10/26/2020 v2.0 

9.

10.

11.

one (1) year

c.

09/30/2024

Any maintenance and repair necessary for the 
functional use of the equipment, upgrades to utilities including power, conduits and telecommunication/broadband lines, will be 
performed by Lessee’s qualified contractor(s) as permitted by Lessor, at the Lessee’s sole cost. 



(60) days after termination hereof, Lessor may remove the Equipment. Thereafter, Lessee shall 
reimburse Lessor on demand for all costs and expenses of such removal 

13. INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION. 

a. Lessee, at its sole cost and expense shall maintain during the term of this Lease public liability and 
property damage insurance with a single combined liability limit of at least One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) and Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) aggregate insuring against all, actual or alleged 
liability of Lessee and its agents, employees and representatives arising out of and in connection 
with Lessee's use or occupancy of the Leased Premises. Lessor shall be named as an additional 
insured. 

b. Lessee shall indemnify and hold Lessor harmless from and against any and all claims, actual or 
alleged arising from Lessee's use or occupancy of the Premises or from the conduct of its business 
or from any activity, work, or things which may be permitted or suffered by Lessee in or about the 
Leased Premises, including all damage, costs, attorney's fees, expenses and liabilities incurred in 
the defense of any claim or action or proceeding arising therefrom. Except for Lessor's grossly 
negligent conduct and where permitted under the Kansas Tort Claims Act, Lessee hereby assumes 
all risk of damage to property or injury to person in or about the Leased Premises from any cause, 
and Lessee hereby waives all claims, including subrogation, in respect thereof against Lessor. 

14. AUTHORIZATION TO FILE PERMITS. If required, Lessor shall provide authorization to Lessee to file the 
appropriate permits required for the construction, maintenance, or upgrade of the Equipment when 
such permit would otherwise require the signature of the Lessor. 

15. DEFAULT. If Lessee defaults in the performance of any of its obligations under this Lease and fails to 
cure such default within thirty (30) days after written notice of default has been delivered to Lessee 
by Lessor, Lessor shall have the right to terminate this Lease and/or pursue any other legal or 
equitable rights or remedies that Lessor may have against Lessee. 

16. ASSUMPTION OF OBLIGATION. Should Lessor sell the property, a copy of this lease must be provided 
to the purchaser, and the purchaser must assume the obligations of the Lessor under this lease. 

17. NOTICES. Any and all notices, demands, or other communications required or desired to be given 
hereunder by any party shall be in writing and shall be validly given or made to another party if 
personally served, if sent by a recognized overnight express carrier, or by electronic mail with a copy 
sent by overnight express carrier. If such notice or demand is served personally or electronically, 
notice shall be deemed constructively made at the time of such personal or electronic service. If such 
notice, demand or other communication is given by overnight express carrier, such notice shall be 
conclusively deemed given one (1) business day after delivery to the party to whom such notice, 

demand or other communication is to be given as listed under the signatory line of this Lease. 

18. CHOICE OF LAW. The laws of the state of Kansas shall govern the validity of this Agreement, the 
construction of its terms and the interpretation of the rights and duties of the parties hereto. Venue 
shall be proper in Reno County District Court in Reno County, Kansas and federal court in Wichita, 

Kansas. 

3 

Tower Lease 10/26/2020 v2.0 

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

09/30/2024



19. WAIVER. Waiver by one party hereto of breach of any provision of this Agreement by the other shall 
not operate or be construed as a continuing waiver. 

20. MODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT. No amendment, change, or modification of this Agreement shall 
be valid unless in writing signed by the parties hereto. 

21. UNENFORCEABILITY OF PROVISIONS. If any provision of this Agreement, or any portion thereof, is 
held to be invalid and unenforceable, then the remainder of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain 
in full force and effect. 

22. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS: Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any 
additional provisions listed in Exhibit A are hereby incorporated into this Agreement by reference with 
the same force and effect as if set forth herein. 

23. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; BINDING TERMS. This Lease constitutes the entire agreement of the parties. 
Neither Lessor nor Lessee shall be bound by any agreement, representation or warranty, expressed 
or implied, not contained herein and all prior agreements, understandings, and representations are 
hereby terminated and canceled in their entirety and are of no further force and effect. This Lease 
shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal 
representatives, successors and assigns (except as expressly limited herein). Time is of the essence of 
this Lease. 

[signature page to follow] 

4 

Tower Lease 10/26/2020 v2.0 

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

09/30/2024



IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first 
written above. The parties hereto agree that facsimile signatures shall be as effective as if originals. 

LESSOR: 

THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AS THE 
GOVERNING BODY OF RENO COUNTY WATER 
DISTRIC��· 8 

By: ., & �i-J, {JJ1J.vv,v._,'==J 
Ron Sellers, Chairman 

Notice Address: 
Reno County Commission 
206 W istAve 
Hutchinson, Kansas 67501 

Tower Lease 10/26/2020 v2.0 

LESSEE: 

IDEATEK TELCOM, LLC 

By: 4/Z 
Jerrod Reimer, CEO 

Notice Address: 
ldeaTek Telcom, LLC 
111 Old Mill  In 
Buhler, Ks. 67522 

5 

Randy Parks

Lane

09/30/2024



Exhibit A 

Term Sheet 

1. Rent 

a. In consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, and other good and valuable 

consideration, Lessee shall pay or contribute to Lessor the following: 

1. A one-time installation payment of $3,600 payable upon completion of the 

installation of Lessor's equipment, but at no time later than December 30, 2020. 

2. $1 per month beginning January 1, 2021 payable before the 15th of each month. 

b. This Lease is required to address the COVID-19 public health and economic crisis, 

specifically addressing the increased need for internet connectivity in Kansas as related 
to the performance of the Kansas Department of Commerce Coronavirus Relief Fund 
Grant Agreement. 

2. Term This Lease shall continue for an initial term of one (1) year and may be extended upon 
agreement by the Parties. The Parties agree to reconvene to discuss and negotiate any 

extension of the Lease prior to ninety (90) days before the term expires. 

3. Tower Description 

a. Name: Reno County Rural Water District No. 8 Water Tower 
b. Tower Description: Highlands Water Tower and portions of the real estate taxing parcel 

upon which the water tower sets 
c. GPS Coordinates: 38°10'05.311N 97°57'09.l"W 

4. Leased Pr emf ses Description 

a. General Description: tower base and sides and portions of the real estate taxing parcel 

upon which the water tower sets 

s. Equipment: 

1. Antenna mounting bracket attached to lip at top of water tower or rail clamps 

if a rail is accessible (brackets powder-coated to prevent rust) 

2. 6-8 small transmitting antennas 

3. 1 backhaul dish antenna 

4. Network switch 

6 

2.  In lieu of an annual payment, 12 equal payments may be made payable by the 1st of each month. 

1. An annual rent payment payable on or before each first of December, with a 4% increase each year.  The rent schedule for this five (5) year term is as follows:

December 1, 2024-December 1, 2025 - $4,211.49
December 1, 2025-December 1, 2026 - $4,379.95
December 1, 2026-December 1, 2027 - $4,555.15
December 1, 2027-December 1, 2028 - $4,737.36
December 1, 2028-December 1, 2029 - $4,926.85

five (5) years

a. 9 Small Transmitting Antennas
b. 2 Backhauls on the site (2nd Backhaul was to provide redundancy)



1 
Tower Lease 09/30/2024  

TOWER LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT (“the Lease”) is entered into as of the   1 st day of December, 2024, by and 
between Reno County Rural Water District No. 8 (“Lessor”) and IdeaTek Telcom, LLC, a Kansas limited liability 
company (“Lessee”).   

WHEREAS:  

Lessor owns and controls the facility, tower, building, land and/or structure(s) described in Exhibit A 
(hereinafter referred to as “Tower”).  

Lessee is an internet service provider and offers telecommunications and high-speed wireless internet 
services to the surrounding area. Toward this end, Lessee desires to locate internet and telecommunications 
equipment (hereafter referred to as the “Equipment on and/adjacent, within, or at other described locations in 
Exhibit A (hereafter referred to as the “Leased Premises”).  

Providing access to the Tower will assist in addressing the Covid-19 public health and economic crisis, 
specifically addressing the increased need for internet connectivity in Kansas as related to the performance of 
the Kansas Department of Commerce Coronavirus Relief Fund Grant Agreement.  

WITNESSETH: 

1. DESCRIPTION OF PROPERTY AND USE.  Lessor hereby leases to Lessee, its successors or assigns, and 
Lessee hereby leases from Lessor, the Tower and Leased Premises described in Exhibit A.  
 

2. TERM.  The Lease Term is defined in Exhibit A attached hereto unless otherwise terminated earlier in the 
manner herein set forth.  The Term start date shall be upon the initial completion of the installation of the 
Equipment.  The Lease may be extended as permitted in Exhibit A. 

 
3. RENT.  The Rent is further defined in Exhibit A.  Unless otherwise stated in this Lease, Rent shall be due 

monthly on the first and is considered late after the 15th of each month or a one-time payment due on or 
before the 1st day of December.   

 
4. LESSEE’S EQUIPMENT.  All equipment placed within or on the Leased Premises and/or Tower by Lessee 

including antennas, radios, cabling, electrical systems, racks, cabinets, and the like are Lessee’s trade 
equipment (herein referred to as the “Equipment”), which shall be installed solely at the Lessee’s expense, 
and shall be and remain the Lessee’s property, subject to the provisions of Section 12 hereof.  However, 
Lessor shall have the right at all times to inspect any of the Equipment and its installation.  

 
5. QUIET ENJOYMENT.  Lessor warrants that as long as Lessee is not in breach of the lease, Lessee shall 

have quiet enjoyment of the Lease Premises and Tower.  Likewise, except as otherwise stated herein, 
Lessee warrants Lessee shall give full cooperation in placing and securing equipment so as not to be 
hazard or nuisance to Lessor or other lessees and shall not otherwise interfere with Lessor’s use and 
enjoyment of Lessor’s property.   

 
6. ACCESS TO LEASED PREMISES.  Lessor covenants and warrants that Lessee, Lessee’s employees, 

contractors, agents and vehicles shall have reasonable means of access to the Leased Premises and 



2 
Tower Lease 09/30/2024  

Tower.  Lessor reserves the right to require supervised access to the site and shall be reimbursed by 
Lessee for any time or expenses associated with said supervision.  Other than in the event of an 
emergency, Lessee shall contact the County at lease twenty-four (24) hours prior to needing access. 

 
7. COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS.  Lessee shall, at Lessee’s sole cost and expense comply with all 

governmental laws, rules, and regulations in the operation and use of the Leased Premises and Tower.  
 

8. MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR.  Lessee shall maintain the Equipment in a neat, clean, and attractive 
appearance and shall not allow the Equipment to fall into disrepair.  Any maintenance and repair necessary 
for the functional use of the equipment, upgrades to utilities including power, conduits and 
telecommunication/broadband lines, will be performed by Lessee’s qualified contractor(s) as permitted by 
Lessor, at the Lessee’s sole cost.  

 
9. TAXES.  The Tower and associated real estate is currently exempt from ad valorem real estate tax 

assessment.  Should any portion of the Leased Premises be determined to be taxable as a result of the 
Lessee’s intended use pursuant to the Lease, Lessee shall be responsible for any tax attributable to that 
use.  The Lessor retains the right to protest any tax assessment, including taking an appeal to the Kansas 
Board of Tax Appeals.  Lessee shall be responsible for the payment of any property taxes associated with 
utilizing the water tower so long as they are the sole entity attaching non-exempt equipment to the Tower.  
Upon other attachments being put on the Tower for non-exempt purposes, any taxes that are due and 
payable shall be prorated accordingly.   

 
10. LEASE TERMINATION.   

 
a. If Lessee is prevented from constructing and completing the installation of the Equipment for 

reason of any final governmental law, regulation, order or other action, the Lease will terminate 
immediately without penalty and with no further rent or payment due.   
 

b. In addition to other termination terms of this Lease, Lessee may terminate this Lease upon one (1) 
year written notice if (i) the Equipment is substantially damaged, or (ii) federal, state, or local 
statue, ordinance, regulation, or other governmental action shall preclude or limit the use of the 
Equipment, or (iii) the Lease becomes economically or otherwise undesirable to the Lessee, or (iv) 
a violation of Section 6 of this Lease occurs.  
 

c. If either party breaches any material term of this Lease, and after 30 days’ notice the violating party 
fails to cure such breach, the other party may terminate this Lease without penalty and seek any 
and all appropriate damage upon the violating party. 
 

11. REMOVAL OF EQUIPMENT.  Upon expiration of the term or earlier termination of this Lease, Lessee shall, 
at Lessee’s sole cost and expense, forthwith remove the Equipment and all appurtenances therto, and 
restore the property of Lessor to substantially the same condition that existed prior to installation of the 
Equipment.  In the event that Lessee has not removed the Equipment within sixty (60) days after 
termination hereof, Lessor may remove the Equipment.  Thereafter, Lessee shall reimburse Lessor on 
demand for all costs and expenses of such removal.  



3 
Tower Lease 09/30/2024  

12. INSURANCE AND INDEMNIFICATION.  
a. Lessee, at its sole cost and expense shall maintain during the term of this Lease public liability and 

property damage insurance with a single combined liability limit of at least One Million Dollars 
($1,000,000) and Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) aggregate insuring against all, actual or alleged 
liability of Lessee and its agents, employees and representatives arising out of and in connection 
with Lessee’s use or occupancy of the Leased Premises.  Lesor shall be named as an Additional 
Insured.   
  

b. Lessee shall indemnify and hold Lessor harmless from any and all claims, actual or alleged arising 
from Lessee’s use or occupancy of the Premises or from the conduct of its business or from any 
activity, work, or things which may be permitted or suffered by Lessee in or about the Leased 
Premises, including all damage, costs, attorneys' fees, expenses and liabilities incurred in the 
defense of any claim or action or proceeding arising therefrom.  Except for Lessor’s gross negligent 
conduct and where permitted under the Kansas Tort Claims Act, Lessee hereby assumes all risk of 
damage to property or injury to person in or about the Leased Premises from any cause, and 
Lessee hereby waives all claims, including subrogation, in respect thereof against Lessor.  
 

13. AUTHORIZATION TO FILE PERMITS.  If required, Lessor shall provide authorization to Lessee to file the 
appropriate permits required for the construction, maintenance or upgrade of the Equipment when such 
permit would otherwise require the signature of the Lessor.   
 

14. DEFAULT.  If Lessee defaults in the performance of any of its obligations under this Lease and fails to cure 
such default within thirty (30) days after written notice of default has been delivered to Lessee by Lessor, 
Lessor shall have the right to terminate this Lease and/or pursue any other legal or equitable rights or 
remedies that Lessor may have against Lessee.  

 
15. ASSUMPTION OF OBLIGATION.  Should Lessor sell the property, a copy of this lease must be provided to 

the purchaser, and the purchaser must assume the obligation of the Lessor under this lease.  
 

16. NOTICES.  Any and all notices, demands, or other communications required or desired to be given 
hereunder by any party shall be in writing and shall be validly given or made to another party if personally 
served, if sent by a recognized overnight express carrier, or by electronic mail with a copy sent by overnight 
express carrier.  If such notice or demand is served personally or electronically, notice shall be deemed 
constructively made at the time of such personal or electronic service.  If such notice, demand or other 
communication is given by overnight express carrier, such notice shall be conclusively deemed given one 
(1) business day after delivery to the party to whom such notice, demand or other communication is to be 
given as listed under the signatory line of this Lease.   

 
17. CHOICE OF LAW.  The laws of the state of Kansas shall govern the validity of this Agreement, the 

construction of its terms and the interpretation of the rights and duties of the parties hereto.  Venue shall 
be proper in Reno County District Court in Reno County, Kansas and federal court in Wichita Kansas.   

 
18. WAIVER.  Waiver by one party hereto of breach of any provision of this Agreement by the other shall not 

operate or be construed as a continuing waiver.  



4 
Tower Lease 09/30/2024  

19. MODIFICATION OR AMENDMENT.  No amendment, change, or modification of this Agreement shall be 
valid unless in writing signed by the parties hereto.   

 
20. UNENFORCEABILITY OF PROVISIONS.  If any provision of this Agreement, or any portion thereof, is held to 

be invalid and unenforceable, then the remainder of this Agreement shall nevertheless remain in full force 
and effect.   

 
21. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS.  Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, any 

additional provisions listed in Exhibit A are hereby incorporated into this Agreement by reference with the 
same force and effect as if set forth herein.   

 
22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT; BINDING TERMS.  This Lease constitutes the entire agreement of the parties.  

Neither Lessor nor Lessee shall be bound by any agreement, representation or warranty, expressed or 
implied, not contained herein and all prior agreements, understandings, and representations are hereby 
terminated and canceled in their entirety and are of no further force or effect. This Lease shall inure to the 
benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, 
successors and assigns (except as expressly limited herein).  

 

[signature page to follow] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



5 
Tower Lease 09/30/2024  

   IN WITNESS WHEREOF the undersigned have executed this Agreement as of the day and year first 
written above.  
 
LESSOR:       LESSEE: 
 
THE BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS AS  IDEATEK TELCOM, LLC 
THE GOVERNING BODY OF RENO COUNTY     
WATER DISTRICT NO. 7 
 
By: _____________________________________  By: ____________________________________ 
        Randy Parks, Chairman            Jerrod Reimer, CEO  
 
Notice Address:      Notice Address: 
Reno County Commission    IdeaTek Telcom, LLC 
206 W. 1st Avenue     111 Old Mill Lane 
Hutchinson, Kansas 67501    Buhler, Kansas 67522 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



6 
Tower Lease 09/30/2024  

Exhibit A 
 

Term Sheet 
 

1.  Rent 
a. In consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein, and other good and valuable 

consideration, Lessee shall pay or contribute to the Lessor the following: 
1. An annual rent payment payable on or before each first of December, with a 4% increase 

each year.  The rent schedule for this five (5) year term is as follows: 
 

December 1, 2024-December 1, 2025 - $4,211.49 
December 1, 2025-December 1, 2026 - $4,379.95 
December 1, 2026-December 1, 2027 - $4,555.15 
December 1, 2027-December 1, 2028 - $4,737.36 
December 1, 2028-December 1, 2029 - $4,926.85 

2. In lieu of an annual payment, 12 equal payments may be made payable by the 1st of each 
month.  

 
b. This Lease is required to address the COVID-19 public health and economic crisis, specifically 

addressing the increased need for internet connectivity in Kansas as related to the 
performance of the Kansas Department of Commerce Coronavirus Relief Fund Grant 
Agreement.  
 

2. Term.  This Lease shall continue for a term of five (5) years and may be extended upon agreement         
by the Parties.  The Parties agree to reconvene to discuss and negotiate any extension of the Lease 
prior to 90 days before the term expires. 

 
3. Tower Description  

a. Name: Reno Couty Rural Water District No. 8 Water Tower 
b. Tower Description: Highlands Water Tower and portions of the real estate taxing parcel upon 

which the tower sits 
c. GPS  Coordinates: 38°10’05.3”N 97°57’09.1W  
 

4. Leased Premises Description 
a.   General Description: tower base and sides and portions of the real estate taxing parcel upon 
which the water tower sits 
 

5. Equipment:   
a. 9 Small Transmitting Antennas 
b. 2 Backhauls on the site (2nd Backhaul was to provide redundancy) 

 



AGENDA ITEM
 AGENDA

ITEM #8.A

AGENDA DATE: October 9, 2024

PRESENTED BY: Randy Partington, County Administrator

 

 

 
AGENDA TOPIC:
Monthly Department Reports

SUMMARY & BACKGROUND OF TOPIC:
Every month, departments have been asked to provide an update on the previous month's major
activities.  The reports are intended to keep the county commission informed about the appointed and
elected departments.  Attached are reports for Aging-Public Transit, Appraiser, Automotive, Clerk,
Community Corrections, Communications, District Attorney, and Emergency Management.



 
 
 

   

 
 

Report – September 2024 
 
Staffing 
 

Transportation remains fully staffed.  An Aging position is being updated before moving 
forward with a vacancy hiring post. 

 
Budget 
 

Aging’s expenditures at the end of September were at 67% allocation and 86% allocated 
out of the Transportation budget.  The overall 002 departments allocated expenditures 
totaled 79%. 
 
Aging Projects/Updates/Announcements 
 

• The Information and Outreach Program Coordinator attended the State of Kansas 
Dept. of Aging and Disabilities Services (KDADS) Listening Tour held the first day at 
the State Fair.  This was an opportunity for older Kansans to inform on the 2026-
2029 State Plan on Aging by sharing their suggestions, needs, comments and 
feedback regarding Older Americans Act (OAA) services.  Older Kansans that 
couldn’t participate at one of the listening tour sessions can still share their 
thoughts by email to KDADSOAASCA@ks.gov.  Written comments will be accepted 
until Nov. 15, 2024.  Reno County’s Dept. of Aging is partially funded by the OAA. 

• Aging staff have been planning and preparing for the upcoming Medicare Part D 
(Prescription Coverage) enrollment period that begins October 15th.  Aging staff and 
RSVP volunteers obtained State training and updates that will affect the 2025 
enrollment process and coverage options.  Enrollment for prescription benefits is 
free and provides an additional layer of coverage for older adults on the ever-
changing costs of medications.  The enrollment for Medicare Part D is an annual 
occurrence. 

 

Transportation Projects/Updates/Announcements 
 

• All routes ran at optimum capacity.  Being fully staffed, we were available to support 
drivers’ trainings and personal time off with no disruption to routes - allowing Rcat to 
achieve continued increased ridership during September and minimize overtime. 

• Three (3) drivers attended the HPO leadership training. 

Department of Aging & Transportation 

120 W. Avenue B, Hutchinson, KS 67501 

Ph: (620) 694-2911   Fax: (620) 694-2767 

Kandace Bonnesen, Director 



 
 

  RENO COUNTY 
   125 West First Ave.                                                                       

Hutchinson, Kansas 67501 
    (620) 694-2915 

Fax: (620) 694-2987 
 
 

 
Re: Monthly report for end of September 2024 
 
To: Randy Partington, County Administrator 
 

Staffing changes or issues  

The County Appraiser’s office is fully staffed.  

 

Financial Summary 

As of 9/27/24, the Appraiser’s Office has spent approximately 70% of the year-to-date budget, with 
approximately 80% of expenses being staff payroll. The remaining expenses were primarily regular and 
seasonal/monthly expenses. 

 

Projects/Issues/Challenges/Concerns 

Residential & Commercial Departments 

 Staff is fully focused on data collection and annual review for the 2025 valuation cycle. Data collection 
will continue through the end of October, however, staff is beginning to transition from data collection 
to analysis and modeling in preparation for setting values for the statutory 1/1/2025 valuation date. 

 Reno County was found to be in Substantial Compliance per PVD review for the 2024 valuation cycle. 
This is the ninth year in a row that Reno County has earned this designation from the state.  

Personal Property 

 Staff has been entering cost values in preparation for valuation for the 2025 tax year. 
 Staff is beginning mobile home and mobile home park review for the 2025 tax year. 

Support Staff 

 Staff continues to process deeds and update records accordingly.  
 Staff continues to work with IT to determine best practices for workflow efficiency.  
 Staff continues to work parcel splits and combinations as they are received. 
 Staff recommends the county continue to review options and work toward converting away from CIC, 

preferably to a solution with Tyler Technologies since they provide the state-mandated CAMA system. 



  
120 W. Avenue B, Hutchinson, KS 67501 

620-694-2585 
Fax: 620-694-2767 

 
 
 
 

Automotive 

Budget YTD Summary 

 As of September 23, 2024, we are at 71% of our overall budget of $209,972. The internal services fund 
(fuel and parts) stands at 53% out of our budget of $345,846. We have encumbered 94.4% of the total 
of $268,213 for replacement patrol and jail vehicles. 

Projects/Issues 

It has been routine maintenance and repair so far this month. We did get 3 of our old RCAT buses that 
were transferred to another transit agency ready to go and they have been picked up. We will be getting 
3 more of the old buses ready to auction on Purple Wave along with a jail transport vehicle. We have 
numerous recalls to be performed on software on patrol vehicles as soon as the software is available 
from the manufacturer. 

July fuel expenses came in at $18,190. 

 

 

 

 



 
 

RENO COUNTY 
125 West 1st Ave. 

                                                                       Hutchinson, Kansas 67501 
                                  (620) 694-2934 

      Donna Patton                                                                      Fax: (620) 694-2534 
      County Clerk                                       TDD: Kansas Relay Center 1-800-766-3777 
 
 
 

 
 

Clerk/Election Monthly Report for September 

 

In the Election’s Office we have officially began voting in the General Presidential Election.   
44 Overseas/Military ballots went out on 9/20/24. We’ve ordered our official ballots and are 
working on getting 193 election board workers scheduled for training and election day. 

 

In the Clerk’s Office we’ve received all the budgets in from the various Taxing Entities and 
have started the process to get the tax statements ready. 

 

By the end of September, 80% of the year-to-date budget has been used in the Clerk’s Office 
with the majority of that for payroll and 44% in the Election’s Office has been used, with the 
majority of that for payroll and software maintenance.  

 

Donna Patton 

 
 



 

 

County Commission Report       September 2024 
 
Staffing 
Community Corrections has one open position for a stand-by female transporter. 
 
Projects/Concerns 
One of the topics officers have been trained on is the stages of change, which are precontemplation, 
contemplation, preparation, action, maintenance, and relapse.  Officers are taught characteristics of 
each stage and techniques they can use to move a person in a positive direction.  It is important for 
officers to understand these so they are using the right interventions at the right times with clients.  If 
officers try to rush a person to commit to a change when the person is still in the precontemplation 
stage it often increases the person’s resistance.  Likewise, if the officer focuses too much on raising 
awareness of the problem behavior when the person is already in the action phase it could be time 
wasted.  Or, worse yet, it could be detrimental the the relationship between the officer and client. 
 
It is also important to understand how people can be at different stages on different issues within their 
lives.  For example, a person may see the problems drug use has caused in their life and be taking steps 
towards change.  They could be in the action phase and managing urges and temptations well.  
However, when it comes to their relationships and friends they may still be in the precontemplation 
phase and not recognizing a need for change.  While these may be very related the officer has to be 
cognizant of how they help the client make progress.  Each comment an officer makes can move the 
person closer to positive change or can build resistance to change. 
 
Stages of change posters were designed and put up in one of the main hallways of the office this month.  
There is a poster for each stage with its associated characteristics and techniques to use.  Adding the 
posters is a way to continue to reinforce what is being trained and remind officers of the importance of 
being aware of what stage a client is in on an issue. 
 
Financial 
The Community Corrections Advisory Board to the Department of Corrections asked Secretary Zmuda to 
include an increase of $3 million in grant funding for FY 2026.  This would include $1.5 million for phase 
two of increasing the number of supervision officers across the State.  The other $1.5 million would be 
for the Behavioral Health Grant.  This grant focuses specifically on interventions for probationers.  The 
Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration reports that an estimated 18% of the 
general population has a mental illness compared to 44% of people in jails.  Additionally, 6% of people 
over 25 years of age have a substance use disorder compared to 63% of people in jail.  The Behavioral 
Health grant assists in paying for substance abuse treatment services, mental health treatment and 



 

 

medications, and other behavior change interventions.  The Behavioral Health grant has been at $3 
million since its start in FY2014.  The Community Corrections Association is planning to advocate for this 
additional funding from the State in the upcoming legislative session.   



 
 
 

 
Communications Monthly Report – September 2024 
Press Releases: Opioid Settlement Funds Awarded and Successful Updates Shared and Request for 
Proposals: Reno County/Hutchinson Fights Addiction Fund press release.  
 
Graphic Design: Graphics for National Preparedness month: Preparing as a Community, Preparing as a 
Business, Safety Skills to Total Preparedness, Find Your Exit Routes, Create a Preparedness Plan for the 
Week.  
 
Website: Opioid Settlement Funds Awarded and Successful Updates Shared and Request for Proposals: 
Reno County/Hutchinson Fights Addiction Fund, September is National Preparedness Month, voting results 
for the Third Thursday Fair-Themed Youth Ballot, Dillon Lecture Series speaker Steve Ford, Kaleidoscope 
Childcare Conference coming to Reno County, Nov. 1st is new childcare regulation deadline.  
 
Videos/Photos: Videos: Former St. Elizabeth hospital being torn down, Goat Yoga videos at the Kansas 
State Fair, WSU cheerleaders and band during rally at the Kansas State Fair, Chiefs Kingdom Day with Super 
Bowl trophies at the Kansas State Fair, local Reno County Cookie Jar winner Deb Hagen talks about creating 
10 different cookie recipes at the Kansas State Fair, Unveiling of the new Sons of the American Revolution 
(SAR) bench near the recently moved Reno County Rose Garden Memorial at the Kansas State Fair, Kansas 
Preparedness Day video at the Kansas State Fair, Clint Nelson talking about the former St. Elizabeth hospital 
being torn down, Reno County Sheriff sponsoring Weekend Warrior event in honor of 9/11.  
Photos: Former St. Elizabeth hospital being torn down, Reno County Commission meeting on September 
25th, Kansas State Fair photos from multiple days including Emergency Preparedness Day on Monday, Sept. 
9th and Celebrity Goat Milking Contest with the Reno County Commissioners on Friday, Sept. 14th, Reno 
County Commission meeting on Sept. 11 & 25, HPO leadership group photo on Sept. 10th, Reno County 
Sheriff sponsoring Weekend Warrior event in honor of 9/11, and Dillon Lecture Series speaker Steve Ford.  
 
Social Media: Sept. 1 – 27, 2024 

• Facebook Reno County:  4,749 followers (+90), 41 posts  
o Top Post: new 1861 Club building at the Kansas State Fair (09.15.24) 

 45,099 reach, 9,380 engagements, 25 shares, 565 reactions, 87 comments 
• Twitter: 932 followers (+35), 39 tweets 

o Top Tweet: Rose Garden Memorial Monument at Kansas State Fair (09.07.24) 
 70 impressions, 0 media engagements 

• YouTube: 401 subscribers (+2)  
o Top video: Demolition begins at St. Elizabeth’s Mercy Hospital (09.11.24) 

 115 views 
• LinkedIn: 138 followers (+3), 0 posts. 
• Instagram: 55 followers (+2), 12 posts.     

    
Meetings: Hutchinson Community Foundation Strategic Impact Committee meeting, Employee 
Engagement Committee meeting, Administrative team meeting and Virtual KAPIO quarterly meeting.  

Administration 
206 West First Ave. 

Hutchinson, KS 67501-5245 
620-694-2929 



 
DISTRICT ATTORNEY  

Thomas R. Stanton 

 

DEPUTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY 

Andrew R. Davidson 

 

SENIOR ASSISTANT DISTRICT 

ATTORNEY 

Kimberly Rodebaugh 

 

ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEYS 

Brian Koch 

Jamie Karasek 

Sierra Logan 

Robert Almanza 

 

OFFICE OF THE  

RENO COUNTY 

DISTRICT ATTORNEY 

 

 

 

 
 

The 27th Judicial District of Kansas 

206 West First Avenue, 5th Floor 

Hutchinson, KS 67501-5204 

 
                   Telephone: (620) 694-2715 

                                 Fax: (620) 694-2711 

 

 

Victim-Witness Service 

Sarah McReynolds 

(620) 694-2773 

 

 

Investigator 

Daniel Nowlan 

Telephone: (620) 694-2765 

Fax: (620) 694-2762 

 

 

 

September 2024 BOCC Update 

 

Staffing Changes or Issues: As of September 30, 2024, the Reno County District Attorney’s Office 

currently employs 21 people when fully staffed: seven attorney/prosecutors; one investigator/coroner 

assistant; two part-time assistant coroners; one office manager; one victim/witness coordinator; one 

diversion coordinator; and eight office legal support staff.  The office is one position down as of 

September 30, 2024.  We are in the process of seeking a replacement for April Searfoss, who died 

unexpectedly on August 24. 

 

There were two graduations from Drug Court in the month of September 2024.  Graduation ceremonies 

are held when Drug Court participants complete the requirements of the program. 

 

Budget Summary: FY2024 expenditures are at 64% of budget as of September 30, 2024. 

 

Projects-Issues-Challenges-Concerns: See prior reports.   

 

The County Commission has approved two new staff attorney positions to begin in January 2025.  I 

have already secured the services of an experienced attorney to start January 2, 2025, and I am 

discussing the second position with a third-year law school student who will graduate in May 2025. 

The District Attorney’s First-Time Felony Drug Offense Diversion Program has been operating since 

January 2.  The most current statistics I have indicate we have had 23 official applications and 22 

admissions or applications in the process of approval into the program since the inception of the 

program, and it appears to be going well.  The participants appear eager to make use of the program to 

address their substance abuse issues and to successfully complete the program.  At this point, only one 

participant has been revoked, and that was because the participant has absconded from all supervision.  

One person was denied admission into the program because the applicant did not meet the statutory 

admissions guidelines. I did an interview with KSN News regarding the program, which can be viewed 

at https://www.ksn.com/news/reno-county-drug-diversion-offers-some-another-chance/. 

 

Thomas R. Stanton     

 Thomas R. Stanton 

 Reno County District Attorney 

 

 

 



  

Emergency Management 
 

Reno County 
206 W 1st Ave 
Hutchinson, KS 67501 
620-694-2974 

9/25/2024 

Staffing changes or issues (if any) 

There are no staffing changes to report.     

Budget YTD summary 

Emergency Management has used 71% of the 2024 year-to-date budget.   

Projects/Issues/Challenges/Concerns 

Activities:. 

 Attended Daily meetings with the State Fair 

o Reno County CERT had a booth at preparedness day 

 Attended and presented at the Kansas Emergency Management Association conference 

 Continue to attend webinars/training sessions. 

 Continue to have monthly Fire Chief and CERT meetings. 

 The communications trailer was utilized by the HAM radio group for a communications exercise 
again this month. 

 Taught a communications class in Pratt with the surrounding counties 

 Pretty Prairie Fire Chief, Rick Graber retired after 43 years of service to the community  

 Organized drip torch and wet line training with approximately 30 fire fighters near Sylvia 

 Organized live burn and ventilation training with approximately 54 fire fighters at the Hutchinson 
Command and Training Center 

 


	~10.09.2024 Agenda.pdf (p.1-2)
	06B EZ-Liner Paint Truck deemed loss authorize Randy partington to sign title.pdf (p.3)
	06C Motor Vehicle  Safety Policy.pdf (p.4-8)
	06D PW to Purchase Brine maker Dultmeier Sales Davenport.pdf (p.9-17)
	06E Contract for Federal Aid Construction Engineering by LPA.pdf (p.18-52)
	07A Resolution to Authorize PBC for County Shooting Range and 2 Fire Dist Stations.pdf (p.53-71)
	07B Chamber of Commerce's Make My Move Discussion.pdf (p.72-83)
	07C Request for Additional Employee for Tag Department.pdf (p.84-85)
	07D Resolution Planning Case 2024 11 Andrew Beachy Conditional use Permit.pdf (p.86-130)
	07E Resolution Planning Case 2024 10 Solar Energy.pdf (p.131-238)
	07F Resolution Establishing the Use of Consent Agenda.pdf (p.239-241)
	07G Bids on Tax Credit for Courthouse.pdf (p.242-255)
	07H Contract Renewal RC WD 8 and IdeTek effective 12.1.24.pdf (p.256-268)
	08A Monthly Department Reports.pdf (p.269-278)

